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DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE INFORMATION EER SEE &

Investor Relations Contact

Tel: (852) 2468 9644
Fax: (852)2465 1008
Email: ir@vitasoy.com

Website Addresses

Vitasoy International Holdings Limited
- www.itasoy.com (English and Chinese)
- www.vitavitasoy.com (Chinese only)

Vitaland Services Limited
- www.italand.com.hk (English and Chinese)

Hong Kong Gourmet Limited
- www.hkgourmet.com.hk (English and Chinese)

Shenzhen Vitasoy (Guang Ming) Foods and
Beverage Company Limited

Vitasoy (Shanghai) Company Limited

Vitasoy (Foshan) Company Limited

Vitasoy (Wuhan) Company Limited

- www.vitasoy-chn.com (Chinese only)

Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd.
- www.vitasoy.com.au (English only)
- www.soy.com.au (English only)

Vitasoy USA Inc.
- www.itasoy-usa.com (English only)

Unicurd Food Co. (Private) Limited
- www.unicurd.com.sg (English only)

Key Dates

Closure of Register of Members for the purpose of entitlement
to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting:

4th September, 2015 (Friday) to
9th September, 2015 (Wednesday)

Annual General Meeting:

at 3:00 p.m., 9th September, 2015 (Wednesday),
Salon 6, Level 3, JW Marriott Hotel Hong Kong,

Pacific Place, 88 Queensway, Hong Kong

Closure of Register of Members for the purpose of entitlement

to the Final Dividend:
15th September, 2015 (Tuesday) to
18th September, 2015 (Friday)

Final Dividend Payable:
2nd October, 2015 (Friday)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

PMBHE

Year Ended 31stMarch B Z=A=+—HILEE

2015 2014
ot Lk 8 —E—MmF %
. HK$ million HK$ million Change
Results ¥4 ERENT EMEET  EHLSD
Revenue WA 5,052 4,494 12
Gross Profit EF 2,511 2,175 15
EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest REMEWA « BERA -
Income, Finance Costs, Income Tax, s - ITEREE
Depreciation and Amortisation) ERAAF ([EBITDA]) 725 653 11
Profit Attributable to Equity EATREREA
Shareholders of the Company SR 372 307 21
Basic Earnings per Share (HK cents) BREXREF (FBAl) 35.9 29.8 20
Total Dividends per BRTBEREARE
Ordinary Share (HK cents) (7&4L) 24.4 20.2 21
Year Ended 31stMarchBBEZ=A=+—HLLFEE HK$ million B¥ HE T
Revenue Yt A Gross Profit £F|
6,000 3,000
5,000 5,052 2,500 2511
4,000 SR 2,000 2,175
1,925
1,760
3,000 1,500
2,000 1,000
1,000 500
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 O 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
EBITDA Profit Attributable to Equity
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ERBHEEMHNAR
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Note:

earlier years for comparison purposes.

In order to comply with Revised Hong Kong Accounting Standard 19,
Employee benefits, that is effective for accounting period beginning
on 1st January, 2013, the Group adopted new accounting policies
for defined benefit plans. Figures for the years FY2011/2012 and
FY2012/2013 have been adjusted and it is not practicable to restate

Shareholders of the Company
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS BB E

Asat 31stMarchiR=A=+—H

2015 2014
—E—hfF —E—NF %
. . L. \ s HK$ million HK$ million Change
Financial Position B # ik % EWEET  BREET  HALED
Total Assets BEE 3,637 3,242 12
Net Cash Balance HeFE 177 195 9)
Total Equity Attributable to Equity ERRRERFEA
Shareholders of the Company PR AT 1,919 1,750 10
Year Ended 31st March, 2015 8 Z - —HF=A=1+—HILEE
Sales Analysis by Location
HEED (RHE)
Australia and New Zealand Singapore
2% s

NS E I ] 9%

North America
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Mainland China
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Hong Kong Operation
(Hong Kong, Macau

and Exports)

(F# - BFR&EA)

/



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EEHwE

| am pleased to report that we delivered another year of progress for the Vitasoy Group, despite
the slowing economic growth and intensifying competition. The Vitasoy Group recorded
encouraging growth of 12% in sales and 15% in gross profit in FY2014/2015. Our strong
business performance reflects our effective business strategy and strong implementation of the
Group's 2020 vision of accelerating our core via Execution, Expansion and Innovation.

BAMREH SBECEERBEREFMNE  NEBECANEERAFESENSERK

R-RZB—N/—Z-ABRFE  SHPEERFEEREND BIEE 12% Kk 15% Y7 8 1E

R RMANEBRRRBDY  RMREBRBT2ARZE  TRRERMEB 87T - KRR RAIH
MREOER  BHERKEE-Z-FFHNES -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT XE#&H

Business Overview

During the year, we focused on our core competency in
the plant-based categories. We developed and launched
new products with higher nutritional value and great taste.
We grew our market share through brand building and
strong execution. Geographically, the Hong Kong operation
maintained healthy growth while Mainland China business
continued to perform robustly. For the other operating
markets, we sustained our category leadership position.

While delivering strong financial performance, we continued
to enhance our capabilities that underpin our long-term
growth. We have already embarked on the construction of
our fourth plant in Mainland China. We have also expedited
our efforts in improving manufacturing efficiency, as
well as carefully managing our operating costs to deliver
bottom-line profitability.

The Group’s profit attributable to shareholders increased
21% to HK$372 million. In view of the Group’s healthy
financial position, the Board of Directors recommends a final
dividend of HK21.2 cents per ordinary share at the Annual
General Meeting on 9th September, 2015. Together with
the interim dividend of HK3.2 cents per ordinary share, this
brings total dividend for FY2014/2015 to HK24.4 cents per
ordinary share (FY2013/2014 total dividend: HK20.2 cents
per ordinary share).

H#HNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AFFR
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE# &

Promoting Nutrition, Taste and
Sustainability

Vitasoy always aligns with consumer needs and we respond
to this through our innovation in nutritious and tasty
offerings. Each of our five geographical markets introduced
new products including zero cholesterol, added calcium,
higher protein, and less sugar in FY2014/2015 to offer the
best options for the consumers.

We have begun to share our social and environmental efforts
in a separate report. The first Vitasoy Sustainability Report
accompanies this Annual Report. It will give a more detailed
account of our sustainability efforts and programmes.
It is prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide. It will help our stakeholders to understand more
about the Group’s work in the areas of Workplace Quality,
Operating Practices, Environmental Protection and
Community Involvement.

Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance. The Board will review
the corporate governance practices from time-to-time to
ensure the alignment of interest and expectation from our
shareholders, the investing public and other stakeholders.
During the year, the Board of Directors visited our plants and
held in-depth discussions with the local senior management
teams. We discussed strategy and portfolio development
with particular attention to the evolving market dynamics
in our operating markets. Professional development
programmes for Directors were also conducted to keep
them updated with the latest practices and requirements in
legislation, regulation, corporate governance and business
operations.

The Year Ahead

We are taking progressive steps to deliver our 2020 vision.
We will continue to innovate and create value through
producing more consumer-preferred products. While
Hong Kong remains our core base, our Wuhan plant will
help fuel our growth momentum in Mainland China. For
the other overseas markets, we aim to further strengthen
our foundation and market leading position. We will
keep investing in employee engagement and capability
enhancement to align with our business growth. We are
committed to delivering sustainable long-term value for our
shareholders.

HEEEHEKEBRENER - (2
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT XE#&H

Notes of Appreciation

| would like to express our deep gratitude to our customers
and business partners around the world for their trust,
collaboration and commitment to excellence, which are
essential to support our fulfillment of promise to consumers.
The growth of Vitasoy cannot be achieved without the hard
work and dedication of our colleagues who have contributed
to the Vitasoy Group throughout the year. Last but not least,
we thank the Board of Directors for their wise counsel and
our long-term shareholders for their confidence in Vitasoy.

Winston Yau-lai LO
Executive Chairman
25th June, 2015
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GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT/
BUSINESS REVIEW
EETHARRE FBEE

The Group’s performance for the year was very strong. The expansion of our core business has

been driving the overall growth of the Group. We recorded strong top-line growth of 12%, ahead

of last year’s 11%, as a result of a firm focus on executing our core brands, expanding selectively
and innovating product.

SEEAFENREFTRY  BRRROUEBRADTHRENERER - WEBREEIHT
BUOmERE - HEERTORTERINER  SEERRE 12%HNAHER -
REBEFH 1% BE-
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— GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT/BUSINESS REVIEW &£ B{THAARIRE " £BOE —

Business Review

We registered sales growth in all markets when reported
in local currencies. Mainland China recorded an impressive
sales increase of 27%. Hong Kong had an encouraging
growth of 8% for both local and Macau markets. Australia
and New Zealand as well as Singapore both registered steady
sales growth of 4% in local currencies, yet were negatively
affected by the currency impact when reported in Hong
Kong dollar terms. North America recorded modest sales
growth of 2%.

In FY2014/2015, we continued to strengthen our market
position in the Plant Milk, Tofu and Tea categories. With our
innovation drive, we rolled out new products in all markets
including VITA Hong Kong Style Milk Tea in Hong Kong,
VITALITY Soymilk in Mainland China, VITASOY Coconut
Milk in Australia, VITASOY Refrigerated Soymilk and
NASOYA TofuBaked in the US, and VITASOY Premium Tofu
in Singapore. We supported all the new product launches
with strong marketing campaigns.

During the year, we continued to improve our manufacturing
efficiency and manage our operating costs prudently.
In terms of operating results, Mainland China recorded
a robust profit growth of 37%. Hong Kong remained a
stable contributor with profit growth of 2%. Australia and
New Zealand’s profit increased by 4% while Singapore’s
remained flat in local currency. Results of North America
were somewhat lackluster with an operating loss of HK$1.4
million caused by the lower-than expected performance from
new initiatives and Mainstream sales, coupled with higher
marketing and manufacturing expenses.

To secure manufacturing support to our rapid growth in
Mainland China, we have embarked on the construction
of our fourth Mainland China plant in Wuhan. A ground
breaking ceremony of the plant was conducted in April 2015.

H#HNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AFFR
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— GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT/BUSINESS REVIEW &£ B{THAR IRE " 4EBOE —

Financial Highlights

The financial position of the Group remained solid. Below is
an analysis of our key financial indicators including revenue,
gross profit margin and return on capital employed, which
reflected the healthy position of the business.

Revenue

The Group’s revenue grew 12% to HK$5,052 million
(FY2013/2014: HK$4,494 million). During the year, we
focused on innovation in core categories with new offerings
and improved execution in distribution channels, which
expanded our market share across all operations.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit for the year increased 15% to HK$2,511 million
(FY2013/2014: HK$2,175 million), mainly driven by the solid
sales growth.

Gross profit margin has further increased to 50%
(FY2013/2014: 48%) which was driven by improved
manufacturing efficiency with increased volume, better
profitable sales mix and lower commodity costs for milk
powder, sugar and packaging materials when compared to
the previous year.

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses increased 15% to HK$2,026 million
(FY2013/2014: HK$1,756 million), mainly due to higher
investment in brand building and utilisation programmes,
higher staff costs with increased headcount, higher
transportation and warehouse costs associated with the
sales growth.

Marketing, selling and distribution expenses were HK$1,345
million, up 19%, mainly led by the increased investment in
strengthening our core brand equity and promotion support
to new product launches. There were increased sales staff
expenses and sales commission because of the volume
increase and the expansion of the sales team in Mainland
China, coupled with higher volume-driven delivery costs.

Administrative expenses increased 11% to HK$411 million
because of higher staff costs with the increase in headcount
as well as higher depreciation charges associated with capital
investments in recent years.

Other operating expenses amounted to HK$270 million, up
4% compared with last year.
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EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest Income, Finance
Costs, Income Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation)

EBITDA for the year was HK$725 million (FY2013/2014:
HK$653 million), up 11%. This was driven by higher
gross profit margin, partly offset by increased marketing
investment and volume-driven commission, as well as higher
operating costs in staff, transportation and warehousing
expenses. EBITDA to revenue margin for the year stood at
14% (FY2013/2014: 15%).

Profit Before Taxation

With further reduction in finance costs and a relatively
mild increase in depreciation and amortisation charges,
profit before taxation improved by 15% to HK$524 million
(FY2013/2014: HK$457 million).

Taxation

Income tax charged for the year was HK$115 million
(FY2013/2014: HK$116 million) with effective tax rate
dropped to 22% (as compared to 25% in last year). The drop
in effective tax rate was due to streamlining the tax structure
in Mainland China.

Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the
Company

With the improved operating profit and lower taxes, profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the
year was HK$372 million (FY2013/2014: HK$307 million),
representing a year-on-year increase of 21%.

Financial Position

As of 31st March, 2015, the Group had a net cash balance
of HK$177 million (31st March, 2014: HK$195 million) and
available banking facilities amounted to HK$877 million
(31st March, 2014: HK$700 million).

The Group'’s borrowings (including obligations under finance
leases) amounted to HK$158 million (31st March, 2014:
HK$126 million).

As such, the gearing ratio (total borrowings/total equity
attributable to shareholders) was 8% (31st March, 2014: 7%)
as we continued to fund our production capacity expansion
and upgrade through internally generated cash. The gearing
ratio is expected to increase in the future months as the
Company starts to take on bank borrowing progressively.
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The Group’s return on capital employed (ROCE) (EBITDA/
average non-current debt and equity) for the year was 35%
(FY2013/2014: 33%). The increase in ROCE indicates that
the Group is employing its capital efficiently, and hence
generating higher shareholder value.

Capital expenditure incurred during the year was HK$530
million (FY2013/2014: HK$258 million), doubled the level of
last year. This was mainly resulted from the expansion of our
production capacity, including the acquisition of land for the
new Wuhan production plant in Mainland China, installation
of high speed lines for both Hong Kong and Mainland China
plants, addition of new packaging lines, upgrade of existing
production machineries, as well as enhancement of sales
facilities and infrastructure.

Assets with a carrying value of HK$76 million (FY2013/2014:
HK$106 million) were pledged under certain loans and lease
arrangements.

Non-financial Key Performance Indicators

Various non-financial key performance indicators -
employee health and safety, diversity and training hours of
employee, energy saving achievement, water management
and packaging weight reduction were disclosed in the
“Sustainability Report” which will be dispatched to
shareholders together with this Annual Report.

Financial Risk Management

Our overall financial management policy focuses on
controlling and managing risks, with transactions being
directly related to the underlying businesses of the Group.
For synergy, efficiency and control, we operate a central cash
and treasury management system for all our subsidiaries.
Borrowings are normally taken out in local currencies by
the operating subsidiaries to fund and partially hedge their
investments.

The financial risks faced by the Group were mainly connected
with the fluctuation of interest rates and exchange rates.
At the close of FY2014/2015, we do not have any foreign
exchange contracts or financial derivatives.
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Review of Operations

Hong Kong Operation (Hong Kong, Macau and
Exports)

Encouraging growth driven by execution of our core

EROEE
BREK (8 BFIRHEA)

BT RIB %N am HE R BIFTE dm 7 B) T 84S

brands and innovation, outperforming the industry
average

R+ REBRITHEFITKF

2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-HF —ET-DOF —E-1F C—Z—NF
HK$ million  HK$ million % Change Group Contributions %
BREEET BYREx BHILZ2H HEKEARTRESLL
Revenue from RENEEE
external customers ZBA 2,049 1,899 8 41 42
Profit from operations BERF 355 348 2 55 59

The non-alcoholic beverage sector in Hong Kong showed
moderate growth in value and volume, while the retail
business recorded a slight decline in FY2014/2015.

Hong Kong operation recorded an encouraging sales growth
of 8%, outperforming industry average and sustaining its
continued growth momentum.

In the Soy category, the format extension of VITASOY
Soymilk to Aseptic PET (plastics bottle) packaging, the
strong performance of CALCI-PLUS Soymilk and the leading
position of Organic SAN SUI in the Fresh category have all
strengthened our Soy category leadership position in the
market.

Successful new product innovation in the Tea category with
the launch of VITA Hong Kong Style Milk Tea also accounted
for an important part of the overall performance. VITA Hong
Kong Style Milk Tea received a very good response and was
an instant success when it was introduced to the market in
June 2014.

Macau sales continued to deliver strong performance with
double-digit growth of 17%.

Vitaland Services Limited and Hong Kong Gourmet Limited
recorded a solid growth of 5% with a high retention rate of
schools and improved overall efficiency.

While there was 8% growth in revenue, profit only improved
by 2%, since we continued to invest in product innovation
and brand to reinforce our market leading position, coupled
with higher operating expenses in staff, transportation and
warehousing costs.
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Mainland China

Robust growth through dedicated execution of
“Go Deep Go Wide” strategy

PE A it

OB [ EREE] R - FEAEER

2015 2014 2015 2014
—Z-1§ C—E-MOF —Z-hE —E-WF
HK$ million  HK$ million % Change Group Contributions %
EBYEHET A¥EExT BIkEH HEREEHKESL
Revenue from RENEEE
external customers ZWA 1,916 1,505 27 38 34
Profit from operations R 199 145 37 31 24

Mainland China business continued its acceleration amidst
slower economic growth and an intensified competitive
landscape.

The robust performance was driven by product innovation
and the dedicated execution of our “Go Deep Go Wide”
strategy. Strong growth was recorded in Guangdong
province and expanded presence into Southern, Eastern and
Central China.

In the Soy category, leadership position in the soymilk market
was sustained through strong brand building and innovative
marketing efforts, together with the launch of VITALITY,
a new VITASOQY premium line, offering high protein, high
calcium, low sugar and no cholesterol benefits.

In the Tea category, our VITA Lemon Tea achieved
encouraging growth during the year. The new addition of
VITA Lime Lemon Tea was also well received by customers.

Gross margin has improved, benefited from lower
commodity costs and the increase in sales volume has also
allowed greater manufacturing and cost efficiency at the
plant level.

We have embarked on building a new production plant in
Wuhan to further support our business growth in Mainland
China.
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Australia and New Zealand BN F R
Execution diligence and product innovation, but results HOBITRIER BIFTE D - (BFAEF R TR
were impacted by the weakened Australian dollar EmESZE
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-1F C—Z-0OF —E-1F —EZ—NF
HK$ million  HK$ million % Change Group Contributions %
B¥EET BY¥EER BoLEH HEREERESE
Revenue from RENEEE
external customers ZWA 479 492 (3) 9 11
Profit from operation BERF 84 87 (3) 13 15

The Australian retail market was challenging in FY2014/2015
with increasing competition, especially in pricing, as
consumers remained cautious with their household spending
at a time of economic uncertainty.

The overall Plant Milk category showed a solid growth,
primarily driven by the Almond and Coconut segment in the
grocery channel.

VITASOY strengthened its market leading position in the
Plant Milk category with an increased share in the Soy
category. We recorded solid growth in both sales revenue
and profit of 4% in local currency term. However, the
weakened Australian dollar (versus the same period last
year) has adversely impacted both sales and profit when
reported in Hong Kong dollar terms.

We continued to strengthen our presence and execution
in the grocery channel to drive category growth. In
FY2014/2015, we launched a new TV campaign leveraging
our Australian Grown Whole Bean proposition for the core
VITASQY range.

In the second quarter of FY2014/2015, we launched
VITASQY Coconut Milk (Original and Unsweetened) to
compete in the plant-based segment beyond Soy. The launch
was supported with strong trade promotions and samplings.
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North America

Strong Asian business but soft Mainstream

1t =M

TENTSRERERS  BERTERER

performance affecting overall results 55 REREEE

2015 2014 2015 2014
—Z-1§ C—E-MOF 21§ C—P2-OF

HK$ million  HK$ million % Change Group Contributions %

BEEHET BEYEEEXT BHon2s EEEETHRESL
Revenue from RENEEF

external customers ZWA 522 513 2 10 11
(Loss)/profit from operation T (FE) %R (1) 7  NATEAR - 1

Vitasoy USA recorded modest sales increase of 2%, mainly
from the Asian Channel but partly offset by the soft
Mainstream performance.

The growth in Asian Channel business was mainly driven
by the strong performance of SAN SUI Tofu and VITASOY
Refrigerated Soymilk. The national launch of VITASOY
Refrigerated Soymilk in FY2014/2015 has been encouraging.

The Mainstream Channel business performance was affected
by the slower than expected Tofu initiative and Pasta sales.
The new ready-to-eat NASOYA TofuBaked was listed in the
second half of FY2014/2015, which was behind the original
launch schedule.

For the imported Asian beverage market, Vitasoy USA
continued to maintain its solid market position.

The operation reported a profit in the second half of
FY2014/2015. However, yearly profitability was impacted
by the operating loss in the first six months resulting from
lower than expected Mainstream Channel sales, new product
launch delay, rising transportation and utility costs.
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Singapore

Strong domestic sales, offset by sluggish export
business and the weakened Singapore dollar

ESIIIE

EMHERT)  ERBFHHL OEBERET
REFE#E

2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-1F C—Z-0OF —E-1F —EZ—NF
HK$ million  HK$ million % Change Group Contributions %
B¥EET BY¥EER BoLEH HEEEAERESLL
Revenue from RENEEF
external customers Z WA 86 85 1 2 2
Profit from operation e RR 8 8 - 1 1

Our Singapore operation maintained a steady top line
growth. Domestic sales growth was indeed strong, increasing
at 7% year-on-year in local currency term. However, sales
were impacted by a sluggish export business and the
weakened Singapore dollar.

During the year, we focused on channel execution with
increased trade promotions and consumer sampling
activities. Sales of the core products such as UNICURD
Silken Tofu, Egg Tofu and Tau Kwa recorded encouraging
growth.

In terms of market share, we have surpassed our competitors
and continued to accelerate at our No. 1 position in the Tofu
category.

In the second quarter of FY2014/2015, we launched the new
VITASQY Premium Tofu, a fortified tofu with higher calcium
content, to provide consumers with an even healthier choice.

Despite strong domestic sales and reduced maintenance
costs, the weaker Export performance and the increased
marketing investment have impacted overall profitability.
The weakened Singapore dollar (versus the same period last
year) has also adversely impacted both sales and profit when
reported in Hong Kong dollar terms.
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Outlook of Operations

Looking ahead, we will continue to drive our vision and
strategy. The market “tailwind” of health trends for nutritious
products, and our competency in manufacturing and quality
commitment will provide us with a solid platform for growth.
We will continue our investment and innovation in our
core. We are determined to achieve sustainable growth
across markets and channels through strong execution
and horizontal expansion in the growing consumer space
embracing “Nutrition, Taste and Sustainability”.

Meanwhile, we will ensure cost effectiveness to maximise
profitability through a prudent approach for cost
management. The commissioning of the Wuhan production
plant in Mainland China will help us meet the rapid growth
in demand. As we plan for the second wave of capital
investment for expansion, we have already secured adequate
financing funds and will continue to maintain a healthy
financial position.

Hong Kong Operation (Hong Kong, Macau and
Exports)

We will further strengthen our leadership position and drive
innovation to reinforce our brand equity and expand market
share.

Labor supply shortages and wage increases remain as
our key challenges. We will continue to automate and
enhance operational efficiency to counter these structural
constraints.

Mainland China

We will continue our “Go Deep Go Wide” strategy by
improving our execution and expanding our market
penetration.

Through the newly built VITALITY platform, we will further
grow the VITASOY brand equity and strengthen our
presence in the premium soymilk market.

Australia and New Zealand

The Plant Milk market is expected to continue its growth
momentum despite intensified competition.

Vitasoy Australia will continue to drive newly extended
offerings in the Plant Milk category with strong execution.
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North America

We will stay focused to improve Vitasoy USA's bottom line in
the coming year.

With the recent successful launch of VITASOY Refrigerated
Soymilk, we will continue to expand the breadth of our
growing Asian beverage portfolio.

We will continue to improve the Mainstream performance.

Singapore

We will keep scaling up our core VITASOY brand equity
through the VITASOY Premium Tofu and VITASOY ambient
products.

At the same time, we will continue our effort in improving
plant efficiency and monitoring manufacturing costs to drive
profitable growth.

Conclusion

In summary, we have delivered a very strong performance
in FY2014/2015 and are progressing towards the Group’s
2020 vision. The global health trends, the increasing demand
for nutritious products, and Vitasoy’s unique competitive
strengths have allowed us to gradually accelerate. We
will stay focused to develop our core through “Execution,
Expansion and Innovation”.

Our success rests on the trust that consumers have in our
quality products. We would like to extend our gratitude to
our loyal customers who are our biggest brand ambassadors.
We also want to thank the Chairman and Board of Directors,
for their valuable guidance and support, and our colleagues
for their commitment and contribution throughout the year.

Roberto GUIDETTI
Group Chief Executive Officer
25th June, 2015
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Major Awards of Vitasoy International Holdings Limited HMHDPEREERERATR-_ZE—NFEMNA—H
from 1st April, 2014 to the Date of this Annual Report ERFERAFIFEFTERIE

Corporate

g1SE S

G r.v+
a P 5 s “Best Investor Relations Company (Hong Kong)” at the “4th Asian Excellence Recognition Awards

B 1 =

m’gﬁg{e E 2014” organized by Corporate Governance Asia.
1’%:4. 5‘
Best RCEMNEHEER) BATPN 204 FENEDNEBARR | P B [ REREEBBRLEE
(B8]
Investor Relations =’
Company

u

“Corporate Social Responsibility Awards 2014” by CAPITAL and CAPITAL WEEKLY.
R EEFEALE

. Corporate Social Responsibility Awards
®m * m o=

B(EXMR) R(EFER) AR [ X HEHEAE2014] -

——

“Earth Partner 2014-15 - Mars” by Friends of the Earth (HK). S

EEBMIR 2 KB [Earth Partner 2014-15 - Mars | ° l Mars
WPW

Friends of the Earth (HK)

WA “Prime Awards for Eco-Business 2014” by METROBOX.
for Eno Business

BN E (ETE ) ER [ BRAE®2014] -

WAL GREEN

Green Office Label under “Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme (GOALS)”, and the United
Nations Millennium Development Goals (UNMDG) - “Better World Company Label” by Green
World Green Organisation (WGO) and Junior Chamber International (JCI) North District, mlrp
Hong Kong. foronlt oo e

B RS EAH(WGO) RESLER RS UC) B [SEHAZRDH ,
B RERBAATRRREE ERELLE | 5 - JC' Better World

Hong Ko

Silver Award in Stakeholder Communications Category of the “2nd Hong Kong Public

Egmgi Relations Awards 2014” by the Hong Kong Public Relations Professional Association.
F'UE:LIIZtt
RELATIONS & BEREQNHBRERAGHEEINRN20U4EE_EERBAHABRE] PESHEER

AWARDS# $RH8 o

2012/13 Annual Report Cover Design received Bronze Award in the category of Food and

ARC A';W-PDS Consumer Packaged Goods of ARC Awards.

nowEL WINRER 2012/13 FEFHRBERHE ARC Awards F R an K H B m S B A9 87 58 -

F‘

H#HNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AFFR 23
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“Outstanding Corporate Image Award 2014” by TVB Weekly.

-.IIEIA-:;’.;.
LTI

[~ E(TVBET ) BB [HEEERKE2014] -

“Consumer Caring Company” in the Consumer Caring Scheme 2014 organised by GS1

Hong Kong. AR
Consumer
REBERFENEESR 204 O] Om‘n; ([ - (4

By GS1 Hong Kong HEHREMHIGE

The “10 years Plus Caring Company” Logo from Hong Kong Council of Social Services.

S LIRS u sk @R EHEER [10E Plus R RBE ] 25 -
pecabel.” scmion e

( “Outstanding Sustainable Development Award 2014” in “Quamnet Outstanding Enterprise
(\ QUAMNET p

‘ oEl#\lTTSgéyrle)lS”E‘% ., Awards 2014”".

\ ,\l\ Nes2014 o » N »

- S [EEURGHAERE 2014 | PE[HETHERRELE 2014 -

’ ; ) g
Honours Award in the Annual Reports - Cover Design: Special Treatment of the 2014/15 04 1_MJNNEH

MERCURY Excellence Awards. (‘1’_‘
‘ r

£ MERCURY Excellence Awards &1 #2014/15 F EF RSB EEHER I ERRE RS ) o
8 . - T MERC | IRY
EXCELLENCE AWARDS

Best IR Company, Best IR by CEO (Mr. Roberto Guidetti), Best IR by CFO (Ms. Kitty Fung),
Best IRO (Ms. Kitty Fung) and Best IR Presentation Collaterals in the Mid Cap Category of

m the “HKIRA 1st Investor Relations Awards” by the

IR Awards 2015 Hong Kong Investor Relations Association.

REBREEZBRAGESEHEEBREEHEKX
RIPEMERGED  AREREREEBERLF  BEREERER - 17
BAE (EEREL) BREREEARF - UBEE (BREELL) - &RER
EEBRES (BRBLL)  URBREREZEHR - LEBRHGEH -
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Vitaland Services Limited and Hong Kong Gourmet Limited

B FEBEERAAREEERERAT

- ,_]. Vitaland Services Limited and Hong Kong Gourmet Limited were awarded “Green Partner
9 I eg T Appreciation Certificate” in the “Green Monday Carnival”.

BUREBEERADREEEAERAVEER [ BSTRRETE ] 1 [ SOBLR
Bk | -

Human Resources A H &R

X

“Manpower Developer” awarded by the Employees Retraining Board.

BEEBEIREFRIATRE]-

Hong Kong & &

The Champion in Team Relay (Business Associates) Men’s Section
and Jardine Ambassadors Rose Bowl of “Walk Up Jardine House”
organized by Jardine Group.

WALE UP JARDSNE HOUSE
s MY Lee

RENEEIHEREIH [ BLS LIEE] PESHXBHESFAR
EREZSHBE -

Mainland China & B A ith

Shenzhen Vitasoy (Guang Ming) Foods and Beverage Co., Ltd. was recognised as an “Advanced Enterprise” in the “Peng
Cheng Waste Reduction” program 2013 by Committee For Shenzhen People’s Living Environment.

RYIEA (R) RREEHARQIBDERITARRREESS I 2013 FE [ WEHmMEE | £ERSE -

2013/14 Shenzhen Vitasoy (Guang Ming) Foods and Beverage Co., Ltd. was awarded Green
g reen medal Medal in “Hang Seng Pan Pearl River Delta Environmental Awards 2013/14".
fa 455 = AMBALE _
engseng e Penrbeatnonmenativerss SIS et (KR ) R AR ER AT E[EERK=ZARRKRKANE2013/14 REZE

£

H#HNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AFFR 25
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Vitasoy (Shanghai) Company Limited was awarded “Outstanding Entrepreneur 2014” by People’s Government of
Zhongshan Neighbourhood Office, Songjiang District, Shanghai.

g () ARAFAR BT IBARBAFLEHERTR 204 FEEBFLER] -

Vitasoy (Shanghai) Company Limited was awarded “Special Improvement Award 2014” by People’s Government of
Zhongshan Neighbourhood Office, Songjiang District, Shanghai.

gy (L) ERAFDELETRIBARBRFLEHERES 2014 FERFIESE ] -

Shenzhen Vitasoy (Guang Ming) Foods and Beverage Co., Ltd. was awarded “Manufacturing
and Industrial Services - Certificate of Merit” in 2014 Hong Kong Awards for Environmental
Excellence (HKAEE).

Y (KR R ARATE [ ERRREME 2014 | KB [REXR TERHK
-BRER]|-
ERER 8 KR

Hnnn Kann Awarde far Envirnnmantal Eveallanra

Brand
g

VITASOY - Hong Kong #8453 - & &

“2013-14 YAHOO! Emotive Brand Award - Food & Beverage Category” by YAHOO! Hong Kong.

YAHOO! EF#E M [2013-14 YAHOO! BifERIE A% - iR BRERI] -

Prestigious Corporate Brand — Bronze, Top Ten Prestigious Corporate Brands — Judge Panel, Best Use of Digital
Technology Brand — Judge Panel and Consumers’ Most Favourite Commodity Brand in the “Prestigious Corporate
Brand Awards 2014", jointly presented by Ming Pao Daily and the Department of Marketing, The Chinese University
of Hong Kong.

R(AR) RERBPUASBHERRORN [ SHERRERE 2014 PREAR  tAFHEXRE - FEEH =
RERNERE - FEEREEEREERNEmmE -
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“Touch Brands Award 2014” by EAST TOUCH Magazine.
% (RTOUCH) #5182 [ TOUCH m i8R 1H 2014 ] »

One of the “Top Ten Favourite Brands” in the 15th Wellcome Favourite Brands Awards 2014. Fr %

ERFEtaEBnaR] BE 2040 BEA T RBHER] 2— -

VITASOY - Mainland China #0475 - 5 & A 1;

“The Most Favorite Soymilk Brand 2014” by Shenzhen Evening News.
BWORYIEHR) BR 204 F R BETREEENZNME] -

“The Most Favorite Milk Brand 2015” by Shenzhen Evening News.
BCORYIBER) BA 2015 F R BETRBREERARERE] -

VITALITY - Mainland China Z;& - F1 5 1

VITALITY series was recognized as “Gold Level High-end Product 2014” by the China Yangtze Delta Beverage
Association.

EERJERBRTER=ARRITEHBSTIR20145HEMm ] -

VITA - Hong Kong #ft - &%

“Sales Outstanding Performance Award 2014 - Beverages” by 7-Eleven.

¥ 7-Eleven 2 [2014 FHEEREE - 88 | -

H#HNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AFFR 27
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VLT - Hong Kong i i 7E15 3% - & &

One of the “Top Ten Favourite Brands” in the 15th Wellcome Favourite Brands Awards 2014. l:“
BEEETIEEmEBR ] BE 204 B[t RETEEIZ2— -

“Touch Brands Award 2014” by EAST TOUCH Magazine.
# (RTOUCH) #5583 [ TOUCH m k#3818 2014 |

VLT - Mainland China M0 1E15 2 - B A1ty

“The Most Favorite Tea Brand 2014” by Shenzhen Evening News.
ECORYIBE) BER 2004 F R BETREEENRERmmAE] -

“The Most Favorite Food Brand (Beverage Category) 2014” by Guangdong Xinkuai
Newspaper Office.
| N!-l.l"ﬂ“ll-!ﬂq“

% (ERHRBAL) BR[04 BENTREESHARRE (RNE) |- V"wav s

s

“Shenzhen Food Quality Integrity Award 2015” by Shenzhen Evening News.
B CRYIGIER) B [ 2015 F R BREEHESE] -
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VITA Chrysanthemum Tea - Hong Kong #5572 % - &%

One of the Top Ten Favourite Brands in the “15th Wellcome Favourite Brands Awards 2014”. fa™

[ERETHEETEM | BE 2040 ERA T ABm B2 — -

VITA HK Style Milk Tea - Hong Kong #fli;E X %K - &%

;"‘:* Rising Star in the “15th Wellcome Favourite Brands Awards 2014".
N A eSSt EERT AN BE014TEEAREENRE -

“Touch Brands Award 2014” by EAST TOUCH Magazine.
¥ (RTOUCH) %5 % [ TOUCH m 22 18 2014 | -

The “Most Popular RTD Milk Tea Award” in the TVB Weekly Brand Award 2014.
(TVBEAT] ) mEKE 2014 hE [ RZECLARPHAHKE | -

Best Idea - Launch (Silver) and Best Idea - Customer Acquisition (Bronze) in the
“MARKies Awards 2015” by Marketing Magazine.

i Marketing Magazine 22 W MARKies Awards 2015 % [ &M & - ER 3 |
RER [ REMSS - FFRE 55 -

H#HNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AFFR 29
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NASOYA Tofu NASOYA E /&

NASOYA Organic Cubed Super-Firm Tofu was awarded “Clean Choice Awards - Super Time
Savers” by Clean Eating Magazine in the USA.

NASOYA & # /) 245 18 & /8 %2 ¥ X Bl Clean Eating 3 #9 [ Clean Choice Awards - Super
Time Savers | °

UNICURD Black Soybean Silken Tofu UNICURD 2E g 2 /&

“Global Food Industry Award” by International Union of Food Science and Technology (IUFoST).

ERmMNBRMFERES (IUFoST) EE [IRREmIT £ |-
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Vitasoy International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is firmly committed to compliance of statutory and
regulatory corporate governance standards and adherence
to the principles of corporate governance emphasising
transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility
and fairness. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the
Company will review the corporate governance practices
from time to time to ensure alignment of interests and
expectations from our shareholders, the investing public and
the other stakeholders.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has, throughout the year ended 31st March,
2015, complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

Board of Directors

The general management of the Company’s business is
vested in the Board. The Board has established various
committees to manage and oversee the specified affairs
of the Company. The Board has delegated the day-to-
day management power of the Company to the Executive
Directors and Senior Management of the Company.

The Board is committed to strive to achieve high standards
of Corporate Governance practices as well as the Company’s
mission to creating value for our shareholders. The Board is
responsible for developing the strategic directions for the
Company and continuous monitoring of the performance of
the general management of the Company. Therefore strategic
planning has become a very crucial part of the Board’s
function and a lot of focus and attention has been devoted to
such a plan. Strategic planning horizons are generally three
years. The Board has adopted its latest Three Year Strategic
Plan for the fiscal years up to 2017/2018 in September of
2014. The Board would take a proactive role in reviewing
and updating the Strategic Plans periodically in response to
changes in the macro economic and business environment.

Strategic

HUEPEEREEARAR ([RAQF]) BF&
EREECEEARE IKRABEFIEAENR
E Byt BHE - BEFRELAFIEEERR
Bl - RAREEGERITRBHMEEERER U
BREFEERR  ARREERAMIFHEN
MHmRAHE -

TEERER

AAFAREBE_ZE-HAF=A=+—HLFE
—HEETEBBAXZMARRAABHZLTHR
A (TEmARA]) B+ Mprs .z REERTA
([eEERTA]) 2RI -

Exg

ESS8TELANAXEBEREETE YEK
VARZEZEEREERERA QAR EHB 2
ER ESFCKARAZAREERRERQLT
ZHTEEREEERARRR -

ESS YN ERERENCXERERARBITR
ARDRBRRALEEEzZED  ESFEEFER
DEZKBEHELTE  UFEERAIQAANREBEE
RE Bt BREKCADESTHEDEE
ERy-B EFETIEIERERAHERR
KW - BERK—REBE=F  -EESER=-F
—mOFENARMBE—S—t "B \PEF
BEECBH=FRREK ESSRRZELR
é%iﬁ%iﬁZE&ﬁ  BREMBRAREHBERE

ELLILEE 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018
BREREE
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A defined schedule of matters reserved for Board decision

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ¥ &AM E

has been adopted by the Board.

Matters reserved for the Board Decision

Key areas:

e  Corporate Governance Practices and Significant
Financial Transactions

Codes/policies of Corporate Governance
Practices;

ESSCRA-—OHRZEER  JHARES

BFHREZSEHE -

BEEEESFEHREZEE
EREE

o DGXRERERAREAMBRS

- DFEERERTEHE

Material business merger, acquisition and
divestment;

- EARHKEG - WHERHAHE .

Significant investments including large capital
projects;

- FERE (BEARELEF).

Set up of significant new subsidiary and joint

- MHEUFTEHBRARESEL

venture companies; g

- Approval for notifiable and connected - ftf/E__{:_ THEEBETHETFHER
transactions under the Listing Rules; BEXSZ

- Provision of guarantee or indemnity to a bank - [HRITHEHEEIERIEREE
or financial institution; ERE

- Provision of significant guarantee or indemnity - BESGTEBEAERLFER
to a third party; and &, R

- Pledge of company assets other than for the - HBHELGEE (FERITEEE
purpose of securing banking facilities. REBRIP) °

e  Long-term Strategic Plan and Annual Budget

e RURERBRFERER

e  Approval of Financial Reports

o HEMBRE

e  Appointment and Removal of External Auditor

o ZRERERIBLEE

e Appointment of director, company secretary,
senior management and determination of their
remuneration and long term incentives

e ZRAEEE AAMERSEEEAR
VEEREHMERRBRR

Board Composition

Executive Chairman

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO

Executive Director and
Group Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI
Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND
Mr. Valiant Kin-piu CHEUNG

H#HNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AFFR

EEE4AMX
BITERE
BRIESE

BITEFE
BEE{THAE

BUFPITEE

FHESRT
Jan P.S.ERLUND %4
REREE
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Non-executive Directors

Ms. Myrna Mo-ching LO
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO

The category, position and brief biographical information of
each Director, together with the relationship amongst each
other, are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section in this Annual Report. In addition, a list containing
the names of the Directors and their roles and functions is
published on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company at
www.vitasoy.com. Directors, including the Independent
Non-executive Directors and Non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective delivery of the Board functions.

The Independent Non-executive Directors represent
two-fifth of the Board which satisfies the Listing Rules
requirement for one-third.

The Company has received, from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.

The Company has arranged Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance for the Directors and Officers of the Company for
the period from 1st October, 2014 to 30th September, 2015.

Changes in Directors’ Information during the year ended
31st March, 2015 and up to the date of this Annual Report
are set out below:

FHITEE

BREALL
BRERZL

BREEMEZ2ER BUREEUARKILE 2@
BRBEIREAEREERSEEEAE] —H -
i BIESUHERBEE2ACREBEZSIXK
EHEREBRBERSMERAT ([HRAT])
R A& D T 2 43 3 www.itasoy.com - EE (B
BYSTESRIYTES) SHEFEZME
EHBEER - N8RBT HEEEEU
BEREESRLETHRE -

BYFHTESHESTAR I ZZ 8
EHRABE=ZSZ—HEKR -

ARARAEWEEBIYFHTESRELTRAUSE
BIBHMAESH 2 BIUMB K BFRIAE - &
RARREBUFNTESHABILIAL -

KAFER=—ZF-HF+A-BE=-ZF-HFH
A=tHLEHBAXATAESERITHRABREE
ERTHRAEBEERE -

REBE-_ZE—HAE=A=1+—HLEERBEXK
FHRAMECESCERESBHEHIMT -

Appointment of Executive Director HITEEZRE

Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI

e  appointed as an Executive Director of the Company.

Retirement of Independent Non-executive Director

REStE
o ERXERFQATHTES-

BYHTESZRME

Mr. lain F. BRUCE

retired as an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company;

° ceased to be the chairman of the Audit and
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company;
and

° ceased to be a member of the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee of the Company.

HwELEkE
o RERFATBEUFITES

e BEAXRABRRLEXERZESERE
53

e BEAXARAFMRIREBREEGHE -
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Appointment of the chairman of the Audit and Corporate

BRREEEREEGIFEZEMR

Governance Committee

Mr. Valiant Kin-piu CHEUNG

e appointed as the chairman of the Audit and
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.

Changes in Major Appointments and Other Directorships

REREE
e ERERFTRAZELRLEEREZSS
EE -

FTEZERAEMESHE 228

Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI
° ceased to be adirector of CaixaBank, S.A..
Mr. Valiant Kin-piu CHEUNG

e ceased to be a director of Pacific Century Premium
Development Limited.

ZFEEST

e BHECaixaBank,SA ESE -
REWRAEE

e BEBMAITHERRERARNESE -

ESWE 8

Change in Directors’ Fees

There was a 5% increase in basic directors’ fees for fiscal
year of 2014/2015.

R-ZB—N,/ —ZEZ-AHREEZEREER
£#IM5% -

Board Diversity

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy to set out
the objectives and the factors to be considered for achieving
the diversity of the Board in June 2013. The Board Diversity
Policy has been published on the Company’s website.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
Director appointment has been, and will continue to
be, made based on merit as well as complementing and
expanding the skills, knowledge and experience of the Board
as a whole, taking into account experience, professional
qualification, cultural, age, gender and any other factors
that the Board might consider relevant. The Remuneration
and Nomination Committee has established the measurable
objectives for achieving age and gender diversity for the year
of 2019/2020 during the year of 2013/2014. As at the year
ended 31st March, 2015, progress in achieving the objectives
are:

° Female representation was 29% which has already
achieved the target of “more than 25%” set for the year
of 2019/2020.

e  Average age of the Board members was 69. The Board
is confident that the age of the Board members will
be rejuvenated with the joining of younger new board
members in coming few years.

H#HNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AFFR

EEEREZ L
ESEN-B-=EAARMESERAS T
BE - EPHNESEMAS TANENUARE
HEAMWEBRE - ESEHASTLHREE
HBRAQ D@ -

FABRRAERESTERES ULz B YRR/ T
REEEFRAER - ESCZABEREY
ABERRBAZARIINE  REHR  ma
EETSRR R FRRKRAER  YEE
BIRBEANZBALR ZBXRER XLESR - F
R MARAEMEMESERREEAZEE - #F
HWRREEEEEER 2= "2-NFER
HERAR-B—N/ —S_SFEERFRENY
BZRNAGFEER REBEE-T-HF=A
=+-RLFER ERZEERZEEDT :

o LTMRRET29% BEI=Z—H =B
“EFE[ER25% ] 2BERE °

e EZENENTHFRAOR EBEH
B RRBEEMAEFENFEESS
BER EEERENFREBEDFEL -
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Executive Chairman and Group Chief
Executive Officer

The roles of the Executive Chairman and Group Chief
Executive Officer of the Company have been clearly defined.
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO serves as the Executive Chairman
and is responsible for providing leadership in the Board to
set strategies to achieve the Group's goals. With the support
from the Executive Director and the Company Secretary,
the Executive Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors
are properly informed of issues arising at Board meetings
and provided with adequate and accurate information in a
timely manner. The Executive Chairman promotes a culture
of openness and encourages Directors to make a full and
active contribution to the Board’s affairs so as to contribute
to the Board’s functions and encourages Directors with
different views to voice their opinions. The Board, under the
leadership of Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO, has adopted a formal
corporate governance policy, with adherence to various best
practices and procedures. We have also established various
communication platforms to maintain an on-going dialogue
with our shareholders and the other stakeholders so as to
allow them to engage actively with the Company.

Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI, the Group Chief Executive Officer
is responsible for the overall strategic planning, business
development and general management of all the Group’s
operations. The Group Chief Executive Officer is primarily
accountable to keep the Board apprised of the Company’s
business and financial performance, position and prospects
by providing Directors with a monthly management update.

Board Proceedings

The Board met five times in fiscal year of 2014/2015 to
discuss and approve the overall business strategies; to
review and monitor the financial and operating performance
of the Group and its business units respectively; and to
consider and approve the strategic plan, annual budget, the
financial reports and corporate governance related policies
and practices for the Group.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information in relation to the Company. There are
established procedures for Directors to seek independent
professional advice for them to discharge their duties and
responsibilities, where appropriate, at the Company’s
expenses.

During the year, Directors have made active participation
in the Board meetings, Board Committees meetings and the
Annual General Meeting.

HITEREREBITBRE

ERBAZHTERREETRRAB 2 ACEER
ED BERXRALEREICTEIRE BEFEES
SRERBUERAEEBEE EHUTESER
DNRWEH L BTEFERBRZEBESIE
ENRNSTESESR LRECER - WERF
BRUARARERZER - BT EFEREMBL
Xt BREEZARERHUSREZECE
%o oHESECREFLERM  BRSBETRE
RB:EERERR EFSEREREBALEZR
BT ERAEACEEELAREK  WBTFSH
REERARERF BRATERISEBBRE
BERREAEMFOESERSER  BAMEE
BRAL QBB -

SETRAREESALEREMAREEEK
BEXRER EXBRRNKAEERE - KRETK
MBITERENESSRUSAEEERSEE
¥ BEBETEBAQTAZERRUBRE M
MBATR °

ESERER

EEER TN/ —Z-APBRFEALRE
R i mkEREERRRE ) R RERR
SERZSRBENMBEREERR  UERBR
ERFEE o BRREE  FEEE  MEHSK
EEERHBBERRER -

SEELT2EMENLREEHNALTZHE
BHER - AARCEECRFRESSETH
EREE (WEE) MBABYSEER B
MADF XA -

Er EEYREG2HRELZSSR EFEEE
ERRBRRBFAE -
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Attendance records of the Directors at the Board Meetings,
Remuneration and Nomination Committee Meetings, Audit
and Corporate Governance Committee Meetings and Annual
General Meeting during the fiscal year of 2014/2015 are as
follows:

REZB—NO/—Z-HBEE SEENRES
SR VTHRRERZESESE  BEARLEE
REEEEBRURRRBERGEZHERERT
/(1 N

Meetings Attended/ Held
HERY, SFERH
Remuneration Audit and
and Corporate Annual
Nomination Governance General
Name Board Committee Committee Meeting
FER
FH R LEER
o] ESE REEEE ERE RKFEAFEXE®
Independent Non-executive Directors HIFHITES
Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI THEET 5/5 2/20) 3/3 1/1
Mr. lain F. BRUCE hBLTEE
(retired on 4th September, 2014) (R=E—NF
AAMARE) 1/2 0/1 1/1v 1/1
Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND JanP.S.ERLUND %4 5/5 2/2 3/3 1/1
Mr. Valiant Kin-piu CHEUNG REELLE 5/5 2/2 3/3 1/1
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Ms. Myrna Mo-ching LO BERELZT 5/5 2/2 N/A 738 A 1/1
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO BRRLL 5/5 2/2 N/A i A 1/1
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO BEREEE
(Executive Chairman) (B1TFE) 5/56 2/2 3/3@ 1/1@
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI BEEREE
(appointed on 1st April, 2014) (A=ZZ-—DmF
B—BEZME) 5/5 1/1@ 3/3€ 1/1
Group Chief Financial Officer SEERMEEE
Ms. Kitty Kit-yi FUNG BRELL 5/5@  N/A FiEf 3/3@ 1/1¢
Group Internal Audit Director SEANIPETEE
Mr. Terence Chiu-kit CHOW ARGt
(appointed on 17th March, 2014) (R=Z2—DF
=At+tHEZE) N/A 38 H N/A T3 A 3/3@ N/A 738 H
External Auditors SIS BUET
KPMG EEREMEHA N/A FiE N/A RE R 3/3¢ 1/19
Notes: MieE
(@)  Chairman of the Board (a) EEBXRFE

(b)  Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
Chairman of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee

Chairman of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee
effective from 4th September, 2014

(d)  Chairman of the Annual General Meeting
(e) Attendance by invitation

The Company acknowledges the Annual General Meeting is
one of the important forums to engage our shareholders. In
the 2014 Annual General Meeting, all Directors, including
Executive Chairman, the Chairman of the Board Committees
and the External Auditors attended the meeting and
answered shareholders’ questions.
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During the year under review, the Executive Chairman also
met with the Non-executive Directors without the presence
of Executive Directors and Senior Management.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The appointment of a new Director is made on the
recommendation by the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee of the Company or by shareholders in a general
meeting. Shareholders may propose a candidate for election
as Director in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company and the Director Nomination Policy. The
nomination procedures by shareholders are published on the
website of the Company. Any Director who is appointed by
the Board shall retire at the next General Meeting.

Subject to the re-election requirement of the Company’s
Articles of Association, all the Non-executive (including
Independent Non-executive) Directors of the Company
are appointed for a specific term of not more than three
years under their letters of appointment. Pursuant to the
Company’s current Articles of Association, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least every three years
and one-third (or the number nearest to but not exceeding
one-third) of Directors shall retire from office every year at
the Company’s Annual General Meeting.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Induction programs are arranged for the newly appointed
Directors on the general business of the Company. On
appointment, new Directors will also be given an induction
program kit advising them of their responsibilities and duties
as Directors under various regulatory requirements and the
Board procedures, including the Terms of Reference of the
Board Committees. Directors are provided with “A Guide
on Directors’ Duties” issued by the Companies Registry and
“Guidelines for Directors” issued by Hong Kong Institute of
Directors as guidelines on the general principles of duties of
directors.

The Company also arranges continuous professional
development program to Directors at the expense of the
Company. The Company Secretary regularly provides to
Directors information about the enrollment of external
training courses and seminars as well as legal alerts and
articles which are relevant for Directors to keep up-to-date
on any legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
requirements and with professional practices in a dynamic
business world. The program would help refresh Directors’
knowledge and skills in relation to their performance of the
roles, functions and duties of directors of a listed company.

REOEFE JTEIRESHEITESRSEEE
ABTESZERTEHEHNTESHE -

EECRE -BEERER

ERANBREFARAFHREREZEGZERR
BBRRASHRREZTIHESE - RRIUBRELX
ARAERMAANESREBREREREBALRE
E-RRZEBEFEAQRAZBE LTS - L
EEEZACESYART—ERRAKELSE
B o

EXAQRAERARNARERREZRRT - RE
FUTEBEZZER A2AZBEHFUTES
(BREBYFYITES) 2BEXPLFEE=
FoREXAQRARTZERMA - 2RESHA
ROB=FRESE MEFARF=22— (X
REOERREEBEE=22—) 2EERERAR
RBFRELER-

EERERSEERERE

ERBARFEFAESZHRERN  NEELF
ZEBER - HIEIESREZERTERR—OHM
FRAAER  UERSETHESETRAREER
RESEREF (BETRESZESCHEHE)
TEERBE - W ESFERMAQAEM
BEH# EEEAESI I REBES2STH
ZIESES ] FRABESEET-RFRUZE
5 e

ERRATREERIBFEEXURERE  FHE
AEARFAXN - RAREEHOESRUAR
SNEFIRERANEZHREER - BRTFRM
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EERCXEAREUAREHEAIANEXE
%o REBHESBERAN RBLELHTATES
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During the year, the Company Secretary has organised
an annual inhouse training program to Directors
covering various topical issues, ranging from social media
trend, currency developments and the new regulatory
requirements.

In-house “Directors Training Program” - September 2014

50 AABEREERHEEABEIRE
RERBHREBEY EREBRRBIERE
REEHIRNE -

R [EEBRZIRE - —F-—HFERA
BIRBEE

Topics covered:

e  Social Media - Vitasoy corporate website revamp;
° What’s Around the Corner on Currencies; and

° New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

o HREE - ENEMHIAEY
o EWHAREZ R
o  HEBEERB(ATEM)

In September 2014, the Company has organised a plant
tour for our Directors to visit our manufacturing plant and
headquarters in Tuen Mun, Hong Kong.

In March 2015, the Company has also organised for our
Directors another plant tour to our manufacturing plant
in Wodonga, Australia. Our Directors had also made
market visit in different sales channels so as to understand
the market in which we sell and how to drive the market
performance. During the visit, our Directors had also met
with our local joint venture partner and to exchange views in
growing the business.
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Plant and market visits in Australia - March 2015

SBRNEERTS - —2—HF=A
EHERE:

Areas covered:

e  Wodonga manufacturing plant visit;
° Melbourne market visit; and
° Meetings with local joint venture partner and local

management team to review and discuss about the
current business performance and strategy.

o BEBESRMEERE
o INEBEAEMME R

e HEMNSEBHREHNEEESHE R
BREECESE SV E Y

The Board also acknowledges the importance of continuous
professional development (“CPD”) to Senior Management
in this highly competitive consumer product market. Senior
Management is encouraged to participate in various CPD
program at the expense of the Company.

All Directors and Senior Management have provided to the
Company Secretary their training records for the fiscal year
of 2014/2015 which have been reviewed by the Audit and
Corporate Governance Committee. Each of the Director
of the Company has received more than 30 hours of CPD
training during the year. Senior Management has received
average 65 hours of CPD training during the year.

ESETHAERFERAUZCEEERTS L &
BEXBURUSEEEASZEEM - ZRAH
BEEEBEAESMBRAREEXBRRE &
FHBEAATZM -

PRESEKEEEEABEALQRAMERHRSE
REB-—N/—Z-ARRFE2FIRE I
CEHERREXELRZESEMN - A AFKE
EYRFREZBEEXRRIZIEI0/DE - M
EEEEAETRFREZFHIN S NRNEFE
HEZREZI -
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Directors’ Training Records EEIEG5F

Analysis of training attended by Directors in FY2014/2015 by topic
EERN 2N/ —Z-hMBFESMZEINDH (REE)

Account and Finance Director's Duties and Governance
S RB®E 7% 4% EERERER

N/

Business Reading

RBIREY 8%

N\

Legal/ Regulatory Compliance
B BRI ZEBT 12%

N

Company’s Business

N 69% FRAEK

Analysis of training attended by Directors in FY2014/2015 by type
EERN_Z—N/ —Z-AMBFESMZEINDNT (RER)

External Courses/ Seminars/ Workshops

SERRE e TEY 12%

N

Plant/Market Visit
50% BE/THESE

Articles Readings
FYIBE 19%

/

In-house Training

I 19%

H#HNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AFFR
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Senior Management’s Training Records =EEEA S 2155 ##

Analysis of training attended by Senior Management in FY2014/2015 by topic
EEEBAER-Z—N /—E-HHBREES MBI (REE)

. Human Resources
Account / Finance/ Tax 1% AHER

2/ B/ BIE 8% /

AN

Company's Business

RRBEH 9%

N

Market/ Product /
Business Development

Wi ER EBRE 35% /

Regulatory/Legal/Industrial
N47% BE @/ 7%

Analysis of training attended by Senior Management in FY2014/2015 by type
SEEBAENR-Z—N/—E-AMBFESMZEZINIHT (RER)

In-house Training
REREEF 11%

N

Articles Readings

HWBME 37%,

External Courses/ Seminars/ Workshops

\\52% SRR Biae TS
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Responsibilities of Directors

Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Company. Directors are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Annual
Financial Statements for FY2014/2015 are prepared on a
going-concern basis. All the new accounting standards and
policies adopted by the Company have been thoroughly
discussed and approved at the Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee before adoption by the Board.

The Group has adopted its own Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the “Code”) on terms no less
exacting than the required standards set out in the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules. A similar code has also been adopted by the
Group for the specified group of employees who may possess
or have access to price sensitive information. Specific
enquiries were made of all Directors and the specified group
of employees, and all Directors and the specified group of
employees have confirmed compliance with the required
standard set out in the Code for the year ended 31st March,
2015.

Confirmations have been received from all Directors that
they have provided sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company during the fiscal year of 2014/2015.
Directors have also disclosed to the Company their interests
as director and other office in other public companies and
organisation in a timely manner, and have regularly reported
to the Company Secretary on any subsequent changes.

H#HNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AFFR
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Evaluation of the Board and the Executive
Chairman

The Board believes that evaluation of the Board and
the Executive Chairman is an essential requirement of
good corporate governance and has already adopted the
Recommended Best Practice for regular Board Evaluation
under the CG Code as early in the fiscal year of 2011/2012.

The objective of the Board evaluation is to review the Board
effectiveness and to identify areas for improvements. The
Executive Chairman has also been evaluated on whether
he has adequately and effectively performed his roles and
fulfilled his responsibilities as the Chairman of the Board.
Such evaluation is usually conducted once a year.

A formal evaluation of the Board and the Executive Chairman
was conducted for the fiscal year of 2014/2015. During the
evaluation process, questionnaire was used for collecting
opinions from all the Directors. Completed evaluation forms
were sent to the Company Secretary on a confidential basis.
The Company Secretary has then prepared an analysis of the
overall evaluation results for review in the Board meeting.

Key focus areas for Board Evaluation for FY2014/2015:

ESERHTERE 2T

ExelAG HESERVTEFETIR I
REGXERZEEER  YRR=-T—— =
BE-"HRFERARACEERTAPZER
REFSEHRESSHFEHTX -

EXecIREERNESE ZNME  YBWEAR
FREZWT -  RRARATHRATERERESS
IRERBERIRARBBITHAGRBITAER
ETHZ - FEAFTR—RESFET R -

R-E—N/ —ZS-6AWBEE  XATACHE
EERHTEEET-XERFTZ - RFZBRE
Fo RKARERARSEARARNEZRBESEEHKRER -
B CHZREURBEATRFARARE - A
AMEBNHBEBIZRERETON  YRESE
egsLrEH-

—E-m R -ARREEESE2RE
2500 -

° Corporate Governance practices;

Strategic plan and performance;

Risk management; and

Financial performance.

o DEERER,

o BERRBRHIT
e EREER

o BIRHA -

All Directors have actively participated in the whole
evaluation process. The evaluation results demonstrated
that the Board has performed particularly well in the
areas of strategic plan and performance as well as review
of financial performance. The Executive Chairman has
adequately and effectively performed his roles and fulfilled
his responsibilities as the Chairman of the Board. No major
areas of concerns were found in the evaluation results.
Directors have proposed a few constructive and valuable
recommendations for continuous improvement of the Board
performance.

PRESIRGSREMEIUEE - FARERE
N EEERBREBREBT  URRSEMBER
BETERALELE -HTEFERIRERM
BOTHBRESEIRNACKETHER - &F
RERVEXBREIMATEEFR I 2HS - ES
ERFENEESERARHZHARRMNRE
BzEE-
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Board Committees

The Board has established a Remuneration and Nomination
Committee, an Audit and Corporate Governance Committee
and an Executive Committee with specific terms of
reference.

EEZEE

EXTSETCRUFHMRREREZES FRRD
KEARZEERYTEES  BERECHESR
o

Board of
Directors

EEg

Remuneration and
Nomination Committee

FHRIEEESE

(all Non-executive Directors,
a majority of which are
Independent Non-executive
Directors)

(R RHHTES  BEFAX
A EERELHHTESE)

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Composition

Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI (Chairman)
Mr.Jan P.S. ERLUND

Mr. Valiant Kin-piu CHEUNG

Ms. Myrna Mo-ching LO

Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO

Terms of reference of the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee are published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Remuneration and
Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources,
including the advice of independent professional firms, if
necessary, to discharge its duties.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee is mainly
responsible to consider and approve the remuneration
packages of Executive Directors and Senior Management of
the Group, including salaries, benefits in kind and bonuses;
bonus schemes and other long-term incentive schemes,
including share option and other plans. The Remuneration
and Nomination Committee also reviews the structure, size,
composition and diversity (including the skills, knowledge,

H#HNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AFFR

Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee

FRREEELEZEEE

(all Independent
Non-executive Directors)

(2R BUHHITESE)

Executive Committee
HITEEE

(Executive Directors and Group
Senior Directors)

(BITEEREFHGRAELE)

HHRIEEESE
AR

ZEHERLT (£F)
Jan P.S.ERLUND %4
REBRAE
BRAXZT
BRRLZL
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experience, gender and age) of the Board; Director’s time
commitment; policies in relation to nomination of Director
and Board diversity. The Committee would identify and
determine the measurable objective/s for achieving board
diversity and monitor any progress made in achieving such
measurable objective/s. The Committee also recommends
to the Board on appointment or reappointment of and
succession planning for Director and Group Chief Executive
Officer.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee met twice
times in fiscal year of 2014/2015. Each member’s attendance
record during the year is shown on page 37 of this Annual
Report.

Summary of works done during and for the fiscal year of
2014/2015

FHZEE FRESRERESERES UL
ZHE ZESEBRANECERESENES
TEZAGEERRERERZSUNERRLZ
EBE ZEETHESRERTRARZRER
FREREITANESSRHES -

FMRREEEEEN 20 —2-R"HEF
EAHBEMAR - ZIHERFALFEER ZTH
BRAFH/RFEI7TH -

EFEARR 2N —E-LAMBFEMH

Z TR

° Reviewed, discussed and approved the remuneration
policies, remuneration of Senior Management
including the Executive Directors and key executives
of the Group by reference to the individuals’
job responsibilities and performances, industry
benchmarks and prevailing market conditions;

e  Approved the discretionary bonuses and the grant of
share options, having given due consideration to both
the Group'’s financial performance and the individuals’
performances during the year in accordance with the
performance-based compensation policy previously
recommended by an independent consultant;

. Reviewed and recommended to the Board for
approval the letter of appointment of one Non-
executive Director;

° Reviewed the structure, size and composition
(including the mix of skills, knowledge, professional
qualification and experience of the Directors) of the
Board,;

° Conducted initial screening, interviewed and selected
the potential candidates for the independent
non-executive director/s appointment on the
recommendation of executive recruitment agency
and other Director;

° Reviewed and updated the Board Succession Plan
and its Road Map;

° Established the measurable objective/s for achieving
Board diversity;

e M -HWEMEFHEX SEER
AR (BEFAEEHTESREIETHA
B) xM&  EREBEEAIALZHE
RRBE - AEAFRRITHERE

e REBVEMABIZRRREMEREZ
FMEER  ERODERAKEZUBRE
REBALTFEAZBARRR  H#EBRNK
BB TEAL I 3% H BB AR AE

o EHREZRESSME—BHFITESZ
FER

e BMNEESHE BEERAR (BES
BEEfREIZHEE A EEERRER
HELs) .

e WREITHRAESHRBAARAEMES Z#
B BREEBUFATESETHSE
2 HRARBEREEREA

e EHMREFEETSHIBIRERKE
M ;

o HIEEBEESTREZRTILWAER
Z,
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° Reviewed Director’s time commitment to perform
his/her duties;

e Assessed and confirmed the independence of all
Independent Non-executive Directors; and

° Made recommendation to the Board for Directors’
Fees for fiscal year of 2014/2015.

o FHEFZETHBEMRMNHZER

e HEYRIAZERBUFHUTEEZEY

MR
e WMALEEEN-ZT-N -—E-LHHE
ExrEtnESSRHES -

Audit and Corporate Governance Committee

Composition

Mr. Valiant Kin-piu CHEUNG (Chairman)
Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI
Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND

Terms of reference of the Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee are published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee is provided with sufficient
resources, including the advice of independent professional
firms, if necessary, to discharge its duties.

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee is mainly
responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
External Auditors and their audit fees; meeting with the
External Auditors to discuss the nature and scope of the
audit; reviewing the interim financial report and annual
financial statements before they are submitted to the Board,
discussing problems and reservations arising from the
interim review and final audit, and any other matters the
External Auditors may wish to discuss, and reviewing the
External Auditors’ management letter and management’s
response; reviewing the internal audit programmes and to
ensure co-ordination between the Internal and External
Auditors, and ensuring that the internal audit function
is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing
within the Group; conducting an annual review of the
adequacy of staffing of the financial reporting functions;
reviewing arrangements the employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about the possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters; ensuring proper arrangements are in place
for fair and independent investigation of those matters
and for appropriate follow up action; and acting as the key
representative body for overseeing the Company’s relations
with the External Auditors.
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The Board discharges the corporate governance
responsibilities through delegation to the Audit and
Corporate Governance Committee the responsibilities
of developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board; reviewing and monitoring
the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and Senior Management; reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements; developing, reviewing
and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to Directors and employees; and reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee met three
times in fiscal year of 2014/2015. Each member’s attendance
record during the year is shown on page 37 of this Annual
Report.

Summary of works done during and for the fiscal year of

2014/2015

EXSeZBRIRFRRECRERZETETLEE
ERCHBE  BEGERRNAQARZEXER
HERESR YNESSRHER  BARER
ESNEREEBASZEIIRBEEERRE B
ANRERAQNAEETEEREERAETHE 2R
ERER FIE RAREREAREERES
ZITRSTRARERAFM: URBRNEAQXTHE
EEATAZEBTERARECEXELRREAZH

=

= °

BRREEERZEEEN 20 —2—"H
REEALHE=R - BERERFALHEERZ
ARERNAFHREITHE

EFARR-2—N —E-LAMBFEMH
Z TR

° Reviewed the 2014/2015 interim financial report
and annual financial statements with management
and External Auditors, and recommended their
adoption by the Board;

° Reviewed with the Internal Auditor the Company’s
internal control systems and the periodic audit
reports prepared by the Internal Auditor and
approved the 2014/2015 audit plan;

° Met with the External Auditors to discuss the nature
and scope of the audit and reporting obligations prior
to the commencement of the audit work;

° Reviewed and considered the terms of engagement
of the External Auditors;

° Reviewed and approved/preapproved the audit
and non-audit services provided by the External
Auditors, together with their respective fees;

° Reviewed External Auditors’ management letter and
management’s response;

° Reviewed the continuing connected transactions;

° Reviewed the internal audit reports covering
the evaluation of internal controls, including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of the staff of the Group’s accounting, financial
reporting and internal audit functions, and their
training programs and budget; internal control
systems and compliance with the CG Code;

s EREEERMEZEMEHN_—_Z-—N
“E-RFEZHHMBRERZFUE
Bk WEIESSTUERM
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e  Reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and Senior Management;

° Reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° Reviewed the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors;

° Reviewed the status of compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report;
and

° Held private session with External Auditors in
the absence of Executive Directors and Senior
Management.

e FHEERSEEEABZIIRE

EEERR

o EHMALATNEEBITELEEREERER
HZBERER ;

e ZENBEANEERESBZITATAR
BHEFM

e FHETLEEATUZBERAREXE
ERBREZHE R

s HHUTEERSEEEAEBTESZ
BRTEBRIBLHEMFRE -

The Board has a Whistleblowing Policy to provide employees
with a more consistent reporting channel and guidance to
report any serious misconduct or malpractice internally.
The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee has been
delegated with the overall responsibility for monitoring and
reviewing the effectiveness of the Whistleblowing Policy.
During the year, no incident of serious fraud or misconduct
was reported from employees that had a material effect on
the Company’s financial position and overall operations.

The Board has adopted a Corporate Governance Policy to
provide a basic framework for developing the Company’s
policies and practices to ensure alignment of interests and
expectations from our shareholders, the investing public and
other stakeholders. The Corporate Governance Policy has
been published on the Company’s website.

The Board has also adopted a Disclosure Compliance Policy
to set out the principles, procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information in a
timely manner.

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee reviews
regularly the corporate governance structure and practices
within the Company and monitors compliance fulfillment on
an ongoing basis.

Executive Committee

Composition

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO (Executive Chairman)
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
(Executive Director and Group Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Kitty Kit-yi FUNG (Group Chief Financial Officer)
Ms. Rosemary Pik-ling LI (Group Senior Director,;
Human Resources)

The Executive Committee operates as a general management
committee under the direct authority of the Board to deal
with certain operational matters of the Group.
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Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company
and is appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary
is responsible for facilitating the procedures/activities
of the Board and the Board Committees as well as
good communication flow among the Board members,
shareholders and Senior Management.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is
subject to Board approval. The Company Secretary reports
to both the Executive Chairman and the Group Chief
Executive Officer. The Company Secretary is accountable to
the Board for matters relating to Directors’ duties, such as
giving advice on corporate governance developments and
compliance and facilitating the professional development
programme and induction programme of Directors. All
members of the Board have access to the advice and service
of the Company Secretary.

During the year, the Company Secretary undertook over 20
hours of external CPD training courses to keep abreast of
latest legislative and regulatory changes and to refresh her
skills and knowledge.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The Company has had in place an integrated internal control
framework, which is based on the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO)
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Assessing risks and reviewing the effectiveness of internal
controls is a continuing process in the Company. Our internal
controls framework is designed to give reasonable assurance
that:

e  Assets are prudently safeguarded;

° Business activities are met in an effective and efficient
manner;

e  Financial reporting is accurate, timely and complete;
and

e Laws and regulations relevant to the business are
complied.

Under the Company’s internal control framework,
management is charged with the responsibility to design and
implement the internal controls. While the Board and the
Audit and Corporate Governance Committee oversee the
effectiveness of the controls that have been put in place.

Review of Internal Controls Effectiveness

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal controls are maintained to safeguard
the Company assets and shareholders’ interest.

The Group Internal Audit Department conducts review of
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system,
including those of its operating companies. The Audit and
Corporate Governance Committee reviews the findings and
impartial opinion of the Group Internal Audit Department on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system
two times a year.

The Board considered that the internal control system
for the year ended 31st March, 2015 was effective and
adequate. No significant areas of concern that might affect
the financial, operational and compliance issues and risk
management functions of the Company were identified. The
scope of this review also covered the adequacy of resources,
qualification or experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions
and their training and budget.
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Internal Audit

The Group Internal Audit Department plays a critical role in
monitoring the internal governance of the Company.

The scope of services of the department are set out in
approved Internal Audit Charter and include:

° Unrestricted access to all the Company’s activities,
personnel, records, properties, and other information
sources required to carry out internal audits;

° Review the effectiveness of internal control over
operational, compliance and financial reporting as well
as risk management function; and

e Special reviews of areas of concern identified by
management or the Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee.

The annual audit plan, which is approved by the Audit
and Corporate Governance Committee, is based on a risk
assessment methodology, which assists in determining
business risks and establishing audit frequencies. Based
on the approved audit plan, the Group Internal Audit
Department schedules its internal audit programs to conduct
an independent review of different financial, business and
functional operations and activities with resource focusing
on areas with higher risk.

The Group Internal Audit Director reports directly to the
Audit and Corporate Governance Committee. During
the fiscal year of 2014/2015, the Group Internal Audit
Department issued reports to Senior Management covering
various operational and financial units of the Company.
The Group Internal Audit Department also conducted
reviews of major projects and areas of concern identified by
management.

External Auditors

KPMG has been appointed as the External Auditors of
the Company by shareholders at the last Annual General
Meeting. An amount of HK$5.2 million (2013/2014:
HK$4.7 million) was charged for fiscal year of 2014/2015
for statutory audits for the Company and subsidiaries. The
amount for the other non-audit services provided by KPMG
for the Company and subsidiaries during the year was
HK$0.67 million (2013/2014: HK$1.4 million). The non-audit
services mainly comprised tax advisory services.

The responsibilities of the External Auditors with respect
to the 2014/2015 financial statements are set out in the
section of “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 77 and
78.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene General
Meeting

Pursuant to section 566 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”), shareholders representing at least
5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having
a right to vote at general meetings are entitled to send a
request to the Company to convene a general meeting.
Such request must state the general nature of the business
to be dealt with at the meeting and may include the text of
a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended
to be moved at the meeting. A request may be sent to the
Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office in
hard copy form or in electronic form to ir@vitasoy.com and
must also be authenticated by the person or persons making
it.

Procedures for Shareholders to Request
Circulation of Statement at General Meeting

Pursuant to section 580 of the Companies Ordinance,
shareholder/s representing at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all the shareholders or at least 50 shareholders,
who have a relevant right to vote, can request the Company
in writing to circulate to the shareholders a statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to a matter mentioned
in a proposed resolution to be dealt with at that meeting or
other business to be dealt with at that meeting. A request
may be sent to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
registered office in hard copy form or in electronic form
to ir@vitasoy.com and must identify the statement to be
circulated. It must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it and be received by the Company at least 7 days
before such meeting.

Procedures for Proposing a Person for Election as
a Director at General Meeting

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, if a
shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a
retiring Director for election as a Director at a general
meeting, the shareholder should deposit a written notice
of nomination which shall be given to the Company within
the 7-day period commencing the day after the despatch of
the notice of the meeting (or such other period as may be
determined and announced by the Directors from time to
time) and in no event ending no later than seven days prior
to the date appointed for such meeting. The procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director
are also published on the Company’s website.
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Constitutional Document

At the Annual General Meeting held on 4th September,
2014, the Company has adopted a new set of Articles of
Association in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association as
amended by the Companies Ordinance effective from 3rd
March, 2014. A copy of the latest consolidated version of the
Articles of Association of the Company is published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Communications with Shareholders and
Investors

We believe accountability and transparency are indispensable
for ensuring good corporate governance and, in this regard,
timely communication with our shareholders is crucial.

The Board has adopted a formal Shareholders Communication
Policy to ensure that shareholders are provided with ready,
equal and timely access to the Company’s information.
The Shareholders Communication Policy is posted on the
Company’s website.

We maintain a corporate website (www.vitasoy.com) to
keep our shareholders and the investing public posted of our
share price information, latest business developments, final
and interim results announcements, financial reports, public
announcements, corporate governance policies and practices
and other relevant shareholder information.

The Company’s Annual General Meeting is one of the
important platforms to communicate with its shareholders.
During the 2014 Annual General Meeting, the Chairman
of the Board briefed shareholders the business review and
the outlook of the Group and answered questions raised
by shareholders. The chairman of the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee and the chairman of the Audit and
Corporate Governance Committee were also present to
answer questions raised by shareholders. The Company’s
External Auditors attended the 2014 Annual General
Meeting to address questions about the conduct of the audit,
the preparation and content of the auditors’ report, the
accounting policies and auditors’ independence.

Separate resolutions in respect of each substantial issue,
including the appointment and re-election of Directors
were proposed by the Chairman at the Annual General
Meeting and were voted on by poll. The detailed procedures
of conducting a poll were explained by the Chairman at the
commencement of the Annual General Meeting to ensure
that shareholders were familiar with such procedures. An
independent scrutineer was appointed to count the votes
and the poll results were posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company on the same day following the
Annual General Meeting.
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We manage investor relations systematically as a key part
of our operations. We maintain regular bilateral, open and
regular communications with existing and potential investors
to ensure that the investment community has a balanced
and updated view of the performance of the Company and
relevant business development. As such, the Company
developed and adopted a formal Investor Relations Policy
as the guidelines for conducting investor relations activities.
We have established a dedicated contact ir@vitasoy.com
for shareholders, fund managers, analysts and the media for
a two-way communications with the related stakeholders.
We keep our investors abreast on the Group’s latest
developments and strategies through direct communications
including result announcement events, group and individual
face-to-face meetings, telephone conferences and email
correspondences with shareholders and investors. All
bilateral meetings are attended by at least two designated
representatives of the Company, while always taking
reference of applicable regulatory requirements and internal
guidelines concerning fair disclosure of information without
offering advantage to any particular investor or financial
analyst. We will also leverage media platform to update our
latest corporate development. In addition, we are proactive
in responding to general enquiries raised by the investing
public, individual and institutional investors and analysts. In
order to keep updated with the latest market practices on
investor relations, the delegated persons engaged in investor
relations activities often attend industry seminars or training
sessions on various topics.
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Board of Directors

Executive Chairman

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO (sBs, Bsc, Msc), aged 74, is the
Executive Chairman of the Group. Mr. Lo was appointed a
Director of the Company in 1972. Mr. Lo graduated from
the University of lllinois with a Bachelor of Science degree
in Food Science and gained his Master of Science degree in
Food Science from Cornell University. Mr. Lo is an Honorary
Court Member of the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology and life member of Cornell University
Council. Mr. Lo is a director of Ping Ping Investment
Company Limited. He is also a director of The Bank of East
Asia, Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. He was a member of The National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
Save as disclosed, he has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years. He
is the brother of Ms. Myrna Mo-ching LO and Ms. Yvonne
Mo-ling LO.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI (GBM, GBS, OBE, JP. MA
Cantab. (Economics & Law), Hon. LLD (Cantab), Hon. DSc. (Imperial), Hon.
LLD (Warwick), Hon. DBA (Edinburgh Napier), Hon. D.Hum.Litt. (Trinity,
USA), Hon. LLD (Hong Kong), Hon. DSocSc (Lingnan), Hon. DLitt (Macquarie),
Hon. DSocSc (CUHK), FCA, FCPA, FCPA (Aust.), FCIB, FHKIB, FBCS, CITP,
FCIArb, Officier de I'Ordre de la Couronne, Grand Officer of the Order of
the Star of Italian Solidarity, The Order of the Rising Sun, Gold Rays with
Neck Ribbon, Commandeur dans I'Ordre National de la Légion d’Honneur),
aged 76, was appointed a Director of the Company in 1994.
Sir David is the chairman and chief executive of The Bank
of East Asia, Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. He is the chairman of The Chinese Banks’
Association Limited. He is a member of the Council of the
Treasury Markets Association. Sir David is a director of
Hong Kong Interbank Clearing Limited. He is also a director
of Guangdong Investment Limited, The Hong Kong and
China Gas Company Limited, The Hongkong and Shanghai
Hotels, Limited, PCCW Limited, San Miguel Brewery
Hong Kong Limited and SCMP Group Limited, all being
companies listed either in Hong Kong or overseas. He was a
member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region from 1985 to 2012. He was a director
of China Overseas Land & Investment Limited, COSCO
Pacific Limited, AFFIN Holdings Berhad and CaixaBank,
S.A., companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas. Save as
disclosed, he has not held any directorship in other listed
public companies in the last three years.
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Mr. Jan P. S. ERLUND, aged 76, was appointed a Director of
the Company in 2006. He graduated with a Master degree in
Law from the University of Aarhus and studied at the Nordic
Institute for Maritime Law, the University of Oslo. Mr. Erlund
was admitted to the Danish Bar in 1968 and was admitted
to the Supreme Court in 1976. Mr. Erlund is now a partner in
Copenhagen Chambers focusing on Danish and international
arbitration. He was a partner of Gorrissen Federspiel
Kierkegaard, a law firm in Copenhagen, Denmark. He was the
president of the Danish Bar and Law Association, president
of the Danish Maritime Law Association and chairman of
the Maritime and Transport Committee of the International
Bar Association. Mr. Erlund was the chairman of the board
of directors of The East Asiatic Company Ltd. A/S and Dansk
Skovselskab A/S, deputy chairman of ERRIA A/S and a
member of the board of directors of PSA International Pte.
Ltd., all being companies listed overseas. Save as disclosed, he
has not held any directorship in other listed public companies
in the last three years.

Mr. Valiant Kin-piu CHEUNG, aged 69, was appointed a
Director of the Company in 2010. Mr. Cheung is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung was a partner at KPMG, a
leading international accounting firm in Hong Kong, until his
retirement in March 2001. He has extensive experience in
the fields of assurance and corporate finance, particularly
in manufacturing, trading, wholesale, distribution and
retails in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Mr. Cheung is an
independent non-executive director of Dah Chong Hong
Holdings Limited and The Bank of East Asia, Limited, all
being companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
He is also an independent non-executive director of
unlisted Bank of East Asia (China) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of The Bank of East Asia, Limited. Mr. Cheung was
an independent non-executive director of Pacific Century
Premium Developments Limited from October 2004 to
6th May, 2015. Save as disclosed, he has not held any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last three
years.
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Non-executive Director

Ms. Myrna Mo-ching LO, aged 76, was appointed a Director
of the Company in 1992. Ms. Lo graduated from Oberlin
College in the United States with a Bachelor of Arts degree
in Music. Ms. Lo is a member of the Docent Committee and
Bishop White Committee of the Royal Ontario Museum
in Toronto, Canada. She does not hold/has not held any
directorship in other listed public companies currently and in
the last three years. She is the sister of Mr. Winston Yau-lai
LO and Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO.

Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO, aged 67, was appointed a Director
of the Company in 1993. Ms. Lo received a Bachelor of Arts
degree from Oberlin College, Ohio in the United States and
undertook graduate studies in Urban and Regional Planning
at the University of Toronto in Canada. Ms. Lo joined the
Group in 1980 and was the President of Vitasoy USA
Group until 2001. Ms. Lo was the president of the Soyfoods
Association of North America which represents more than 30
soyfoods companies covering the US and Canada. She does
not hold/has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies currently and in the past three years. She is the
sister of Ms. Myrna Mo-ching LO and Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO.

Executive Director

Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI, aged 52, was appointed as the
Executive Director of the Company on 1st April, 2014. Mr.
Guidetti is currently the Group Chief Executive Officer and
a member of the Executive Committee of the Company. Mr.
Guidetti graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics at
the Bologna University in Bologna, Italy in 1987 and further
obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Administration
at Centro Universitario di Organizzazione Aziendale in
Altavilla Vicentina, Italy in 1988. Mr. Guidetti is responsible
for the overall strategic planning, business development
and general management of all the Group’s operations. Mr.
Guidetti joined the Group as the Group Chief Executive
Officer on 1st April, 2013 and has fully assumed the roles
and responsibilities of the former Group Chief Executive
Officer on 1st August, 2013. He has 24 years of proven track
record in general management, strategic/business planning,
marketing/commercial leadership, product innovation and
new business development. He has matured his professional
expertise in two of the largest global fast moving consumer
goods organisations and across local, regional and global
roles in Europe and Asia. He has spent the last 14 years in this
field in Greater China. Mr. Guidetti is a director of Ariston
Thermo Group, a private limited company incorporated in
Italy. He does not hold/has not held any directorship in other
listed public companies currently and in the last three years.
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Senior Management

Group Senior Directors

Ms. Kitty Kit-yi FUNG, aged 51, Group Chief Financial
Officer. Ms. Fung is responsible for the strategic planning,
financial management and control, accounting, corporate
finance and investor relations of the Group. She joined the
Group in 2010. She has over twenty-five years of diversified
experience working with leading multinational companies
across consumer products, manufacturing, publishing,
banking and retail industries in the United States, Greater
China and Asia Pacific regions. Besides being a Certified
Public Accountant, she is also a Chartered Financial Analyst
and a Certified Management Accountant.

Ms. Rosemary Pik-ling LI, aged 58, Group Senior Director,
Human Resources. Ms. Li is responsible for leading all
global human resources strategies and initiatives, including
organisations structure, corporate remuneration and reward
programs, employee engagement, talent development, and
the overall human resources policies. She continuously
shaped the Group’s best practices in strategic human
resources management to enhance the organisational
capabilities. Prior to joining the Group in 2000, she had
human resources leadership experience gained from
multinational corporations and sizable local organisations.

Mr. Frank Changbo Sl, aged 45, Group Senior Director,
Manufacturing and Project Management. Mr. Si is responsible
for the formulation of the Group’s manufacturing and project
policy and strategy as well as the management and support
of plant capital expenditure project and manufacturing
performance. He joined the Group in 2012. He has extensive
experience in different multi-national companies focus on
quality, manufacturing and project management.

Dr. Joanna Shwu-Pyng Tzeng CHEN, aged 56, Group
Senior Director, Research, Development and Quality. Dr.
Chen is responsible for developing, leading and executing
research and development and quality strategies to meet
the business needs of local and overseas markets. She plays
a strategic role in driving global product direction and
innovation while assuring compliance, safety, sustainability
and quality excellence. Dr. Chen joined the Group in 2010.
She has diversified working experiences with prominent
multinational companies in the United States, Greater
China and Asia Pacific region. Her expertise covers technical
management and commercialisation in areas across food
ingredient, food product research and development/
manufacturing, regulatory compliance and quality assurance.
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Hong Kong Operation (Hong Kong, Macau
and Exports)

Mr. Charles Chung CHYI, aged 60, Chief Executive Officer,
Hong Kong Operation. Mr. Chyi is responsible for the general
management and development of the Group’s operations in
Hong Kong, Macau and various export markets. He joined the
Group in 2008 and had held senior management positions
with a couple of prominent multinational companies
previously in the food and beverage industry focusing on
Greater China.

Mainland China

Mr. Jack Jie YUAN, aged 45, Managing Director of
Vitasoy (China) Investments Company Limited. Mr. Yuan is
responsible for the general management and development
of the Group’s operations in Mainland China. Mr. Yuan
joined the Group in 2004 as the General Manager of the
Group’s Shenzhen and Foshan joint venture operation. He
has extensive experience in the beverage industry and had
previously worked with a number of multinational companies
in Mainland China.

Australia and New Zealand

Mr. Christopher John GILLARD, aged 43, General Manager
of Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd. Mr. Gillard is
responsible for the general management and development
of the Group’s operation in Australia and New Zealand.
He joined the Group in November 2014. He has extensive
experience across the Asia-Pacific fast moving consumer
goods industry. Based in and a native of Melbourne, he
recently returned from almost a decade living and working
in Greater China. He has a strong track record in Sales,
Marketing and General Management.

North America

Mr. Walter M. RIGLIAN, aged 61, President and Chief
Executive Officer of Vitasoy USA Inc.. Mr. Riglian is
responsible for the general management and development of
the Group’s operation in North America. He joined the Group
in 2005. He has extensive experience in sales, marketing, and
new product development. Prior to joining Vitasoy USA Inc.,
Mr. Riglian held numerous senior management positions with
several renowned multi-national companies in the grocery,
dairy, produce and natural products industries.

Singapore

Mr. Derrick Teck Huat PEK, aged 54, Chief Executive
Officer of Unicurd Food Co. (Private) Ltd., the Group’s tofu
manufacturing company in Singapore. Mr. Pek is responsible
for the general management and development of the Group’s
operation in Singapore. He joined the Group in 2012. He has
over 20 years experience in fast moving consumer goods
industry, spanning from food to personal care products
category. He had gained numerous years of sales and
marketing experiences and held senior positions in a few
renowned multinational consumer products companies in
Singapore.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements for the
year ended 31st March, 2015.

Principal Place of Business

Vitasoy International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) is a
company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has
its registered office and principal place of business at No. 1
Kin Wong Street, Tuen Mun, New Territories, Hong Kong.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are the manufacture
and sale of food and beverages. The principal activities and
other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 14 to
the financial statements.

The segment analysis of the operations of the Company and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) during the financial year is set
out in note 3 to the financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business, can be found in the Group Chief Executive
Officer’s Report/Business Review set out on pages 10 to
21 of this Annual Report. The environmental, employees,
customers and suppliers matters that have a significant
impact on the Group, are provided in the “Sustainability
Report” to be sent out together with this Annual Report.
These discussions form part of this Report of the Directors.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and
purchases attributable to the major customers and suppliers
respectively during the financial year is as follows:
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Percentages of

the Group’s total
Sales Purchases
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HEATasL RReFaSHL

The largest customer BREF

Five largest customers in aggregate BEKREFAE
The largest supplier BRARMER

Five largest suppliers in aggregate HREAMERES

6%
17%
23%
34%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their
associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had any interest in these major
customers and suppliers.
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Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2015
and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 79 to 181.

Dividends

An interim dividend of HK3.2 cents per ordinary share
(2014: HK3.2 cents per ordinary shares) was paid on 30th
December, 2014. The Directors now recommend the
payment of a final dividend of HK21.2 cents per ordinary
share (2014: HK17.0 cents per ordinary share) in respect of
the year ended 31st March, 2015.

Charitable Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$95,000 (2014: HK$106,000).

Bank Loans

Particulars of bank loans of the Group, as at 31st March,
2015 are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 24(c) to the financial
statements. Shares were issued during the year on exercise
of share options.

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the
Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year.

Directors

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of
this Annual Report are set out on page 2.

Mr. lain F. BRUCE retired as an Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from the conclusion of the 2014 Annual
General Meeting held on 4th September, 2014.

In accordance with Article 104 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI and
Mr. Jan P. S. ERLUND retire from the board by rotation at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other
than normal statutory obligations.
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Directors (Continued)

Non-executive Directors are appointed under the same
terms for rotational retirement as other Directors, pursuant
to the Articles of Association of the Company.

Directors of Subsidiaries

A full list of the names of the directors of the Group’s
subsidiaries during the financial year and up to the date of
this Annual Report can be found in the Company’s website
at www.vitasoy.com under “Investor Relations/Corporate
Governance/Board of Directors”.

Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

The Directors of the Company who held office at 31st
March, 2015 had the following interests in the shares of
the Company and subsidiaries (within the meaning of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)) at that date as
recorded in the register of Directors’ interests and short
positions required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO:

(1) Interests inissued shares

=40 )
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(1) RERITRGZ B

Number of ordinary shares

HiEREA
Trusts and Total
Personal Family similar number of * % of total
Name Note interests interests interests shares held issued shares
BEiER Fr$E *hEBITERG
21 P BAES REER FEES B8 #BZESLEL
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO (i), (iv) 57,955,800 28,702,500 72,678,300 159,336,600 15.33%
EREEE
Dr. the Hon. Sir David
Kwok-po LI 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000 0.58%
ZEHESBT
Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND 100,000 - - 100,000 0.01%
Jan P.S.ERLUND %4
Ms. Myrna Mo-ching LO (i), (iv) - - 100,653,000 100,653,000 9.68%
ERELT
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO (iii), (iv) - - 93,794,750 93,794,750 9.02%
EBERRLZT

*

The percentage has been compiled based on the total number
of shares of the Company in issue (i.e. 1,039,515,500 ordinary
shares) as at 31st March, 2015.
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Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
(Continued)

(1) Interests in issued shares (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO is deemed to be interested in
28,702,500 shares through interests of his wife.

(i)  Ms. Myrna Mo-ching LO is interested in 27,974,700 shares
held by Swift Luck Development Limited which in turn holds
such shares in trust for Lo Myrna Trust.

(iii)  Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO is interested in 3,788,300 shares held
by Yvonne Lo Charitable Remainder Unitrust and 17,328,150
shares held by Yvonne Lo Separate Property Trust.
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO is a beneficiary of such two trusts and
is therefore deemed to be interested in such shares.

(iv) Each of Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO, Ms. Myrna Mo-ching LO and
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO is interested in 72,678,300 shares
held by The Bank of East Asia (Nominees) Limited which
holds such shares as a nominee for the K.S. Lo Foundation,
a charitable trust. Each of them is a trustee of the K.S. Lo
Foundation and is therefore deemed to be interested in such
shares.

(2) Interests in underlying shares

Certain Directors of the Company have been granted options
under the Company’s share option scheme, details of which
are set out in the section “Share Option Scheme” below.

All interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company are long positions.

Apart from the foregoing, and other than certain nominee
shares in subsidiaries held by the Directors in trust for the
Company, none of the Directors of the Company or any of
their spouses or children under eighteen years of age has
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
other associated corporations, as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies.
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Equity-linked Agreements

Share option scheme RS
(1) Share option scheme approved on 4th September, (1) R==FZZ
2002 =t &l

On 4th September, 2002, the Company adopted a share
option scheme (the “2002 Share Option Scheme”) under
which the Directors might, at their discretion, grant options
to employees and Directors of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company.

e R )
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The 2002 Share Option Scheme was valid for 10 years
ended 3rd September 2012. The purpose of this scheme was
to provide incentives and rewards to employees for their
contribution to the Group. The principal terms of this scheme
were as follows:

- The exercise price of the options is the higher of (a)
the closing price of the shares on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the
date of grant, which must be a business day; and (b)
the average of the closing prices of the shares on the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant.

- The options were exercisable for a period to be notified
by the Directors to each option holder, such period not
to exceed 10 years from the date of grant.

- There was no minimum period which an option must
be held before it could be exercised, but the Directors
were empowered to impose at their discretion any such
minimum period at the date of offer.

- The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted must not
exceed 10% of the shares in issue on the date of
approval and adoption of the scheme.

- The maximum aggregate number of shares over which
options could be granted to any one participant, when
added to the number of shares issued or issuable to
that participant under the share option scheme must
not exceed 25% of the maximum aggregate number of
shares for the time being issued and issuable under the
share option scheme.

- An offer of the grant of an option remained open for
acceptance by an eligible Director or employee for
a period of 28 days from the date of offer or such
longer or shorter period as the Directors might in their
discretion determine. An eligible Director or employee
had to pay HK$10 on acceptance of the option as a
consideration.
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Equity-linked Agreements (Continued)
Share option scheme (Continued)

(1) Share option scheme approved on 4th September,
2002 (Continued)

- Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in a
general meeting, the total number of shares issued and
which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) to any one participant in any 12-month period
up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares
inissue as at the date of grant.

The 2002 Share Option Scheme was terminated by
shareholders of the Company at annual general meeting on
28th August 2012. Outstanding share options granted under
the 2002 Share Option Scheme prior to such termination
shall continue to be valid, and subject to the vesting schedule,
exercisable in accordance with the 2002 Share Option
Scheme. As at 31st March, 2015, there were 15,362,000
outstanding options to be exercised under the 2002 Share
Option Scheme.

(2) Share option scheme approved on 28th August,
2012

On 28th August, 2012, the Company adopted a new share
option scheme (the “2012 Share Option Scheme”). The
purpose of the 2012 Share Option Scheme is to recognize
and acknowledge the contributions which the Directors,
executives and employees of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (“Eligible Participants”) have made or will make
to the Group. It will provide the Eligible Participants with an
opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with
a view to motivating the Eligible Participants to excel their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining an
ongoing relationship with the Eligible Participants whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long term
growth of the Group. The Board may at its discretion grant
options to any Director, executive or employee of the
Company or its subsidiaries.

The principal terms of the 2012 Share Option Scheme were
as follows:

- The exercise price of the options is the higher of (a) the
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant, which must be a business day; and (b)
the average of the closing prices of the shares on the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant.

- The period within which the options must be exercised
would be specified by the Company at the time of grant.
This period must expire no later than 10 years from the
relevant date of grant.
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Equity-linked Agreements (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

(2)

Share option scheme approved on 28th August,
2012 (Continued)

There was no minimum period for which an option
must be held nor a performance target which must be
achieved before it could be exercised, but the Board
may determine at its sole discretion any such terms on
the grant of an option.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted must not
exceed 10% of the shares in issue on the date of
approval and adoption of the scheme.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the 2012 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes for the
time being of the Company shall not, in aggregate,
exceed such number of shares as equals 30% of the
shares inissue from time to time.

An offer of the grant of an option remained open for
acceptance by an eligible participant for a period of 28
days from the date of offer or such longer or shorter
period as the Directors might in their discretion
determine. An eligible participant had to pay HK$10 on
acceptance of the option as a consideration.

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in a
general meeting, the total number of shares issued and
which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) to any one eligible participant in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
shares inissue as at the date of grant.

During the year, 6,146,000 options were granted under the
2012 Share Option Scheme. The total number of ordinary
shares available for issue under the 2012 Share Option
Scheme as at 31st March, 2015 was 87,771,950 shares,
which represented 8.44% of the ordinary shares of the
Company inissue at 31st March, 2015.
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Equity-linked Agreements (Continued)
Share option scheme (Continued)

(2) Share option scheme approved on 28th August,
2012 (Continued)

At 31st March, 2015, the Directors and employees of the
Company had the following interests in options to subscribe
for ordinary shares of the Company (market value per
share at 31st March, 2015 was HK$12.12) granted for nil
consideration under the 2002 Share Option Scheme and
2012 Share Option Scheme of the Company. As at 31st
March, 2015, the total grant date fair value of unexercised
vested options and unvested options, measured in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(p)(iv)
to the financial statements, amounted to HK$12,596,704
and HK$29,052,737 respectively. The options are unlisted.
Once vested, each option gives the holder the right to
subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company. Assuming
that all the options outstanding as at 31st March, 2015
are exercised, the Company will receive proceeds of
HK$232,087,382.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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Equity-linked Agreements (Continued)
Share option scheme (Continued)

(2) Share option scheme approved on 28th August,
2012 (Continued)

The Directors of the Company individually and other
employees of the Group in aggregate had the following
personal interests in options under the 2002 Share Option
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Scheme and 2012 Share Option Scheme to subscribe for EHEEZBEAERZOT :
ordinary shares of the Company during the year and at the
end of the year:
Number of
options
forfeited on
termination of
Number of employment
options  Numberof ~ Number of of eligible ~ Number of *Market *Market
Priceper  outstanding options options  participants options value value
Period during share on at the granted exercised orlapsed  outstanding  pershareat  pershareon
Date of which options exercise  beginning of during the during the during the attheend  dateof grant exercise
Participants grant are exercisable of options the year year year year  of the year of options of options
RENBEEER
Tk EE SHERMM k315 i e
BAfle AT FRBHe  FRfTe SRE%¥e  ARTEe BR#EzA:  BREESZ
2% RHAH BRETES ShRER HRESE WRESE WRESE HRERE  BRENE BRHE SRHE
HK$ HK$ HK$
i ik ot
Directors
1}
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO 1/6/2005  1/6/2006 to 2 31/5/2015 2375 1,472,000 B (1,472,000) B - 2425 9.890
ERERE 5/6/2006  5/6/2007 to E4/6/2016 2.900 976,000 - (976,000) - - 2850 9.890
18/7/2007  18/7/2008 to £ 17/7/2017 3600 712,000 - (712,000) - - 3630 9.890
21/7/2008  21/7/2009 to £ 20/7/2018 3820 936,000 - (936,000) - - 3.820 9.890
21/7/2009  21/7/2010to £ 20/7/2019 4580 928,000 - - - 928,000 4510 -
7/9/2010  7/9/2011to & 6/9/2020 5942 2,120,000 - - - 2,120,000 5970 -
8/9/2011 8/9/2012to £7/9/2021 6.358 2,320,000 B - B 2,320,000 5470 -
31/8/2012  31/8/2013 to £ 30/8/2022 6400 2,822,000 - - - 2,822,000 6.700 -
9/9/2013  9/9/2014to £ 8/9/2023 9.370 1,704,000 - - - 1,704,000 9.950 -
10/9/2014  10/9/2015to £ 9/9/2024 10.080 - 1,792,000 - - 1,792,000 9.890 -
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI /412013 2/4/2015t0 £ 1/4/2023 9.090 2,100,000 - - - 2,100,000 8750 -
BEELE 28/6/2013  28/6/2014t0 E27/6/2023 9.370 1,438,000 - - - 1,438,000 9.180 -
2/7/2014  2/7/2015t0 £ 1/7/2024 10.080 - 1,576,000 - - 1,576,000 9.890 -
Eligible employees 1/6/2005  1/6/2006 to £ 31/5/2015 2.375 94,000 - (32,000) - 62,000 2425 10.660
working under 5/6/2006  5/6/2007 to E4/6/2016 2.900 114,000 - (36,000) (18,000) 60,000 2.850 10.660
employment contracts 18/7/2007  18/7/2008 to & 17/7/2017 3600 304,000 - (304,000) - - 3630 10.405
BEERaHIEZ 21/7/2008  21/7/2009 to £20/7/2018 3.820 396,000 B (156,000) B 240,000 3.820 10.860
AERER 21/7/2009  21/7/2010to & 20/7/2019 4580 816,000 - (504,000) - 312,000 4510 10.769
9/6/2010  9/6/2011to £8/6/2020 6022 1,712,000 - (162,000) (46,000) 1,504,000 5870 10.588
15/6/2011  15/6/2012 to 2 14/6/2021 6.424 1,932,000 - (126,000) (80,000) 1,726,000 6.180 10461
22/6/2012  22/6/2013to & 21/6/2022 6.274 3,670,000 - (124,000) (278,0000 3,268,000 6.130 10.520
28/6/2013  28/6/2014 to & 27/6/2023 9.370 3,314,000 - - (222,000) 3,092,000 9.180 -
2/7/2014 2/7/2015t0 £1/7/2024 10.080 - 2,778,000 - - 2,778,000 9.890 -
29,880,000 6,146,000 (5,540,000) (644,0000 29,842,000
HHPEREEERAT —2-—N/ —HFFER 69
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Equity-linked Agreements (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

The options granted to the Directors are registered under
the names of the Directors who are also the beneficial
owners.

* being the closing price or the weighted average closing price
of the Company’s ordinary shares immediately before the
dates on which the options were granted or exercised, as
applicable.

@ options granted to Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI will be fully vested
after two years from the date of grant.

All options except for options granted to Mr. Roberto
GUIDETTI on 2nd April, 2013, are exercisable progressively
and the maximum percentage of the options which may be
exercised is determined in stages as follows:
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Percentage of
options granted

HEEREREzAE L
On or after 1st year anniversary of the date of grant REBHEF—BEREE 25%
On or after 2nd year anniversary of the date of grant RHEBHETMEERER another B 25%
On or after 3rd year anniversary of the date of grant BHESNET=ZBFHER another 2 25%
On or after 4th year anniversary of the date of grant REBHETNEFHER another 3 25%

Information on the accounting policy for share options
granted and the value per option is provided in note 1(p)(iv)
and note 22 to the financial statements respectively.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other
Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares and Underlying Shares

The Company has been notified of the following interests in
the Company’s issued shares at 31st March, 2015 amounting
to 5% or more of the ordinary shares in issue. These interests
are in addition to those disclosed above in respect of the
Directors.
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Number of ordinary shares

HERSAE
Trusts and Total * % of total
Personal Family Corporate similar number of issued
Substantial shareholders Note interests interests interests interests  shares held shares
HEEBTT
B5iER FRi% BRinHEE
FERE PisE BARES RiklEs LFEES REES AV ZESE
Ms. Irene CHAN (i), (i) 23,514,700 750,000 - 72,678,300 96,943,000 9.33%
RERELL
Mr. Kai-tun LO (i) 18,508,950 - - 72,678,300 91,187,250 8.77%
ERBELE
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO (ii) 7,548,000 - - 72,678,300 80,226,300 7.72%
EEAEE
Matthews International
Capital Management LLC (i) - - 83,075,000 - 83,075,000 7.99%
Commonwealth Bank of
Australia (iv) - - 73,059,000 - 73,059,000 7.03%
BN B FBER 1T
ArisaigAsia Consumer
Fund Limited (“Arisaig”)
(TArisaigl) (v) 60,600,000 - - - 60,600,000 5.83%
Arisaig Partners (Mauritius)
Limited (“Arisaig Mauritius”)
(T Arisaig Mauritius ] ) (vi) - - 60,600,000 - 60,600,000 5.83%
Mr. Lindsay William Ernest
COOPER (“Cooper”) (vii) - - 60,600,000 - 60,600,000 5.83%

COOPER %% ([ Cooper])

*

This percentage has been compiled based on the total number
of shares of the Company in issue (i.e. 1,039,515,500 ordinary
shares) as at 31st March, 2015.

Notes:

(i)  Ms. Irene CHAN is interested in 750,000 shares held for her
daughter Alexandra CHAN who is under the age of 18.

(i)  Each of Ms. Irene CHAN, Mr. Kai-tun LO and Mr. Peter Tak-
shing LO is interested in 72,678,300 shares held by The Bank
of East Asia (Nominees) Limited which holds such shares as a
nominee for the K.S. Lo Foundation, a charitable trust. Each
of them is a trustee of the K.S. Lo Foundation and is therefore
deemed to be interested in such shares.

(iii) These interests are held by Matthews International Capital
Management LLC in the capacity of investment manager.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other
Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares and Underlying Shares (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv) These interests are held by Commonwealth Bank of Australia
through its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

(v)  Theseinterests are held by Arisaig in the capacity of beneficial
owner.

(vi) These interests are held by Arisaig Mauritius in the capacity of
investment manager of Arisaig. These interests are duplicated
by the interests disclosed in Note (v) above.

(vii) These interests represent Cooper’s interests through his
indirect 33% interest in Arisaig Mauritius. These interests
are duplicated by the interests disclosed in Notes (v) and (vi)
above.

All interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company are long positions.

Apart from the foregoing, no other interests required to be
recorded in the register kept under section 336 of the SFO
have been notified to the Company.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company as at the date of this Annual Report, the Company
has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and
in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

Remuneration for Senior Management

The emoluments of the Senior Management by bands are as
follows:
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Below HK$2,000,000 ¥ 2 000,000 T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 78 ¥ 2,000,001 JT &7 ¥ 4,000,000 JT 3
HK$4,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 78 4,000,001 jT E B ¥ 6,000,000 7T 3
HK$6,000,001 to HK$8,000,000 78 ¥ 6,000,001 T E &4 8,000,000 JT 2
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Employees and Human Resources Policy

Details of the number and remuneration of employees,
human resources policy, development and learning of the
Group’s employees are set out in the “Sustainability Report”
to be sent out together with this Annual Report.

Indemnity of Directors and Officers

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, subject
to the provisions of the Statutes, every Director, Secretary
or other officer of the Company and every member of a
committee of the Board shall be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses,
losses and liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution or holding of his/her office or otherwise
inrelation thereto.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance was maintained
during the year.

Related Party Transactions

Details of material related party transactions entered into
by the Company in the normal course of business during
the year ended 31st March, 2015 are set out in note 28 to
the financial statements. In respect of each related party
transaction disclosed in note 28, the Company confirms that
it has reviewed the transactions which are complied with the
relevant requirements under the Listing Rules (if applicable).
The transactions disclosed in the section “Connected
Transactions” below fall into the definitions of continuing
connected transactions under Rule 14A of the Listing Rules,
also constitute related party transactions under the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

Connected Transactions

(1) On 27th March, 2013, the Company’s subsidiary,
Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd. (“VAP”), entered
into a services and distribution agreement (the
“Services and Distribution Agreement”) to further
renew the original and the subsequent supplementary
services and distribution agreements (“Supplementary
Services and Distribution Agreement”) with LD&D Milk
Pty. Ltd. (“LION”), a fellow subsidiary of National Foods
Holdings Limited (“National Foods”), a substantial
shareholder holding 49% of the ordinary shares of VAP
inissue. LION would provide services to VAP in relation
to soy food and beverage products manufactured,
imported and/or distributed by VAP targeted for
mainstream market (“VAP Products”). As part of
the services provided, LION would be the exclusive
distributor in Australia of the VAP Products. In return,
VAP would pay a management fee equal to 5% of gross
sales of VAP Products distributed by LION in Australia.
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Connected Transactions (Continued)

(1)

(Continued)

The management fee, payable monthly in arrears
by VAP to LION, is 5% of the gross sales of the
VAP Products distributed under the Services and
Distribution Agreement. The estimated aggregate
amounts of the management fee for the three
years ending 31st March, 2014, 2015 and 2016 are
approximately AUD5.5 million (approximately HK$44.6
million), AUD6.1 million (approximately HK$49.4
million) and AUDé.6 million (approximately HK$53.5
million) respectively. During the year, HK$24,577,000
(2013/2014: HK$25,157,000) was charged by LION.

The transaction constituted continuing connected
transaction under Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing
Rules, which is only subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements and is exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement.
Announcement was made by the Company on
27th March, 2013 in this respect.

The Directors, including the Independent Non-
executive Directors, considered that the transaction
during the year ended 31st March, 2015:

(i) was entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Company;

(ii) was conducted on normal commercial terms or
better; and

(iii) was conducted in accordance with the
Supplementary Services and Distribution
Agreement on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interest of the shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions set out above in accordance
with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE&# &

Connected Transactions (Continued)

(2)

On 28th June, 2013, the Company entered into the
Distribution Agreement with LD&D Australia Pty.
Limited (“LD&D Australia”), an associate of National
Foods, which is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. LD&D Australia agreed to
supply to the Company the dairy and juice beverage
products for distribution in Hong Kong and Macau, and
to grant to the Company an exclusive right to distribute
the dairy and juice beverage products in Hong Kong and
Macau for a period of five years from 1st July, 2013 to
30th June, 2018.

The estimated prices to be paid by the Company to
LD&D Australia for the five years ending 30th June,
2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018 are approximately
AUD7.2 million (approximately HK$51.9 million),
AUDS8.7 million (approximately HK$62.7 million),
AUD10.1 million (approximately HK$72.8 million),
AUD10.9 million (approximately HK$78.5 million)
and AUD11.8 million (approximately HK$85.0
million) respectively. During the year, total purchases
from LD&D Australia amounted to HK$10,510,000
(2013/2014: HK$8,607,000).

The transaction constituted continuing connected
transaction under Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing
Rules, which is only subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements and is exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement.
Announcement was made by the Company on 28th
June, 2013 in this respect.

The Directors, including the Independent Non-
executive Directors, considered that the transaction
during the year ended 31st March, 2015:

(i) was entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Company;

(ii) was conducted on normal commercial terms or
better; and

(iii) was conducted in accordance with the Distribution
Agreement on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interest of the shareholders as a whole.

H#HNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AFFR
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE& &

Connected Transactions (Continued)
(2) (Continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions set out above in accordance
with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Employee Retirement Plans

Particulars of employee retirement plans of the Group are
set out in note 21 to the financial statements.

Five Year Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
182 of the annual report.

Auditors

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board
Winston Yau-lai LO
Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 25th June, 2015
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ¥ #% B il $R &5

e

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Vitasoy International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Vitasoy International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 79 to
181, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31st March, 2015, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT %3 #% S Bl R &

Auditor’s Responsibility (Continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at
31st March, 2015 and of the Group's financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

25th June, 2015

ZEEHNEE @)

ESRUTRFUEBREBGES W BHRRTR
SHEEBBENNESBRRE - TREZRFEUR
REBETE H > SEFEERKFRERME
RS BBRRFEERERFLAER - EF
hRERRE  ZBMZREZARNEEEEM
TENGESMBRRAABORIIES - IREHE
ENFTERF  BXFRA/HATRBEFNER
MBRER - B FEETEESARASHR
EWREMERAMELHNSHEFTHNEEY UK
TEFEUBHERNERIZLN -

EMMEE RAMESHETEREETENEE
HwHRMANFTEREHEER -

=z
I%\

BHRE ZEREVEBRRCRBREBE(EBYE
BREER)EEMHF SRR EEER-F
—EF=A=1+T-—HWHBERRREBEEZBLF
ENHBERRENBESHRE  YCEREB (LA
%O ZHEE -

ERE g ELR
BIFEE AT
FRPIR

EITE 1055
AFKE8HE

—E-REXA=+HHAH

Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2014/15



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31st March, 2015 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-Z-AF=ZHA=+—HLFE (UBEHEH)

2015 2014
—E—hE%F —E-NF
Note K& $’000 FiT $000 F 7t
Revenue e A 3 5,051,827 4,493,885
Cost of sales SHERAK (2,541,137) (2,319,071)
Gross profit X 2,510,690 2,174,814
Other revenue Hagg A 4 44,688 50,690
Marketing, selling HE - HE
and distribution expenses EoHEH (1,344,597) (1,127,326)
Administrative expenses THEHR (411,142) (368,705)
Other operating expenses Hii&eE R (270,375) (259,804)
Profit from operations BERF 529,264 469,669
Finance costs 5= §2% 5(a) (5,655) (13,068)
Profit before taxation ER#RATRF 5 523,609 456,601
Income tax it 6(a) (114,888) (115,845)
Profit for the year FEERT 408,721 340,756
Attributable to: THALRER :
Equity shareholders of the Company A ATREFZEA 372,079 306,693
Non-controlling interests FERER 36,642 34,063
Profit for the year EEERT 408,721 340,756
Earnings per share SRR 10
Basic K 35.9 cents flll 29.8 cents 1ili
Diluted s 35.5 cents flll 29.4 cents 1l

The notes on pages 86 to 181 form part of these financial

statements.

Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in

note 24(b).
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

=\/
,%/\ Eﬁll

Htt 2 mE SR

For the year ended 31st March 2015 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-ZE—HF=A=1+—HLFE (UB%FHEH)

2015 2014
—E-RF —E—mEF
Note Fff&E $’000 3T $000 ¥t
Profit for the year EEFERT 408,721 340,756
Other comprehensive income XEEHMM2EKS
for the year (after tax) (FriR#) 9
Items that will not be HEfSHEHNIE
reclassified to profit or loss: ERBIZIEAR :
Remeasurement of employee EEEKENERE
retirement benefit liabilities ZEHFE 3,538 3,473
Items that may be reclassified HEWVREENHSE
subsequently to profit or loss: ERBZHEAE :
Exchange differences on translation HBREFBIUIIME
of financial statements of =N S
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong MELXERESR (49,581) (31,159)
Cash flow hedge: HEeRE¥H
net movement in the hedging reserve BN EEEEE 1,600 (1,600)
Total comprehensive income XEERXAKSEEH
for the year 364,278 311,470
Attributable to: TH AL :
Equity shareholders of the Company  &ATRKREZFHEA 348,865 290,716
Non-controlling interests eIy 15,413 20,754
Total comprehensive income EEERXAKSEH
for the year 364,278 311,470

The notes on pages 86 to 181 form part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

n‘/T\

SEIARR

At 31st March, 2015 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
R-ZB-—AF=ZA=+—H (UBEHE)

31st March, 31st March,
2015 2014
—E—FE —F-NF
=A=+—H =A=+—H
Note Fff&E $’000 +7T $’000 +7T $'000 ¥t $'000 7t
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment 1% - BERRE 11(a)
- Other property, plant -HihE - BE
and equipment E&E 1,775,752 1,526,574
- Investment properties -BEE 5,666 6,192
- Interests in leasehold land - RELEHEE
held for own use BEEBHA
under operating leases ZHE TR 72,099 33,922
1,853,517 1,566,688
Deposits for the acquisitionof BEWE - KE
property, plant and equipment REREZF & 11(g) 3,716 21,412
Intangible assets BmEE 12 4,809 7,359
Goodwill (GRS 13 35,813 39,076
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 23(b) 32,678 26,457
1,930,533 1,660,992
Current assets e EE
Inventories FE 15 561,252 533,328
Trade and FE U BR X
other receivables T E{th FE LR 16 805,182 725,801
Current tax recoverable FEW IR AR 18 23(a) 5,435 654
Cash and bank deposits BERBITER 17(a) 335,056 320,943
1,706,925 1,580,726
Current liabilities mEER
Trade and R
other payables R HMESR 18 1,247,908 1,062,406
Bank loans RITER 19 125,948 51,790
Obligations under finance leases B EHE > & 20 1,043 1,176
Current tax payable FEAE AR E 23(a) 27,324 22,157
1,402,223 1,137,529
Net current assets BRENEE 304,702 443,197
Total assets less current BEERRDHAR
liabilities 2,235,235 2,104,189
Non-current liabilities EREIAR
Bank loans RITER 19 27,714 68,068
Obligations under finance leases BEHE 2 B 20 3,238 5,203
Employee retirement EBEEKEF
benefit liabilities = 21(b) 10,234 9,836
Deferred tax liabilities EEHESE 23(b) 69,377 63,770
110,563 146,877
NET ASSETS BEE 2,124,672 1,957,312

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ISR AR

At 31st March, 2015 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
REZZB-—HAF=ZA=+—H (UBEHE)

31st March, 31st March,
2015 2014
—EZ—hFf —E—mF
=BR=+—H =A=+—H
Note iz $°000 F7T $’000 FT $'000 F It $'000 7t
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B R GEiR
Share capital B 24(c) 677,694 655,299
Reserves R 1,241,391 1,094,362
Total equity attributable to ENTFREE
equity shareholders BEAEWR
of the Company BaNsE 1,919,085 1,749,661
Non-controlling interests JEEERRIER 205,587 207,651
TOTAL EQUITY BowE 2,124,672 1,957,312

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors

on 25th June, 2015.

Winston Yau-lai LO
ERiE

Director

EE

The notes on pages 86 to 181 form part of these financial

statements.

R-B-IFAA-+OLARESSHAENRE

Bt o

Roberto GUIDETTI
FEiES
Director

EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER

For the year ended 31st March, 2015 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-Z-AF=ZHA=+—HLFE (UBEHEH)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KOAREREARE
Capital Share-based Non-
Share Share  redemption Capital Surplus Other General Hedging Exchange  compensation Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
& RfER
Ba BOEE  REEE  EABE  EWBE  HMBE -REE  MMBR  EREE  RREE  REW A FEREE  BESE
(note 24(d)(i)  (note 24(d)(ii) (note 24(d)(v))  (note 24(d)(ii) (note 24(d)(iv))
(BEEE24(0)0) (Bt 24()i) (WEE24(d) (aE24(e)i) (IS 240)iv)

NoteBf $000F%  S000FZ  $000FR  S00FR  S00FE  S00FR  S000FRm  S000FR  S00FE  S0FR  S000FR  S00FE  S0WFR  $000FR

Balanceat Ist April 2013~ H=§-Z%
BR-A&H 256,746 360571 1101 59220 31237 (48,622) 2261 - 76842 15,152 862367 1622875 194970 1817845

Changesinequity for theyear. KEE 2EHEE :

Profit for the year FEREA - - - - - - - - - - 306,693 306,693 34063 340756
Other comprehensiveincome £ 2 A HE 9 - - - - - - - 1,600) (17850) - 3473 (15977) (13309) 29,286)
Total comprehensiveincome 2B H&H4E - - - - - - - (1600) (17,850) - 310166 290716 20754 311470

Transfer from retained profits ERBENERZE

tosurplus reserve Bhik - - - - 6858 - - - - - (6858)
Tranfer fromcapitalreserve.  HEAHEERE
toretained profits REEF 2(0)) - - - (4087) - - - - - - 4087
Sharesissuedonexercise  SifTREERE
of share options figfhh 5714 2.4 - - - - - - - - - 31,958 - 31958

Transfer fromshare-based ~ R=F-MEZA=A

compensationreserveto  ARTEERRE

sharepremiumonexercise - MERBERRE

ofshare options BEEaz

beforeJrdMarch, 2014 Kil3RE - 405 - - - - - - - 405
Transferfromshare-based ~ H=%-BE=A=R

compensationresereto  #RTEERRE

sharecapitalonerercise ~ TERBERER

ofshare options HRERZRE
after 3rd March, 2014 871 - - - - - - - - (871)
Equity settledshare-based ~ ABBART
transactions BBRG - - - - - - - - - 8309 - 8,309 - 8,309

Transitiontono-parvale ~ R=F-ME=A=A
regimeonddMarch, 2014 BEZEEEHE 400 391968 (390867 (1,101)
Finaldividend approvedin ~ HEBRL-FE2

respect of the previous year ~ RERE 24 - - - - - - - - - - (171188)  (171.188) - (171,188)
Interimdividend declaredin -~ EAEEZ

respectof thecurrentyear ~ HERE 24{b)() - - - - - - - - - - (33,009) (33,009) - 33009)
Dividends paidto FERER

noncontrolinginterests  EEKE - - - - - - - - - - - - (8073) (8073)
Balanceat H-%-ng

3lstMarch, 2014 ZR=t-ALH 655,299 - - 955133 441095 (48,622) 2261 1,600) 56992 18538 965,565 1749661 207651 1957312
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

reEm B ER

For the year ended 31st March, 2015 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-Z-AF=HA=1+—HLFE (UBEHEH)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KLEREREARY
Share-hased Non-
Share Capital Surplus Other General Hedging ~ Exchange compensation  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
Rip&R
Bk WBHE 0 BRBE 0 ANGE 0 -RER 0 HARR  ERER  BRER  BEE A ANBEE  feuE
(note 24(d)(}) (note 24 ii) (note 24(d)v)) (note 24(d)ii)) (note 24(d)(iv)
(REE24(c00) (e 24(e)i)) (IR 24(e)v)) (P 24(c)(i) (Wi 24100)(v)
NoteM&  SO00FE  $000FE  $000FT  $000F%  $000FT  $000F™  S000FE  S000FT  S000FE  S000FE  $000FT  S000FR
Balance at 15t April, 2014 H-E-BE
BA-R&% 655,299 55,133 44095 (48,622) 2061 (1,600 58,992 18538 965,565 1,749,661 207651 1957312
Changes inequityfortheyear,  AEEEHEE.
Profit for the year KEERA - - 312079 312079 36,642 408721
Other comprehensiveincome 2 ENE 9 1,600 28,352) 3538 (23214) (21229) (44.443)
Total comprehensive income 2ANREE 1,600 (28,352) 375,617 348,865 15413 364,278
Transferfromretained profits B RERHERE
tosurplus reserve BhiR 4634 (4634)
Transferfromcapitalreserve  BEAREERE
toretained profits RERH 2(d)f) (4087) 4087
Shares issued on exercise of RiTEERE
share options figkh 24(ci) 19,207 19,207 19,207
Transfer from share-based HiTEERE
compensation reserve o fiERHERRR
share capital on exercise feERE
of share options LS ()i 3188 (3,188)
Equity settled share-ased DY UEGES
transactions EB2RA 11,124 11124 1114
Finaldividend approved in HEBNL-58
respect of the previous year LRERE 2ol (176527)  (17652]) (176527)
Interim dividend declared in ERAEEL
respect of the current year wERE (b)) (33,245) (33,245) (33.245)
Dividends paid to EE3ZT
non-controllinginterests T8RS w74m (74m)
Balance at W-%-1f
31st March, 2015 ZR=t-RER 677,694 51,046 48729 (48,622) 2261 - 30,640 26474 1130863 1919085 205,587 2124672

The notes on pages 86 to 181 form part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

n‘/-_r\/\IE: M7 /)Il, ;«%

For the year ended 31st March, 2015 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-Z-AF=ZHA=+—HLFE (UBEHEH)

2015 2014
—E-F —E-IEF
Note HfizE $'000 7T $'000 7T $'000 F T $'000 F 7T

Operating activities wBEEE
Cash generated from operations ~ EEE£BEHERE 17(b) 855,186 793,739
Tax paid EHBE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax paid - BHERNEHR (48,358) (65,697)
- Tax paid outside Hong Kong - EHERUINERE (67,474) (73,256)
Net cash generated from BEED

operating activities iR &3 739,354 654,786
Investing activities BREEFH
Payment for the purchase of BEYE BER

property, plant and equipment B2 E (521,034) (230,751)
Payment for acquisition of Hﬂﬂ%*ﬁ’cﬁ*ﬁ—‘é“?ﬂﬁ

interests in leasehold land BEEBA

held for own use under ZHEE L

operating leases EmZHRE (39,136) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEW% - MERRE

plant and equipment FrERIE 868 1,498
Increase in bank deposits FRBEE=@EA

maturing after three months BERA—FREH

but within one year ZRITER

when placed 210 - (78)
Interest received BRAE 2,476 2,508
Net cash used in investing REZHFRFARE

activities 3] (556,826) (226,823)
Financing activities MEEE
Capital element of finance ENREHERESZ

lease rentals paid EAREG (1,104) (1,383)
Proceeds from new bank loans LR TERFTBRIE 190,324 149,110
Repayment of bank loans HEBRTEX (141,932) (254,121)
Interest element of finance ENREHEREESZ

lease rentals paid FE 4 (412) (523)
Interest paid 2L (5,243) (12,545)
Proceeds from shares issued RITEBRERTRE

on exercise of share options F85E 19,207 31,958
Dividends paid to equity BAARRESFEA

shareholders of the Company IRE AR S (208,504) (202,974)
Dividends paid to EEZZINE $53

non-controlling interests RERE (17,477) (33,120)
Net cash used in financing RMEEBRA

activities R&R8E (165,141) (323,598)
Net increase in cash ReRB&%EE

and cash equivalents IBHEMRE 17,387 104,365
Cash and cash equivalents REA—AZHER

at 1st April HRegEEH 320,425 222,602
Effect of foreign exchange EEEE

rate changes 4 4 (3,232) _ (6542)
Cash and cash equivalents R=A=+—HZ

at 31st March ReRBEEERE 17(a) 334,580 320,425

The notes on pages 86 to 181 form part of these financial EBOE 181 HZME NI AMBHRKZ — I -

statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

1 Significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing rules”). A summary of the significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31st March, 2015 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 2.

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to
HKFRSs and one new interpretation that are first effective
for the current accounting period of the Group:

° Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27,
Investment entities

e Amendments to HKAS 32, Offsetting financial assets
and financial liabilities

° Amendments to HKAS 36, Recoverable amount
disclosures for non-financial assets

° Amendments to HKAS 39, Novation of derivatives and
continuation of hedge accounting

e  HK(IFRIC) 21, Levies

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the new or
amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27,
Investment entities

The amendments provide consolidation relief to those
parents which qualify to be an investment entity as defined in
the amended HKFRS 10. Investment entities are required to
measure their subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss.
These amendments do not have an impact on these financial
statements as the Group does not meet the definition of an
investment entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 32, Offsetting financial assets
and financial liabilities

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify the offsetting criteria in
HKAS 32. The amendments do not have an impact on these
financial statements as they are consistent with the policies
already adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 36, Recoverable amount
disclosures for non-financial assets

The amendments to HKAS 36 modify the disclosure
requirements for impaired non-financial assets. Among
them, the amendments expand the disclosures required for
an impaired asset or cash-generating unit whose recoverable
amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal. The
amendments do not have an impact on these financial
statements as there has been no material impairment made
or reversed to the Group’s non-financial assets during the
year ended 31st March, 2015.

Amendments to HKAS 39, Novation of derivatives and
continuation of hedge accounting

The amendments to HKAS 39 provide relief from
discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a
derivative designated as a hedging instrument meets certain
criteria. The amendments do not have an impact on these
financial statements as the Group has not novated any of its
derivatives.

HK(IFRIC) 21, Levies

The Interpretation provides guidance on when a liability to
pay a levy imposed by a government should be recognised.
The amendments do not have an impact on these financial
statements as the guidance is consistent with the Group’s
existing accounting policies.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)

In addition, the requirements of Part 9, “Accounts and Audit”,
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) came
into operation at the start of the Company’s current financial
year. The adoption of the requirements has primarily
impacted the presentation and disclosure of information in
the consolidated financial statements. These changes mainly
include the presentation of the Company’s statement of
financial position as a note disclosure instead of a primary
statement, updating any references to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance to refer to the current Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and replacing certain terminology no
longer used in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance with
terminology used in HKFRSs.

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to
the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and
in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with notes 1(m) or (n) depending on the nature
of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1(j)(ii)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of:

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of
cash-generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see note 1(j)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(f) Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(i)) to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These
include land held for a currently undetermined future use
and property that is being constructed or developed for
future use as investment property.

Investment properties held under operating leases are
accounted for as if they were held under a finance lease (see
note 1(i)). Investment properties are stated in the statement
of financial position at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see note 1(j)(ii)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of investment
properties using the straight-line method over the shorter of
the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives,
being no more than 50 years.

The useful life of investment properties is reviewed annually.

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for
as described in note 1(t)(iii).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(g) Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are
stated in the statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note

1(G)(ii)):
- Freehold land and buildings;

- Land held under operating leases and buildings thereon,
where the fair values of the leasehold interest in the
land and buildings cannot be measured separately at
the inception of the lease and the building is not clearly
held under an operating lease (see note 1(i));

- Buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land, where the fair value of the building
could be measured separately from the fair value of the
leasehold land at the inception of the lease (see note
1(i)); and

- Other items of plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note 1(v)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

(i)  Freeholdland is not depreciated.

(i) Buildings situated on freehold land are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives, being no more than 25
years.

(iii) Leasehold land and buildings are depreciated over
the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years.

1 EESTTEE @)
(g) BEtY%¥  BERRE

THYE  BERREEBERAERERFIT
ERRERSE (R 1()3) BREBMR TR
B :

- KAREZLHREF

- RELEHERAzIHMRERAEEZE
FoMABLHRBF2HEERZ ZAR
EEZREERBE IR UREH
Efﬁ#%ﬁi&ﬁ%%@%#ﬂ%%ﬁ (R BaE
1)) 5

- fREEIHMMIMEFERZBF MEFZ
ARETREERAFEEET B2 A RE
2R (RHEL0) ' &

- HEERRMHBEE -

¥ BERRESEREB ZRABENH
HEST - MBde 2By - (0E8) FREB
BREEYREEZEYREL B ZEE  URE
ERARBERA 2BERG (RHEELV)

BEIHENE BMERRBEEMELEZRE
AHEZEE SR EFREAZRERAEZE
B URBERHEE A EREARER

WEDRYE BMERREBEEE ZREAREEMG

SR ERE () EHAFIEAEHRAE

SEUT R A M E -

(i) KAEEZTHIEITE -

(i) REKRAEREZITH EZEFUSRBB2F
ALt EREHRTE -

(i) HELWREBFEREREEHRR A AE
REH (FHRIB50F) MEF ZBEERE

Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2014/15



Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(g) Other property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

(iv) Other plant and equipment:

Factory machinery and equipment 4 - 15years
Fixtures, furniture and office equipment 3 - 12 years
Motor vehicles 4 - 10vyears

No provision for depreciation is made for construction in
progress until such time when the assets are substantially
completed and ready for use.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately.

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any,
are reviewed annually.

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses (note 1(j)(ii)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets
with finite useful lives are amortised from the date they
are available for use and their estimated useful lives are as
follows:

20 years
7 years

- Brand name
- Customer list

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

(i) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment
or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based
on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form
of alease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(i) Leased assets (Continued)

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as being held under finance
leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as
operating leases, with the following exceptions:

- Property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property is classified as investment property on
a property-by-property basis and, if classified as
investment property, is accounted for as if held under a
finance lease (see note 1(f)); and

- Land held for own use under an operating lease, the
fair value of which cannot be measured separately
from the fair value of a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building is also clearly
held under an operating lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease is the time that the lease was
first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.

(i) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the leased
assets, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease
payments, of such assets are included in property, plant and
equipment and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance
charges, are recorded as obligations under finance leases.
Depreciation is provided at rates which write off the cost
of the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 50 years, or where it is likely
the Group will obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the
asset, as set out in note 1(f) and note 1(g).

Impairment losses are accounted for in accordance with
the accounting policy as set out in note 1(j)(ii). Finance
charges implicit in the lease payments are charged to profit
or loss over the period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge on the
remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting
period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(i) Leased assets (Continued)

(iii) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit
or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased asset.

Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease
term except where the property is classified as an investment
property (see note 1(f)). Impairment losses are recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(j)(ii).

(j) Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets that are stated at cost or amortised cost are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes
to the attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and

- significant changes in the technological, market,

economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(j) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

- For trade and other receivables carried at cost or
amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition of the assets), where the effect
of discounting is material. This assessment is made
collectively where these financial assets share similar
risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and
have not been individually assessed as impaired. Future
cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics
similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment
loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount
exceeding that which would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding
assets directly, except for impairment losses recognised in
respect of trade debtors and bills receivable included within
trade and other receivables, whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses
for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off against trade
debtors and bills receivable directly and any amounts held
in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(j) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
- investment properties;

- interests in leasehold land held for own use under
operating leases;

- intangible assets;
- goodwill; and

- investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement
of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(j) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), or value in use (if determinable).

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.

() Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful
debts (see note 1(j)(i)), except where the receivables are
interest-free loans made to related parties without any
fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost
less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

(m) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.

(n) Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except for
financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance with
note 1(r)(i), payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

(o) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(b) Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Defined benefit retirement plan obligations

The Group’s net obligation in respect of a defined benefit
retirement plan is calculated by estimating the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in return for
their services in the current and prior periods; that benefit is
discounted to determine the present value and the fair value
of any plan assets is deducted. The calculation is performed
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

Service cost and net interest expense/(income) on the net
defined benefit liability/(asset) are recognised in profit
and loss and allocated by function as part of “cost of sales”,
“marketing, selling and distribution costs”, “administrative
expenses” or “other operating expenses”. Current service
cost is measured as the increase in the present value of
the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee
service in the current period. When the benefits of a plan
are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion of the
changed benefit related to past service by employees, or the
gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised as an expense in
profit and loss at the earlier of when the plan amendment or
curtailment occurs and when related restructuring costs or
termination benefits are recognised. Net interest expense/
(income) for the period is determined by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation
at the beginning of the reporting period to the net defined
benefit liability/(asset). The discount rate is the yield at the
end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds
that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the
group’s obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit retirement
plans are recognised in other comprehensive income and
reflected immediately in retained earnings. Remeasurements
comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan
assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the
net defined benefit liability/(asset)) and any change in the
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding amounts included in net
interest on the net defined benefit liability/(asset)).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(b) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Long service payments obligation

The Group’s net obligation in respect of lump sum long
service amounts payable on cessation of employment in
certain circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance is the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their services in the current
and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine
the present value and reduced by entitlements accrued
under the Group’s retirement plans that are attributable
to contributions made by the Group. The discount rate is
the yield at the end of the reporting period on high quality
corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the
terms of the Group’s obligation. The obligation is calculated
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

(iv) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in the share-based compensation reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the
binomial lattice model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated
fair value of the options is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that
is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the share-based compensation reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share-based compensation reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s
shares. The equity amount is recognised in the share-based
compensation reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in share
capital for the shares issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).
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BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

(iii)

102

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused
tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities and all deferred tax assets, to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss
or credit can be utilised.
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(q)
(iii)

(iv)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

(Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they
are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it
is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse
in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously;
or
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BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(g) Income tax (Continued)

(v) (Continued)

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net
basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(r) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer
(i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse
the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss
the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value
of the guarantee is initially recognised as deferred income
within trade and other payables. The fair value of financial
guarantees issued at the time of issuance is determined by
reference to fees charged in an arm’s length transaction
for similar services, when such information is obtainable,
or is otherwise estimated by reference to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged by
lenders when the guarantee is made available with the
estimated rates that lenders would have charged, had the
guarantees not been available, where reliable estimates
of such information can be made. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of
any deferred income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(r) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (Continued)

(i)  Financial guarantees issued (Continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred
income is amortised in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. In
addition provisions are recognised in accordance with note

r)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes probable that the holder of
the guarantee will call upon the Group under the guarantee,
and (ii) the amount of that claim on the Group is expected
to exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount initially
recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

(ii) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(s) Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a
hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the
foreign currency risk of a committed future transaction, the
effective portion of any gains or losses on re-measurement of
the derivative financial instrument to fair value is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the hedging reserve. The ineffective portion of
any gain or loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument is a non-derivative monetary item,
which is permitted only for foreign currency risk, then the
effective portion of the foreign currency gains or losses
on the hedging instrument also are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity
in the hedging reserve. The ineffective portion of any foreign
currency gains or losses are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results
in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability, the associated gain or loss reclassified from equity is
to be included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of
the non-financial asset or liability.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in
the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the
associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss in the same period or periods during which the asset
acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss (such as
when interest income or expense is recognised).

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the
preceding two policy statements, the associated gain or loss
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss in the same period
or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction
affects profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated
or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the
hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is
still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that
point remains in equity until the transaction occurs and it
is recognised in accordance with the above policy. If the
hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the
cumulative unrealised gain or loss is reclassified from equity
to profit or loss immediately.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(t) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises or picked up by customers or when
goods are shipped on board/arrived the designated port
which are taken to be the point in time when the customer
has accepted the goods and the related risks and rewards
of ownership. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of returns, rebates and
discounts.

(ii) Service fees

Service fees are recognised when the related services are
provided. Service fees exclude value added tax or other sales
taxes.

(iii) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term.

(iv) Interestincome

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

(v) Dividend income

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established as it accrues using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(t) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(vi) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised
as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are
effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of
the asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

(u) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss, except those non-derivative
monetary items used to hedge foreign currency risk which
are recognised in other comprehensive income (see note

1(s)).

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates.

The results of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items, including
goodwill arising on consolidation of subsidiaries outside
Hong Kong, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a subsidiary outside Hong Kong, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to that subsidiary outside Hong Kong is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(u) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from monetary
items that in substance form part of the net investment in an
operation outside Hong Kong, together with any related tax,
are reclassified to equity on consolidation.

(v) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing cost, as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

(w) Repair and maintenance expenditure

Repair and maintenance expenditure, including cost of
overhaul, is expensed as incurred.

(x) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  hascontrol or joint control over the Group;
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(x) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or a parent
of the entity).

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.

(v) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(v) Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

2 Accounting judgements and estimates

Notes 13, 21 and 22 contain information about the
assumptions and their risk factors relating to goodwill
impairment assessment, defined benefit retirement liabilities
and the fair value of share options granted. Other key
sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying values of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets may not be
recoverable, the assets may be considered “impaired”, and an
impairment loss may be recognised in accordance with HKAS
36, Impairment of assets. Under HKAS 36, these assets
are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. When such a decline has occurred,
the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the greater of its fair value less
costs of disposal and the value in use. In determining the
value in use, expected cash flows generated by the asset are
discounted to their present value, which requires significant
judgement relating to level of sales volume, selling prices
and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of recoverable amount. However,
actual sales volumes, selling prices and operating costs may
be different from assumptions which may require a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of the assets affected.
Details of the nature and carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets are disclosed in notes
11 and 12, respectively.
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BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

2 Accounting judgements and estimates
(Continued)

(b) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (see note 11) are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, after
taking into account the estimated residual values, if any. The
Group reviews the estimated useful lives and the estimated
residual values, if any, of the assets at least annually in
order to determine the amount of depreciation expense to
be recorded during any reporting period. The useful lives
and residual values are based on the Group’s historical
experience with similar assets and taking into account
anticipated technological changes. The depreciation expense
for future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes
from previous estimates.

(c) Impairment loss for doubtful debts

The Group maintains an allowance for doubtful debts for
estimated losses resulting from the inability of the debtors
to make required payments. The Group estimates the future
cash flows based on the ageing of the trade receivables
balance as disclosed in note 16, debtors’ credit-worthiness,
and historical write-off experience. If the financial condition
of the debtors were to deteriorate, actual write-offs would
be higher than estimated.

(d) Write down of inventories

The Group performs regular reviews of the carrying amounts
of inventories as disclosed in note 15 with reference to
aged inventories analysis, expected future consumption
and management judgement. Based on these reviews, write
down of inventories will be made when the estimated net
realisable value of inventories decline below the carrying
amount. However, actual consumption may be different from
estimation and profit or loss could be affected by differences
in this estimation.
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

2 Accounting judgements and estimates
(Continued)

(e) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
and temporary deductible differences. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the unused tax benefits can be utilised, management’s
judgements is required to assess the probability of future
taxable profits. Management’s assessment is constantly
reviewed and additional deferred tax assets are recognised
if it becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow
the deferred tax assets to be recovered. Details of the nature
and carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are disclosed in
note 23(b).

3 Revenue and segment reporting

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and
sale of food and beverages.

Revenue represents the invoiced value of products sold, net
of returns, rebates and discounts.

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by entities, which are
organised by geography. In a manner consistent with the way
in which information is reported internally to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has presented the following five reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

- The Hong Kong Operation (Hong Kong, Macau and
Exports) mainly represents the manufacture and sale of
soymilk, tea, water, juice, tofu, etc. in Hong Kong, sale of
beverages in Macau and overseas and the operating of
tuck shops and catering businesses;

- The Mainland China business mainly represents the
manufacture and sale of soymilk, tea, juice, etc. in
Mainland China;

- The Australia and New Zealand business mainly
represents the manufacture and sale of soymilk and
rice milk etc. in Australia and sale of beverages in New
Zealand;
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FEEEBRUER L ERERER - £A5H
REENASERESETREEASREREE
RREFHZAPERER —ZHARN - 2/ T
JHBARED I - AEBMABRSHEEDII
LA T 2 BBREDEB -

- BEREK (BB RMEL0D) TBEESR
BEEREETN Xk FARIBE
Em - ERMRSNHEESRE  UARKESR
ROEBRERES ;

- HERMEREIREETFEAMEEREE
5 KRRAEER

- BNRHERESTIEREERMNLEERMEE
EMRRPEER UREFEREER
&
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

- The North America business mainly represents the
manufacture and sale of tofu and pasta; and sale of
imported soymilk, imported juice, imported tea, etc. in
North America; and

- The Singapore business mainly represents the
manufacture and sale of soy related products in
Singapore and sale of soy related products in overseas.

All of the Group’s revenue is generated from the manufacture
and sale of food and beverages.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible assets
and current assets with the exception of deferred tax
assets, current tax recoverable and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include trade creditors and bills payable
attributable to the manufacture and sales activities of the
individual segments, bank loans and obligations under
finance leases managed directly by the segments with the
exception of employee retirement benefit liabilities, current
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and unallocated head
office and corporate liabilities.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “profit/
(loss) from operations”. To arrive at “profit/(loss) from
operations”, the Group’s profit is further adjusted for items
not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
finance costs and unallocated head office and corporate
expenses. Income tax is not allocated to reporting segments.
Inter-segment sales are priced at cost plus a profit margin.

114
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EEZENRARENRE  RTEXRBEDH
EREECRHEABEEYR HESRAKENE
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting 3 WARDHHRE @
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) HEBEHE (&)
() Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (i) 2PXEE EEREE (B)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as BEzE-F-— .:Ef-ﬁ&:%— ME=ZA=+—HLHF
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management B EREOAEEERESEHTEBEASRHZE

for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of FERERSBRAFHZIPREERNT ¢

segment performance for the years ended 31st March, 2015
and 2014 is set out below:

Hong Kong Operation Mainland China Australia and New Zealand North America Singapore Total
FRRE HERY AHRIER =M Hins @it
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Z%2-1f -E-mf ZB-1%f -s-mE Z8-1f -E-mE Z3-1f CE-mEF ZE-EF CE-mE C%3-1f CE-mE
$000FT $000F%m $000FE S000FT SO0OFE §000FT $O00FE $000FT  $000FE $000FT  $000FE  $000F%

Revenuefromexternal ~ RESNEER
customers ZHA 2048335 | 1898598 | 1915922 | 1,504,785 479,079 492,359 522,002 512,662 86,489 85481 | 5051827 | 4493885
Inter-segmentrevenue  AHEHA 170,773 89,527 178,574 126,215 660 510 - - 850 350,857 216,252

Reportable segment ABEID
revenue A 2219,108 | 1988125 | 2,094,496 | 1,631,000 479,739 492869 522,002 512,662 87,339 85481 | 5402684 | 4710137

Reportable segment AREID
profit/(loss) from E8EH/
operations () 355,101 347,664 199,416 144,665 84,460 86,735 (1,417) 7315 8,160 8,323 645,720 594,702

Interest income from BTER

bank deposits ZHERA 1461 1,375 424 408 589 686 - 9 1 1 2475 2479
Finance costs BERK (389) (36) (161) (5,363) (4,790) (7.435) (315) (234) - - (5,655) (13,068)
Depreciation and REEZRE

amortisation REs

for the year (86,081) (83,959) (67,040) (57.312) (23,634) (25,286) (17,119) (14,691) (4,691) (4,360 | (198,565  (185,608)
Other material AEX

non-cashitems: FH4EE
- Equity settled - BB A

share-based fIER
payment expenses ZER (2,106) (1,335) (456) (404) - - - - - - (2,562) (1,739)
Reportable segment ARERD

assets CEE 2026,141 | 1764284 | 1575290 | 1128957 334,996 402,452 250,712 240,154 95,908 102,717 | 4,283,047 | 3638564
Reportable segment ARESD

liabilities AR 574,802 458496 | 1,014,383 671,048 124,026 161,966 98,535 85,265 12,326 11171 | 1824072 | 1,387,946
Additions tonon-current  FEEHE

segment assets ZHRE

during the year SHEE 100,172 78,111 357,728 161,538 18,561 4617 27,584 31,309 7,905 2763 511,950 278,338
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BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,

3 WARDEHRE @)

(b) 7 EBEE (&)

(i) AWMEDIWBYA - 85  EEREEZ

profit or loss, assets and liabilities ¥ER
2015 2014
—Z-h%f —E—MmEF
$'000 7T $'000 Tt
Revenue A
Reportable segment revenue AREDTHZWA 5,402,684 4,710,137
Elimination of inter-segment revenue % 2B U A 2 Hi &4 (350,857) (216,252)
Consolidated revenue HEWA 5,051,827 4,493,885
2015 2014
—E-5F —E-E
$°000 F7T $000 Tt
Profit or loss "a
Reportable segment profit/(loss) BRE D2 B HR,
from operations (E518) 645,720 594,702
Finance costs BE A (5,655) (13,068)
Unallocated head office AAMZBRATR
and corporate expenses T¥EH (116,456) (125,033)
Consolidated profit before taxation RERBATRF 523,609 456,601
2015 2014
—Z—h*%F —E-mEF
$°000 7T $'000 ¥t
Interest income FIRUWKA
Reportable segment interestincome  BIRED W2 FE WA 2,475 2,479
Unallocated head office AAMZBRATR
and corporate interest income ER S WA 1 29
Consolidated interest income SZEFBEWA 2,476 2,508
2015 2014
ot £ —E-QmF
$°000 7T $000 T 7t
Equity settled share-based DERraARERZER
payment expenses
Reportable segment expenses AREIBZEH 2,562 1,739
Unallocated head office RAMZBATR
and corporate expenses TEER 8,562 6,570
Consolidated equity settled DR ANRER2
share-based payment expenses weER 11,124 8,309
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(BREBHBN - LUBREEE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

3 WARSEHRE @)

(b) 7 EBERE (#)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, (i) EREDBRA - 8% EEREEBZ
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) HER ()
2015 2014
—Z—hF —E-EF
$'000 F7T $'000 F 7t
Assets a5E
Reportable segment assets BREIBZEE 4,283,047 3,638,564
Elimination of inter-segment 53 B ) PE U K
receivables ki E (685,158) (429,752)
3,597,889 3,208,812
Deferred tax assets EERBEE 32,678 26,457
Current tax recoverable PEY IR BB 1E 5,435 654
Unallocated head office RAOMZBRATR
and corporate assets TEEE 1,456 5,795
Consolidated total assets REHEE 3,637,458 3,241,718
2015 2014
—Z—h%F —E—-WF
$'000 FIT $'000 F 7t
Liabilities afE
Reportable segment liabilities ARESTMZAEE 1,824,072 1,387,946
Elimination of inter-segment payables %3 &5 F& {5 7% = i 8 (443,165) (225,576)
1,380,907 1,162,370
Employee retirement benefit liabilities {EERAKBHEE 10,234 9,836
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE 69,377 63,770
Current tax payable PET IR BB 1E 27,324 22,157
Unallocated head office AAMZBARAR
and corporate liabilities TEEE 24,944 26,273
Consolidated total liabilities mEHmEeE 1,512,786 1,284,406

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR
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(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(iii) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographic location of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, deposits for the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and goodwill (“specified non-
current assets”). The geographic location of the specified
non-current assets is based on the physical location of the
asset, in the case of property, plant and equipment and
deposits for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment,
and the location of the operation to which they are allocated,
in the case of intangible assets and goodwill.

3 WARDEHRE @)

(b) 7 EBE#HE (4)
(iii) HEEHR

TR EBEEEYE - BERRHE - BEY
X BERREzITE BREERBE ([H
EHFRBDEE]|) cHBNEZER - REBEFE
RBEEMS HAYE BERRBRBEEY
X BERREZTE AMEBEVENREZE
EBRBHEE MRELEEREBEMSA
EHERERBREN -

Specified
non-current assets
BEERDHEE
2015 2014
—Z—-h%f —E—mEF
$'000 FIT $'000 ¥t
Hong Kong Operation BEREK 573,295 559,868
Mainland China FEIRit 946,239 658,807
Australia and New Zealand BNR IR 184,086 229,130
North America 16 2 0M 126,214 115,779
Singapore 03 68,021 70,951
1,324,560 1,074,667
1,897,855 1,634,535

The revenue from external customers and specified non-
current assets of the Group attributed to Hong Kong, the
Group'’s place of domicile, amounted to $1,851,356,000
(2014: $1,735,002,000) and $566,813,000 (2014:
$553,203,000) respectively.

18

8 (XEEFEH) GEEERBIBEST 2K
AREEBEREFRBEESD B A 1,851,356,000
T (ZF—M4F : 1,735002,0007tT) K% 566,813,000
7T (ZF—M4 : 553203,0007T) °
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(BREBHBN - LUBREEE)

4 Otherrevenue 4 HA
2015 2014
—E—h%F —E-lF
$'000 FIT $'000 Tt
Interest income FEWA 2,476 2,508
Service fee income REBEWA 3,420 18,687
Rental income HEWA 4,880 2,914
Reversal of long outstanding REIREZEHAD
other payables BB 1,875 6,556
Scrap sales BERHE 8,864 2,764
Government grant BT B 17,174 3,239
Sundry income Mg A 5,999 14,022
44,688 50,690
. . N T2
5 Profit before taxation 5 PBRFEANER
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BRELAIEFIEHIRR -~
(crediting): (FtA) :
2015 2014
—E—hEF —ZT-NF
$°000 ¥7T $000 Tt
(a) Finance costs: (a) WTEE®F:
Interest on bank loans BITERZAE 5,243 12,545
Finance charges on obligations MEHEEKZ
under finance leases HEER 412 523
5,655 13,068
2015 2014
—ZE-5F —ZT—MF
$’000 ¥ $'000 T 7t
(b) Staff costs: (b) BIEF:
Contributions to defined REMTERAKEE
contribution retirement plans ZHR 49,716 36,961
Net expenses recognised NTFIEE 2B H®R
in respect of: BRFHE
- retirement gratuities - ERe
(note 21(c)(v)) (FfFEE21(c)(v)) 4,104 4271
- long service payments - RERK S 1,017 591
Total retirement costs IR KRR 54,837 41,823
Equity settled share-based DB BNRERZER
payment expenses (note 22) (M35 22) 11,124 8,309
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITERHEMER 1,040,749 938,904
1,106,710 989,036

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

119



Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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5 Profit before taxation (Continued)

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/

(crediting): (Continued)

5 BRBADEF @)
BB REFIEHIE

(AT A) : (#)

2015 2014
—2-AF —2-mEF
$°000 ¥7T $'000 Tt
(c) Other items: HMttEE :
Amortisation of interests in RELEHEREE
leasehold land held for own use BERAZHEE T hER
under operating leases 2N 1,000 882
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE2#E 2,059 2,110
Depreciation e
- Investment properties -REWE 526 527
- Assets acquired under finance leases - UBEHEBAZEE 1,166 1,610
- Other assets -HttEE 193,814 180,479
Recognition of impairment losses e AR RN 2 H i FE UK X
on trade and other receivables ZBEEE 229 20
Reversal of impairment losses on WE - BMERREE
property, plant and equipment ZREBERE (224) (24)
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN &
- Audit services - B RE
- Provision for the current year -REEZEBE 5,234 4,651
- (Over)/under-provision -LEEEz (BEEE)
in respect of prior year BETRE (545) 137
- Tax services - BB RA 289 894
- Other services - HA R % 378 533
Operating lease charges: KEHEER
minimum lease payments BREBEESRK
- Hire of properties -ARME 73,159 56,406
- Hire of factory machinery - A T Res
and equipment T 873 1,553
- Contingent rent -HREE 791 880
- Other assets -HthEE 434 132
Net loss on disposal of property, HEVE - BE
plant and equipment EREZEEFE 4,410 4,693
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) SNERE S (W) B 1,289 (653)
Cost of inventories (note 15(b)) FERA& (FEE 15(0)) 2,607,466 2,377,413

120

Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2014/15



Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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6 Income taxin the consolidated
statement of profit or loss

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents:

6

(a) HEBRBRZHBENT -

REBRBERZIAER

2015 2014
—Z-a%F —E-mEF
$'000 F7T $000 Tt
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax ~ IEIRIE - FHFIFM
Provision for the year FREBE 44,306 46,134
Over-provision in respect of prior years L& E = B RE (20) (17)
44,286 46,117
Current tax - Outside Hong Kong HEMIE - FELIMNE
Provision for the year FARE 71,781 71,406
Under-provision in respect of DEEEZ
prior years BETE 798 1,574
72,579 72,980
Deferred tax EIERIA
Origination and reversal of temporary E4 Rk &ZO
differences HRFER (1,977) (3,252)
114,888 115,845
Notes: BEE

(i)  The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2015 is calculated
at 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for
the year.

(i) In accordance with the relevant People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) corporate income tax laws, regulations and
implementation guidance notes, the statutory income tax rate
applicable to the Company’s subsidiaries in Shenzhen, Foshan
and Shanghai is 25%.

In addition, the Group is subject to withholding tax at the rate
of 10% (unless reduced by treaty) on distribution of profits
generated after 31st December, 2007 from the Group’s
foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC. As more than 25% of
the capital of all the Group’s foreign-invested enterprises in
the PRC is owned by a Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary, a
rate of 5% is applicable in the calculation of this withholding
tax. Deferred tax liabilities have been provided for in this
regard based on the expected dividends to be distributed
from the foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC in the
foreseeable future in respect of the profits generated after
31st December, 2007.

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

(i)

(ii)

—E-RFZEBNE ﬁ#ﬁﬁm#ﬁiﬂ’—w Z et

RBRALL 16.5% (=S —WF :
FTE -

16.5%) 2B =

REERTEARKNE ([PE]) RERSE

BARE  EBRREKESIEE

ERARADEZ

Y- BUREBHBARAZEERSERESR

25% °

LEoh - BRIEBFQRSE - BRIFAEEARAER
FEISNECEUR-_FRLF+-_A=1t—-RA%&
EE2BREL 22 KE 10% B R MAFRNH -
HRAEERETENELEPEE 2% EAH
—BREBEMB L 2B ARER - BEHEL
BRNBAMBAZBERLES% - FAEECERILRE
FENECERATRRERREFTUAR-ZBLEF

tZA=+—-BEAEEZENS

EREEE -

k2R B FHRIE
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6 Income taxinthe consolidated
statement of profit or loss (Continued)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(iii) Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong and Mainland

China is charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation
ruling in the relevant tax jurisdictions.

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and

6 HEBZRZFABH @)

(a) HEBREZZHBUT @ (&)

MisE - (48)

(i) BEBRPBEAMLIMEZME AR 25 EB%

FRARERZERECRITERARRTEH -

(b) BIEXZMHEE BRI UBHHENE

accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

ZHik -

2015 2014
—E—hF —E-lF
$'000 F3T $000 7T
Profit before taxation BRBE A= R 523,609 456,601
Notional tax on profit before taxation, REBRETLZEEBER 2
calculated at the rates applicable FIEBBRAERBANGER 2
to profits in the tax jurisdictions ERBIE
concerned 104,413 91,309
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AAIHIA X H 2 H G & 9,093 10,782
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue FERBMA BB L (778) (2,062)
Withholding tax of PRC subsidiaries ~ FEME Q72 ENH 5,459 4,911
Tax effect of unused tax losses ARMIELEBIERR Z
not recognised for deferred tax REABHBRZ
purposes Bxse 488 14,812
Tax effect of other temporary ARMIEEF BRI Z
differences not recognised Hih S EE
for deferred tax purposes BRse 29,216 -
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses MEAEARBERZ
previously not recognised BEBEZBHEY (30,697) -
Under-provision in respect DEFEEZ
of prior years BETE 778 1,557
Others Hith (3,084) (5,464)
Actual tax expense ERHBESH 114,888 115,845
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(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

7 Remuneration of Directors and Chief

Executive

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s remuneration disclosed
pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies

7 EERTRARME

REEB(QARM) F383 KK (AT (KEE
ENHER) RO F2HREBE2EERITHAR

Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of MEmT :
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as
follows:
2015
—E-E%
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme based
fees inkind bonuses contributions Sub-total payments Total
i B [l & HEHhE
EENG REWET SRend HEIfHR M BREZHR gt
(note)
(MsE)
$000FT  $000FkT  $000FT  $000FT  $000FT  $000FFT  $'000 FI
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO ERERE 214 4,965 3459 299 8,937 3,314 12,251
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI BEERLE
(Chief Executive) (TH#EZ)
(appointed on 1st April, 2014) (A=E-mF
B-REZfE) 107 6,848 3,340 206 10,501 3,693 14,194
Non-executive Directors EBTES
Ms. Myrna Mo-ching LO ERELL 122 - - - 122 - 122
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO BRRLL 122 - - - 122 - 122
Independent Non-executive BIFBTES
Directors
Dr.the Hon. Sir David Kwok-poLl ~ ZEEEL 383 - - - 383 - 383
Mr. lain F. BRUCE hBLTRE
(retired on 4th September, 2014) (RZEB-mF
NEEARE) 176 - - - 176 - 176
Mr. Valiant Kin-piu CHEUNG REERE 378 - - - 378 - 378
Mr. Jan PS. ERLUND JanPS.ERLUND %4 372 = = = 372 - 372
1,874 11,813 6,799 505 20,991 7,007 27,998

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR
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7 Remuneration of Directors and Chief

7 EERITBREZME @

Executive (Continued)

2014
—g-mE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-
Directors'  and benefits Discretionary scheme based
fees inkind bonuses contributions Sub-total payments Total
ge 28 Al B SR 3 A
ESHe  REMEN  BHzRA HE 3 Mt BEZAR H
(note)
GiE)
$000Fx  $000Fm  $000Fm  $000Fm  §000Fm  $000Frm  $000FRm
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO ERBEE 204 4491 3,006 276 7977 2,711 10,688
Mr. Laurence P. EISENTRAGER REERE 34 4,653 - 97 4,784 - 4,784
(retired on (R=B-=%
31st July, 2013) tA=+-HEM)
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Ms. Myrna Mo-ching LO ERART 116 - - - 116 - 116
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO ERRLE 116 - - - 116 - 116
Independent Non-executive BIFSTES
Directors
Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI SHEEL 364 - - - 364 - 364
Mr. lain F. BRUCE mETRE
(retired on (RZB-IE
4th September, 2014) NAWRBEFE) 381 - - - 381 - 381
Mr. Valiant Kin-piu CHEUNG REELE 357 - - - 357 - 357
Mr. Jan PS.ERLUND JanPS.ERLUND &% 354 - - - 354 - 354
1,926 9,144 3,006 373 14,449 2,711 17,160
Chief Executive figas
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI BEERLE
(appointed on (R=B-=%
1st August, 2013) NA—-BEZfE) - 5,573 2,953 198 8,724 2,532 11,256
Note: et

These represent the estimated value of share options granted
to the Directors under the Company’s share option scheme. The
value of these share options is measured according to the Group’s
accounting policies for share-based payment transactions as set
out in note 1(p)(iv) and, in accordance with that policy, includes
adjustments to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where
grants of equity instruments are forfeited prior to vesting.

The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms
and number of options granted, are disclosed under the paragraph
“Share option scheme” in the directors’ report and note 22.

124

UERARBERNRERBA AR ZBRESERT
EECERECMATEE WEBREZEENRE
By EE 1p)(iv) TS A KB AR OB A RER 2 X 5 &F
RzgstBEMTE  MERZBK  QEUBEF
ERAMARHNREATAERBAC ARATEZ &R
B -

HEBYER 2S5 (BER BN BREY T BHK
RME) NESRRE [HBRME S ] — B R0 T
HE -
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8 Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(2014: two) are Directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the

8 EBEEMEAL

EEEREMEALH ME(Z2-—NF W

B) RES REZHMERWE7PRE

o HEk

=R (ZB—NF: =F) BeMEALZHE

other three (2014: three) individuals are as follows: BB
2015 2014
—E—h%F —E-lF
$’000 ¥t $'000 F 7t
Salaries and other emoluments HFERHEMME 10,135 12,436
Retirement scheme contributions BRFT IR 471 531
Discretionary bonuses BB B Rz B AL 4,268 5,563
Share-based payments Ut BER 2R 3,550 4,309
18,424 22,839

The emoluments of the three (2014: three) individuals with

ZE(ZE—WmF: =8) BeMEATZHME

the highest emoluments are within the following bands: MFULTAR -
2015 2014
—Z-REF —E-mF
Number of Number of
individuals Individuals
A8 AE
$4,500,001 to $5,000,000 4,500,001 Jt £ 5,000,000 7t 1 -
$5,000,001 to $5,500,000 5,000,001 Tt £ 5,500,000 J© = 1
$6,000,001 to $6,500,000 6,000,001 T ZE 6,500,000 7T 1 1
$7,000,001 to $7,500,000 7,000,001 jt# 7,500,000 jT 1 -
$11,000,001 to $11,500,000 11,000,001 5t £ 11,500,000 jt = 1

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR
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(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

. . 22
9 Other comprehensive income 9 HibzxmEWks
(a) Tax effects relating to each component of (a) BEREMEEKZESBHZHER
other comprehensive income: &
2015 2014
—Z-1f “Z-QmE
Before tax Tax  Net-of-tax Beforetax  Tax benefit/ Net-of-tax
amount expense amount amount (expense) amount
BEFNZ
RiRsieHE REBR NBREALE RITLHE (BR) NKRHBELE
$'000 ¥7¢ $'000 ¥t $'000 ¥t $'000 ¥t $'000 ¥t $'000 F 7t
Exchange differences REEFEUME
on translation of financial HEBLRZHBHRE
statements of subsidiaries mMEENERE5
outside Hong Kong (49,581) - (49,581) (31,159) - (31,159)
Cash flow hedge: BEREH
net movement in the HAEETF
hedging reserve 25 1,916 (316) 1,600 (1,916) 316 (1,600)
Remeasurement of employee  EERINEFIERE
retirement benefit liabilities ~ ZEH T E 4,295 (757) 3,538 4,289 (816) 3473
(43,370) (1,073) (44,443) (28,786) (500) (29,286)
(b) Components of other comprehensive income (b) B2 E Kz 2557
2015 2014
—Z—hF —E-NE
$'000 F7T $'000 F 7t
Cash flow hedges: REeEREET -
Effective portion of changes FARAZEHHPIA
in fair value of hedging instruments DNREEREH 2 EHBH
recognised during the year 1,010 (2,857)
Amounts transferred to initial HBZEHPIEE &Y
carrying amount of hedged items REHBEZEHE 906 941
Net deferred tax (charged)/credited ($0BR%) FrAEMZERE 2
to other comprehensive income EERTE F (316) 316
Net movement in the hedging reserve FRREMEZEINZER 2
during the year recognised B FETFER
in other comprehensive income 1,600 (1,600)
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(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

10 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of $372,079,000 (2014: $306,693,000) and the weighted
average number of 1,037,669,000 ordinary shares (2014:
1,030,210,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year,
calculated as follows:

10 BREF

(a) EREARZEF

BREXBRANDREADARESHEAEEE
# 372,079,000t ( =& — [ £ : 306,693,000
) RFRACRTEBERZNBEFHIRE
1,037,669,000 i (== — 4 : 1,030,210,000
BREER) TE > HEtEMT :

Weighted average number of ordinary shares TRER 2T RE

2015 2014

—E—hEF —E-NE

Number of Number of

shares shares

BinE B B E

’000 FB% '000 F %

Issued ordinary shares at 1st April REB—HBZERITZER 1,033,976 1,026,984

Effect of share options exercised BITHEEREZEE 3,693 3,226
Weighted average number of R=A=+—HzEBERZ

ordinary shares at 31st March INEF TR E
(note 10(b)) (FM¥&E 10(b)) 1,037,669 1,030,210

(b) Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of $372,079,000 (2014: $306,693,000) and the weighted
average number of 1,046,742,000 ordinary shares (2014:
1,043,414,000 ordinary shares) after adjusting for the
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, calculated as
follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

(b) ZKREBEEF

BERBERFNDBERAQATARESEEAEGRF
372,079,000t (ZZF — M4 : 306,693,000 7tT)
R EABERERF 2T ERZEEMESY
FARBE2ZBRMNET IR E 1,046,742,000 B
(ZE—E : 1,043,414000 REBER) 515
H&8aT

BEERZmMEFIRE (#:8)

2015 2014
—E-1F —E-ImF
Number of Number of
shares shares
e E g4
'000 TFB% '000 F %
Weighted average number of R=EA=+—HBzZEBRZ
ordinary shares at 31st March 7JD1E¥1€)H§§51
(note 10(a)) (B &E 10(a)) 1,037,669 1,030,210
Effect of deemed issue of BEERBEERATZ
ordinary shares under the ]
Company’s share option scheme DEEFRNBTEBER
for nil consideration k-7 9,073 13,204
Weighted average number of R=EA=+—HzZEBRZ
ordinary shares (diluted) INRESE IR (#58)
at 31st March 1,046,742 1,043,414

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR
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11 Property, plant and equipment 11 M1% - BERZE
(a) (a)
Interestsin
Other property, plant and equipment leasehold
N e land held
Land and Factory  Fixtures, for ownuse Total
buildings  machinery furniture under  property,
held for and  and office Motor Construction Investment  operating  plantand
ownuse equipment  equipment vehicles inprogress  Sub-total  properties leases  equipment
RELE
b2 kB BEREE
BRZ  IREE AR BRZEE 9% HE

TRET kRfE BLAZRE nE  ERIR NEOREME  IBER  RREST
§000Fx $000Fx $000Fm $000Fm $000F7T F000FT $000FET §000FT  §000FR

Cost: BE:

At 1st April, 2013 RZE-ZERA-A 808253 2,040,996 217504 95,010 38521 3,200,284 22,698 41385 3,264,367
Exchange adjustments ExAZ (17207)  (44531) (1,078) (369) (556)  (63741) - (105) (63846
Additions AE 64,906 78,405 16,997 16,673 81413 258,394 - - 258,394
Transfer &g - 70815 13881 1,669 (86,365) - - - -
Disposals HE - (57,888) (5,588) (5,423) - (68,899) - - (68,899)
At 31st March, 2014 RZE-ME=A=1-A 855,952 2,087,797 241,716 107,560 33013 3,326,038 22,698 41280 3,390,016

Accumulated amortisation, FHMH RER
depreciation and HEER:
impairment losses:

At 1st April, 2013 R-E-ZEMA-A 337338 1,147,249 151,746 72432 - 1,708,765 15,979 6507 1,731,251
Exchange adjustments ERAE (3,759) (23,840) (879) (180) - (28,658) - (31) (28,689)
Charge for the year TEEBERAE 26,942 129,960 16,328 8,859 - 182,089 527 882 183,498
Reversal of impairment losses HESERR - (24) - - - (24) - - (24)
Written back on disposals HEBRE - (52,029) (5,410) (5,269) - (62,708) - - (62,708)
At 31st March, 2014 R-E-RE=A=1-A 360521 1,201,316 161,785 75,842 - 1799464 16,506 7358 1823328
Net book value: FESE:

At 315t March, 2014 RZZ-ME=A=1-A 495431 886,481 79931 31718 33013 1526574 6,192 33922 1,566,688
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11 Property, plant and equipment

(Continued)

11 W% - BERRE @)

(a) (Continued) (a) (#)
Interestsin
Other property, plant and equipment easehold
Rt0E  BERRE land held
Land and Factory ~Fixtures, for own use Total
buildings  machinery  furniture under  property,
held for and  andoffice Motor Construction Investment  operating  plant and
ownuse  equipment  equipment vehicles inprogress  Sub-total  properties leases  equipment
it i
2 kE. BERAE
BRZ  IRES R BRZHE 9% BE
THRET Rt MOERHE RE  ERIE M REME LHEE  REEEH
$000FT $000FE $000FT $000FT $000FT $000FT $000FTE $000FE  $000FT
Cost: BE:
At 1st April, 2014 RZE-MEMA-A 855,952 2,087,797 241716 107,560 33013 3,326,038 22,698 41280 3,390,016
Exchange adjustments ERAE (21,768)  (59,390) (1,899) (789) (2252)  (86,098) - 55 (86,043)
Additions AE 66,915 136,965 17,950 18028 250558 490416 - 39,136 529,552
Transfer B 12,963 97,562 1,697 - (112222) - - - -
Disposals HE (728)  (57,245) (5,723) (9,785) - (73.481) - - (73,481)
At 31st March, 2015 RZB-1f=fA=1-H 913334 2205689 253741 115014 169,097 3,656,875 22,698 80471 3,760,044
Accurulated amortisation, RS FER
depreciation and BEER:
impairment losses:
At 1st April, 2014 RZE-REMA-A 360521 1,201,316 161,785 75,842 - 1799464 16,506 7358 1,823,328
Exchange adjustments EifE (5476)  (37,976) (1,061) (381) - (44,894) - 14 (44,880)
Charge for the year REERBRAE 30692 137,727 20,189 6,372 - 194980 526 1000 196,506
Reversal of impairment losses FEFRED (168) (56) - - - (224) - - (224)
Written back on disposals HERRE (244)  (52,752) (5,600) (9,607) - (68,203) - - (68,203)
At 31st March, 2015 RZB-1f=fA=1-H 385,325 1248259 175313 72,226 - 1881123 17,032 8372 1,906,527
Net book value: BESE -
At 31st March, 2015 RZB-1f=fA=1-H 528009 957430 78428 42788 169,097 1,775,752 5,666 72099 1853517
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11 Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

(b) The analysis of net book value of properties is

11 W% - BERRE @)

(b) WREZIREFEZ AT -

as follows:
2015 2014
—ZT—-a%F —E-NEF
$°000 ¥7T $000 Tt
In Hong Kong BB
- medium-term leases - FHEIFAL 140,221 149,132
Outside Hong Kong FRUNME
- freehold - KAEERE 99,307 120,569
- long-term leases - REIAY 11,194 9,469
- medium-term leases - RHEAFAHN 354,900 256,167
- short-term leases - BEEY 152 208
605,774 535,545
Representing: (A
Land and buildings held for own use BEEERAZLHREF 528,009 495,431
Investment properties BEME 5,666 6,192
Interests in leasehold land held RIBKEHEEEEE
for own use under operating leases BERAZEE R 72,099 33,922
605,774 535,545

(c) Property, plant and equipment held under
finance leases

In addition to the leasehold land classified as being held
under finance leases, the Group holds factory machinery and
equipment under finance leases expiring from one to seven
years. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

There was no addition to the factory machinery and
equipment of the Group financed by finance leases during
the year (2014: $Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the net book value of the
factory machinery and equipment held under finance leases
of the Group amounted to $3,494,000 (2014: $5,488,000).
The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by
the lessor’s charge over the leased assets.

10

) LBEHERFEZYR BERXE

BRIMELIBMEEER A HEL I - XEHE
BR-ZtFAINMMERSE  SETHHEES
R#EfE ZEHEYESEIAREE -

FRAEEYERZEMNEEE (T -—NF:
Tn) AETRHEERERE -

RERA  AEELUREHERE 2 IRESER
REZREFEES3494000 T (ZE— W& :
5,488,0007t) - AEEREMEHRE2BEK TN
HEAZHEEERTSEER -
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11 Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment leased out
under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
leases. The leases runs for an initial period of three years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which
time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating lease are receivable as follows:

11 W% - BERRE @)

(d) RELLHEHLZHF - BEER
R

AEEUSEHRAHRENE - REAEDS

RE=F YEAARRBERNARMEN  EBE

FAERFYITEFREE - STEEMASEEIA
HE -

FEERERUBRzELEHEEIRBRZ&K
EREENREENT :

2015 2014

—E—hF —ZT—-NF

$°000 ¥7¢ $000 F 7T

Within one year —FR 1,910 833

(e) The fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties at 31st March, 2015
is $57,450,000 (2014: $54,800,000) which is estimated
at their open market value by reference to recent market
transactions in comparable properties (2014: same basis
of valuation adopted). The valuation was carried out by an
independent firm of surveyors, Ascent Partners Valuation
Service Limited, who have among their staff members of the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in
the location and category of the properties being valued.

The fair value measurement is categorised as a Level 3
valuation under the three-level fair value hierarchy as
defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is determined
with reference to observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement
date;

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available; and

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

(€) REYRZALE

RENENR-F-LF=A=+t—HZ2aRfER
57,450,000 7t (=& — I £ : 54,800,000 7T) °
BHESERENEIABTERZRIEZAMN
mBEEETET (ZF-HF  KBME—f4E
BEE) AEDHABLAEBMTNANEBZAR
RATET  ANOBERATBIEMNEZECS
B EFfiftEYXZHERENAEHEBEHAR
B o

AREFERB(FRMBREERD) F13K2
REFEMREZ=RAIABERBIERE=R
fEE BAAREFEIEZERDESEM G
EREZMABB2IBEEREEMRETE !

- F-RMEE:EERF-R@ARE (DR
AEAREEENRERNERT S ZRER
BBE) SFEZDNE

- BORME: ERAE-R@ABE (BKREE
EIE-ReUBEERARE) BYRER
EXRTUEHERAHBIEZQAAE - 7T
EER \RBAETSEBEZBARE &

- FZRMEE EREXTTEERARET

BeRRfE-
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11 Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

(e) The fair value of investment properties
(Continued)

The fair value of investment properties is determined by
using direct comparison approach with reference to the
market price of comparable properties and adjusted for
building quality and timing of the reference transaction. The
significant unobservable input in the fair value measurement
is the property-specific adjusting rate, which ranged from
0.97 to0 1.06 (2014:0.91 to 1.07).

(f)  Property, plant and equipment pledged
against bank loans
The following items of property, plant and equipment are

pledged to secure certain bank loans or bank facilities
granted to the Group (note 19).

11 W% - BERRE @)

(e) REYWRZLAIE (&)

REYEZAAREBEDSETEEYEZHEMER
BEELMBLIEE  IRSERGZETEERE
BELHAZ - DRABEFEZERTTHER A
HEDENMERER > NF097E1.06(=2F
—PM4 : 0.91F1.07) °

(f) BRITEHFBHEZYR  BERZE

LT3 - MERRERE S TEAF  WERA
SEERCETRITERHRITEE (HFE19) °

2015 2014
“S2—1F —E-F
$'000 F7T $000 ¥t
Net book value of pledged assets: BAEEZREFEE
Factory machinery and equipment ITRMBERRE 72,163 100,553

(g) Deposits for the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment

As at 31st March, 2015, the Group made deposits totalling
$3,716,000 (2014: $21,412,000) to acquire property, plant
and equipment. The remaining amount of the consideration
for the acquisition is included in capital commitments (note
26(a)).

152

(5) BEYX BMERREZTE

R-ZE—HRE=ZA=+—-H XEELREEEDY
¥ BERKREMITTIE€E6#3,716,000T (=
Z—[94F :21,4120007w) - BEREZHT £
BTt AEAEIE (MigE26(a)) °

Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2014/15



Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

12 Intangible assets

2 BILEE

Brand Customer
name list Total
mIEATE EFREE #et
$'000 7t $'000 7t $'000 F T
Cost: 5% 3
At 1st April, 2013 R=-ZE—=%51AHA—H 8,202 12,148 20,350
Exchange adjustments BE 5 A (129) (191) (320)
At 31st March, 2014 R-E-—NE=A=+—H 8,073 11,957 20,030
Accumulated amortisation: Rt
At 1st April, 2013 R-EBE—Z=FMNA—H 2,051 8,677 10,728
Exchange adjustments BE AR (32) (135) (167)
Charge for the year REEEH 403 1,707 2,110
At 31st March, 2014 R-E—NE=A=+—H 2,422 10,249 12,671
Net book value: RE$RE -
At 31st March, 2014 R-E—NE=A=+—H 5,651 1,708 7,359
Brand Customer
name list Total
mhEEiE EREE st
$’000 F+7T $’000 7T $’000 +7T
Cost: 5% -
At 1st April, 2014 R-E—NFENA—H 8,073 11,957 20,030
Exchange adjustments BE AR (674) (999) (1,673)
At 31st March, 2015 R-EBE—HF=ZA=+—H 7,399 10,958 18,357
Accumulated amortisation: REtiEss
At 1st April, 2014 R-EB—NEMNBE—H 2,422 10,249 12,671
Exchange adjustments BE R (226) (956) (1,182)
Charge for the year REEZEH 394 1,665 2,059
At 31st March, 2015 HR-EE—HE=HA=+—H 2,590 10,958 13,548
Net book value: RESE
At 31st March, 2015 HR-EE—HE=A=+—H 4,809 - 4,809

The amortisation charges for the year are included in “other
operating expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss.

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR
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13 Goodwill 13 &

2015 2014
—EZ-h%f —E—mF
$’000 F7T $'000 7t

Cost: 5% 3
At 1st April HROEOB—H 39,076 39,700
Exchange adjustments BE R (3,263) (624)
At 31st March H=A=+—8H 35,813 39,076

Impairment test for cash-generating unit
containing goodwill

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of the entire share
capital in Unicurd Food Co. (Private) Limited (“Unicurd”).
Therefore it is allocated to Singapore segment according to
the country of operation of Unicurd for impairment testing
purposes.

The recoverable amount of the Unicurd operations is
determined based on a value-in-use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a three-
year period. Cash flows beyond the three-year period are
extrapolated using an annual growth rate of 3% (2014: 3%).
The growth rate does not exceed the long-term average
growth rate for the business in which the Unicurd operations
operate.

Key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculation:

BEEEC R ELENZRERZH

BmEEWELE -’ (RA) BRAF ([H—1)
ZERRAMES - Bt BEERE K&
EE R EZH KD A LGETRERH -

(B zAREeREIRECAEETEE
E-RatEERAREEEMEC=FHPMBAER
BHZRESRERL - =ZFHURZRESREN
FA3%(ZZT—NF : 3%) 2FEREHEH - &%
i%i%?\ﬁi@%ﬁ—%iﬁﬁﬁ%@%%ﬁ%ZEﬁﬂ?ﬁ%
.E; °

SAEEAEERRKAZEERROT

2015 2014

—E—hEF —E-NF

- Gross margin - BF=ER 39.4% 42.3%
- Average annual sales growth rate -REFEHEZ

for the three-year period TEHFHEERE 18.5% 10.6%

- Pre-tax discount rate - BRBIATINE = 14.0% 14.0%

Management determined the budgeted gross margin
and sales growth rate based on past performance and its
expectation for market development. The discount rate used
is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
segment.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount
is based would not cause the carrying amount to exceed its
recoverable amount.

14

EEERBBEIXRBRAEHEMERRE2ER &
EHEEENRRHEERRER - IEAZFTREA
ARBERD BB ERBZBRRATITRE -

EEERR ETTWESBEAREBZEIERR
HREAEMSETRESE  ITEERRAEER
HAlE £ -
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14 Subsidiaries

The following list contains the particulars of the subsidiaries
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless

otherwise stated.

All of these are controlled subsidiaries as defined under note
1(d) and have been consolidated into the Group’s financial

14 B AT

TREEFEENBAT 2FE - REBHEH
S ARERBEZRHENEGREER -

1b 25 Y B /2 B) 9 A B R 4(d) P SRE 2 32 42 6 Y R
DT WERKEZMBREANGETE -

statements.
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and
establishment paid-up Proportion of Principal
Name of company and operation capital ownership interest activities
BERERLE
held by the held by a
Company subsidiary
il BB BERTR b /N MEaE
VNCIEE EEME BB 2] X o] EEEB
% %
Vitasoy USA Inc. United States Common stock: 100 - Manufacture
of Amerlca US$32,841,222 and sale of
ENRERE LB soy related
32,841,222 % 7T products
TERHEE
Convertible SRER
series A
preferred stock:
US$38,400,000
AR A
BER :
38,400,000 & 7T
Shenzhen Vitasoy The PRC RMB80,000,000 85 - Manufacture
(Guang Ming) FEl AR and sale of
Foods and Beverage 80,000,000 jt beverages
Company Limited EER
(note (i) HER R
T (F8E) BRmETH
BRAT ()
Vitasoy (China) Investments Hong Kong 2 shares 100 - Investment
Company Limited 58 2 BB holding
Hfn (FE) REBRAT REER
Vitasoy (Shanghai) Company The PRC HK$219,461,176 - 100 Manufacture
Limited (note (ii)) A B#219461,176 T© and sale of
#Abgh (L38) BRAH beverages
(B &E (i) *ER
SHEMMm
Vita International Holdings Hong Kong 2 shares 100 - Investment
Limited BB 2 IR 17 holding
EHEIREEERAR BREER

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

135



Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI AL

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBHAN - LUBREEE)

14 Subsidiaries (Continued) 14 BT &)

Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and
establishment paid-up Proportion of Principal
Name of company and operation capital ownership interest activities
BEREREE
held by the held by a
Company subsidiary
i BB BERTR ¥ /N i 2w
DR SR BERREFFE B8 58 FEXH
% %

Vitasoy Australia Products Australia V class shares: - 51 Manufacture
Pty. Ltd. (“VAP”) BN A$8,925,000 and sale of
(T'VAP]) VER : beverages

8,925,000 & 5T EERHEE
R
N class shares:
A$8,575,000
NEAR :
8,575,000 & 5t

Vitasoy Australia Food Australia A$175 - 100 Dormant
Products Pty. Ltd. BN 17587t Wma
(note (iii))

(B&E (i)
Vitasoja (Macau) Limitada Macau MOP100,000 100 - Distribution
#efbgh ORPY) BRAE | BP9 %5 100,000 T of beverages
2 EHERm

Produtos De Soja Hong Kong Macau MOP10,000 - 100 Dormant
(Macau) Limitada B SEF9#5 10,000 JT WmeE

EESm (R BRAT

Vitaland Services Limited Hong Kong 300,000 shares 100 - Operation of

#Ah R IREBR A A 5B 300,000 % % 12 tuck shops

and concessions

REER

PRBRNREN

Hong Kong Gourmet Limited Hong Kong 2 shares - 100 Provision of
EBEXRERAT &5 2 BB catering
services

REZERIRE

The Hong Kong Soya Bean Hong Kong 2 shares 100 - Property
Products Company, 5B 2 BBz investment
Limited MERE

EEERERAH

Vitasoy Distributors Singapore $$2,500,000 100 - Dormant
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. i hn3g 2,500,000 3 7T mE

Vitasoy Investment Hong Kong 1share 100 - Investment
Holdings Limited &iE 1R R4 holding

BEHIDBREZERERAR REEZER
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14 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of

14 B AT @)

Particulars of

incorporation/ issued and
establishment paid-up Proportion of Principal
Name of company and operation capital ownership interest activities

BERERLE
held by the held by a
Company subsidiary
il BB BRTR ¥ /N i H
YNCIEE SRl BEREFFE 58 B8 FEXH
% %

Vitasoy Holdings (Malta) Malta Ordinary shares: - 100 Sales of beverages
Limited Eff HK$20,257 and exploitation
LB of intellectual
B 20,257 rights of property
SHESRmR
Deferred shares: ERHBERE

HK$7

BELERG :

BT T
Vitasoy International Hong Kong 1 share 100 - Investment
Investment Limited 5B 1R holding
BHNERRERRAR REZER
Vitasoy Investment Singapore $$10,000 - 100 Investment
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 3 10,000 3% 7T holding
REER
Unicurd Food Co. (Private) Singapore $$1,800,000 - 100 Manufacture
Limited 003K 1,800,000 3 7T and sale of
L—'m (BA) BRLA soy related
products
EERHEE
THEM
Vitasoy (China) Holdings Hong Kong 1share 100 - Investment
Limited &E 1R R45 holding
Hfan (FFE) ZERERATR BREER
Vitasoy (Foshan) Company The PRC RMB200,000,000 - 85 Manufacture
Limited (note (iv)) /i AR and sale of
My (F51L) BRAR 200,000,000 J© beverages
(P& (iv)) tERBERR
Vitasoy (Wuhan) Company The PRC RMB47,334,000 - 100 Manufacture
Limited (note (v)) F AR and sale of
#qhgn (KZ) BRAAE 47,334,000 7t beverages
(BFF&E (v)) HERHEERD

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR
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14 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

138

Shenzhen Vitasoy (Guang Ming) Foods and Beverage
Company Limited (“Shenzhen Vitasoy”) is a sino-foreign
equity joint venture established in the PRC and is to be
operated up to 2049.

Vitasoy (Shanghai) Company Limited is a wholly foreign
owned subsidiary established in the PRC and is to be operated
up to 2045.

The Group effectively owns a 51% equity interest in Vitasoy
Australia Food Products Pty. Ltd.

Vitasoy (Foshan) Company Limited (“Vitasoy Foshan”) is a
sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC and is
to be operated up to 2049.

Vitasoy (Wuhan) Company Limited is a wholly foreign owned
subsidiary established in the PRC and is to be operated up to
2064.

14 BT &)

Fts
(i)

(ii)

RN M L) RREEERAR (NRYIE
Bl ARPBERIzZFIHEESERE K&
HE—ZBMAFILE -

B (B8 ARAABNPER L ZEHE
MEAR SEME_FTWRFIL -

K& B E E A Vitasoy Australia Food Products
Pty. Ltd. 51% Z B A< #E % -

#efh g (B1L) BRAT ([HILEMTG]) BR
FERIZFIHIECECELE KREHE_T
AEFEL -

i (RE) ARAAARPERLZEHE
MEAR SEHE_FTAMFILE-
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14 Subsidiaries (Continued)

14 B AT @)

The following table lists out the information relating to
Shenzhen Vitasoy, Vitasoy Foshan and VAP, the subsidiaries
of the group which have material non-controlling interests
(“NCI”). The summarised financial information presented

below represents the amounts before any inter-company

TREBIFEREAFERES ([FERES])
ZARSENE LT RN MEAMRLY - BLAEMBTR
VAPEBZER - TX 25 z2MBENBEEF
HAEM QT MR 228 -

elimination.
Shenzhen Vitasoy Vitasoy Foshan VAP
FNE 8 1Lk fth 87
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
—2-1F¥ -B-mFf ZP-1Ff —F-mF CZP-REF —F-IF
$'000F 7T $'000 F 7t $'000 F 7T $'000 F 7t $'000 F 7T $'000 F 7t
NCI percentage FERERE O 15% 15% 15% 15% 49% 49%
Current assets RBEE 204,741 210,361 159,350 176,987 151,015 173,363
Non-current assets FRBEE 217,463 141,950 502,090 403,353 188,419 231,057
Current liabilities RBaE (144,634) (83,883) (265,953) (242,699) (94,955) (102,212)
Non-current liabilities FRBSE - - - - (30,952) (63,962)
Net assets FEE 277,570 268,428 395,487 337,641 213,527 238,246
Carrying amount of NCI FERERZREE 41,636 40,264 59,323 50,646 104,628 116,741
Revenue A 739,517 672,165 508,065 1,284,696 479,740 492,869
Profit for the year REERF 76,018 44234 57,243 82,374 33,986 30,758
Total comprehensive income  Z2EKFAE 76,018 44,234 57,243 82,374 33,972 30,758
Profit allocated to NCI PBREFERER ZEH 11,403 6,635 8,586 12,356 16,653 15,072
Dividend paid to NCI mIEEREZRERS 10,118 - - - 7,359 8,073
Cash flows generated RETERE
from operating AefE
activities 177,812 71,365 45,877 33,772 59,196 68,730
Cash flows used in REZBA
investing activities BERE (83,336) (47,617) (102,105) (19,002) (14,805) (4,613)
Cash flows (used in)/ BEEE (FFA) /8
generated from ReRE
financing activities (67,333) (25,325) 76,057 (32,520) (37,101) (76,165)

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR
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15 Inventories

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise:

15 £
(a) BEHBHREEFPSEFEEIE:

2015 2014

“ZE-51F —E-E

$’000 F 3T $°000 F 7T

Raw materials Rt 311,313 304,996
Finished goods B &R 249,939 228,332
561,252 533,328

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense and included in
profit or loss is as follows:

(b) ERRBRmAERBHAXZFELHED
AT

2015 2014

—Z-5F —Z2-0F

$’000 F7T $'000 F 7t

Carrying amounts of inventoriessold CE&RFE 2 REE 2,603,572 2,374,535
Write down of inventories WREE 3,894 2,878
2,607,466 2,377,413

16 Trade and other receivables

16 FEWTRRFR I ELfth R UK

2015 2014
—Z—-Ah%f —E—mEF
$'000 7T $000 Tt
Trade debtors and bills receivable EWER R ERERE 668,091 584,769

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W RERRERE
(note 16(b)) (FfF&E 16(b)) (1,287) (1,107)
666,804 583,662

Other debtors, deposits HMEWR - B&Rk

and prepayments FENRIE 138,378 142,139
805,182 725,801

The amount of the Group’s other debtors, deposits and
prepayments expected to be recovered or charged as
expense after more than one year is $18,966,000 (2014:
$26,429,000). All of the other trade and other receivables
are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense

within one year.
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AEEFEHRBB—FRUEHNBRERIZHE
HEKRR - B2 RFBFRIEA 18,966,000 T (=
T -9 : 26,429,0007T) ° FrA Hth fE W BR =X
REMERREARR—FARERBEREHX -

Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2014/15



Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

16 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

(a) Ageing analysis

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade debtors and bills receivable (which are included in
trade and other receivables), based on the invoice date and
net of allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows:

16 FEWERFI R

(a) BREC 7T

FE#&EI BWERARERRE (EEEREK
REEMERNRRN) ZRHEAHRNBRRER
3‘?&1%2%&‘@‘ AT

Ha W @)

2015 2014

—Z—-h%F —E—mEF

$000 ¥ $000 Tt

Within three months =@EAR 640,936 577,537
Three to six months =ZXEAB 25,750 6,046
Over six months NEA M E 118 79
666,804 583,662

Trade receivables are due within one to three months from
the date of billing. Further details on the Group’s credit
policy are set out in note 25(a).

(b) Impairment of trade debtors and bills
receivable

Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors and bills
receivable are recorded using an allowance account unless
the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote,
in which case the impairment loss is written off against trade
debtors and bills receivable directly (see note 1(j)(i))

BUERRRBZAMET —ZE=@EARIE -7
BAKEEEBRZE-SHBHERMEE25()

(b) FEW SRR EREE 2 BE

BRIEREEEHKREZERB 2 ATREMEYTE &
B B Wi BR K % B W R 4B 2 IR MELAES 1R 1 AR IR S B R
8% - HAWEZAREEMTE  ARBEBRERE
REWER R BWRRE FME (RHE1()0) -

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during RERBERFAZEFHWMT :
the year is as follows:

2015 2014
—Z-5F —2-NF
$'000 ¥t $'000 ¥t
At 1st April REABE—AH 1,107 1,409
Exchange adjustments ERAE (10) (1)
Impairment losses recognised BREREER 229 20
Uncollectible amounts written off AT E & 58~ M ss (39) (321)
At 31st March R=A=+—AH 1,287 1,107

At 31st March, 2015, the Group’s trade debtors and
bills receivable of $1,287,000 (2014: $1,107,000) were
individually determined to be impaired. The individually
impaired receivables related to customers that were in
financial difficulties. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

R-ZEBE-HE=ZA=Z=+—-H ' xEEZ2ER
R REWEE12870007T (ZF —MF:
1,107,0007t) J3fERIEE R ERE - ZZE S @5
BEZEWREEHERECEFER - X560
WERNEEERFEEMEAR -
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16 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

(c) Trade debtors and bills receivable that are not
impaired
The ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivable that

are neither individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired are as follows:

16 BWERF R EMEWRR @
(c) ICHERE 2 EWFRDREKEE

I 428 18] 1) = 55 B8 AR 1E B RUME 2 B WU TR % B UK
REZRRINWOT:

2015 2014

—2-AF —2-mEF

$°000 ¥7T $'000 Tt

Neither past due nor impaired 3B 2R O R (B 525,259 464,226

Less than one month past due BHLN—EAR 121,848 109,305

One to three months past due BH—-Z=@EA 17,955 9,373
More than three months but less BB B=A

than twelve months past due B R+=@EA 1,724 693

More than twelve months past due BHEB+=@A 18 65

Amounts past due B 141,545 119,436

666,804 583,662

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.
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BRCECEZEFAR -

BEYBBECERRRESEBUEFEH
ZERFRAXAKEBCFELERT - RIBBHE
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EREARZSERELRERE ARIAR/EL
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17 Cash and bank deposits

(a) Cash and bank deposits comprise:

17 BERBITER
(a) B2RRITIEHEIT

2015 2014
—E—hF —E-NF
$'000 F3T $000 Tt

Cash at bank and in hand BTHEEREFRS 317,407 250,792
Bank deposits maturing within ERER=EEARZ
three months when placed BITER 17,173 69,633
Cash and cash equivalents in FEEHERERAZ
the consolidated cash flow statement RERKRLZEIER 334,580 320,425
Bank deposits maturing after GEREEB=M@AE
three months but within R—FRZRITER
one year when placed 476 518
335,056 320,943

At 31st March, 2014, the Group had designated certain bank
balances that were denominated in Australian Dollar and
Renminbi totalling $62,027,000 to hedge foreign currency
risk on future purchases of raw materials and finished goods.
The gain on re-translation of these bank balances at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period was included in other comprehensive income. At
31st March, 2015, the Group had no outstanding balance
designated to hedge the foreign currency risk.

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

R=-FB-—WE=A=+—H " 2&%.&&7‘5&)&
RETEZETRITEESH 62,027,000 TiEE
BEHHHABERMBARER R ZIIMERE -
REERACEXEHFREZSRITEFZREZD
FAREMEEKE - R=EBE—HFE=A=1+-—
Elt AR EE BN R E Y R ONE BB 2 R B B
ﬁnﬁ °
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17 Cash and bank deposits (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to
cash generated from operations:

17 BERIBITER @)

(b) BREpI s RSB E R SR L
ZHH

2015 2014
—2-AF —2-mEF
Note Ffi&E $’000 F7T $'000 F 7t
Profit before taxation BR AR AT E A 523,609 456,601
Adjustments for: A
- Depreciation of property, -ME - -BER
plant and equipment REZIRE 5(c) 194,980 182,089
- Depreciation of investment -REVEZITE
properties 5(c) 526 527
- Amortisation of interests in -REKEHEREE
leasehold land held for own use BERAZEE L
under operating leases a2 e 5(c) 1,000 882
- Amortisation of intangible assets -EBEEEZHEE 5(c) 2,059 2,110
- Reversal of impairment losses -YE - BERRE
on property, plant and equipment EEBERRE 5(c) (224) (24)
- Interest on bank loans -RITEFRAE 5(a) 5,243 12,545
- Finance charges on obligations -BMEHEEKZ
under finance leases BsER 5(a) 412 523
- Interest income - FEWA 4 (2,476) (2,508)
- Net loss on disposal of property, -HEYE  BER
plant and equipment REZEEEHE 5(c) 4,410 4,693
- Equity settled share-based -UBRBABARERZ
payment expenses ZH 5(b) 11,124 8,309
- Foreign exchange loss -EHEE 365 648
Changes in working capital: HELESEE
- Increase in inventories - FEEM (39,258) (107,392)
- Increase in trade - FE U BR R e HL At FE U FR 3G AN
and other receivables (96,726) (54,264)
- Increase in trade and other payables - FE{ BR 7k 5z L 4th FE A5 3038 4n 245,449 285,182
- Increase in employee retirement - EEERREANEEEM
benefit liabilities 4,693 3,818
Cash generated from operations REEBEMBRE 855,186 793,739
18 Trade and other payables 18 ENERAREMESK
2015 2014
—Z—-Ah%FE —E—F
$'000 7T $'000 Tt
Trade creditors and bills payable EAERERRENRE 417,361 406,001
Accrued expenses and other payables FERTE & H i FEAT X 830,547 656,405
1,247,908 1,062,406
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18 Trade and other payables (Continued) 18 BN ERM R EMENAK @)
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled AEEEHMEESRIAREMESTER —F
within one year, except for customer deposits amounting to AEE HAREE15297,000 7T ( —g\ L= S
$15,297,000 (2014: $15,816,000) for the Group which are 15,816,000 T) 2 &HF XS ARMNER —F#&
expected to be settled after more than one year. BE -
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing of trade RESRA > EARRRENEBERZZAHZE
creditors and bills payable, based on the invoice date, is as BT
follows:
2015 2014
—Z—-h%F —E—mF
$'000 FIT $'000 F 7t
Within three months =@AR 407,224 395,018
Three to six months =ZxEA 8,944 9,594
Over six months ~EA M E 1,193 1,389
417,361 406,001

The Group’s general payment terms are one to two months AEEZ—REFRPREEREAHET —ZW

from the invoice date. @A -
-
19 Bank loans 19 RITERX
At 31st March, 2015, the bank loans were repayable as R-ZE-—HF=A=+—H RVITERER T
follows: HAPREZE -
2015 2014
—E—hEF —E-NF
$'000 F7T $'000 ¥t
Within one year or on demand —FRFEER 125,948 51,790
After one year but within two years —FZERMER 20,444 34,392
After two years but within five years WERERAER 7,270 33,676
27,714 68,068
153,662 119,858

At 31st March, 2015, bank loans totalling $48,357,000 R-ZE-—HF=ZA=+—H 548,357,000

(2014: $82,522,000) are secured by charges over property, JT(=ZF—MF:825220007T) Z2RITER
plant and equipment with net book value totalling T.‘IU\EEE}?{E.:.AD 163,000t (= F—MWF :
$72,163,000 (2014: $100,553,000) (note 11(f)). 100,553,0007t) 2 ¥ MERRXEIEAER

(B =E 11(F)) -
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19 Bank loans (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the
fulfilment of covenants relating to certain of the Group’s
statement of financial position ratios, as are commonly
found in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If
the Group were to breach the covenants, the drawn down
facilities would become payable on demand. The Group
regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants.
Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk
are set out in note 25(b). As at 31st March, 2015 and 2014,
none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had
been breached.

20 Obligations under finance leases

At 31st March, 2015, the Group had obligations under
finance leases repayable as follows:

19 RITER &)

FAEEETRITFEANGAE TRAKE 2/
MRRLEEEE R ERRVBHBITLE
REFB2ERAE HEAEEEREHARE
o IRREREBCREMZEER - A5HE
MEZURRETZERE FHRLAKEEER
BESERZE-DHFBERRME250D) - R=
Z-HIFR-ZB-WE=ZA=+—H0 BEER
EMNEEENEE 2%

20 MEMHE ZER
R-B—RE=A=+-0 AEEREBEE
EAMBZEEMT :

2015 2014
—e-E% —2-QmF
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHRE REHRE RIEHE RIEHAE
IRz HE IHEE ARZEE FRR4EEE
$'000 F5T  $'000 FiT $'000 F 7t $'000 ¥t
Within one year —FR 1,043 1,329 1,176 1,615
After one year but within —F&ER
two years MER 1,124 1,329 1,268 1,615
After two years but within MERER
five years EER 2,114 2,252 3,935 4,353
3,238 3,581 5,203 5,968
4,281 4,910 6,379 7,583
Less: Total future B RRFE
interest expenses ERAEE (629) (1,204)
Present value of lease HEBKZRE
obligations 4,281 6,379
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21 Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates and participates in a number of defined
contribution and defined benefit retirement plans in and
outside Hong Kong.

(a) Defined contribution retirement plans

(i)

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
plan, Vitasoy International Holdings Limited Staff
Provident Fund, which is available for all eligible staff
employed by the Group in Hong Kong and Macau
before 1st August, 2000. The plan is funded by
contributions from employees and the Group, both
of which contribute sums representing 5% - 7.5% of
basic salaries. Forfeited contributions are credited
to members’ accounts in accordance with the rules
of the plan. The plan is administered by trustees with
the assets held separately from those of the Group.
The employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s
contributions after ten completed membership years,
or at an increasing scale of between 50% to 90% after
completion of five to nine membership years.

Staff employed by the Group in Hong Kong not joining
the defined contribution retirement plan are required
to join the Group’s Mandatory Provident Fund scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The MPF scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by an independent corporate trustee. Under the
MPF scheme, the Group and the employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of $30,000 ($25,000 prior
to June 2014). Contributions to the MPF scheme vest
immediately.

Employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the central pension scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Group is required to contribute a
certain percentage of employees’ remuneration to the
central pension scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation for the Group with respect to the central
pension scheme is the associated required contribution
under the central pension scheme. Contributions to the
plan vest immediately.

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

21 EERKEF
ARBEEBRESUNMBERIRSNSER

EHRRRAERBABRAKTE -

(a) RERFBRIKEE

(i)

(i)

AEBAMAER-SEEENA—HZAHE
ERARBAMZRE2AEESEREIRIL
—IEREMREARE (EMPBEREEE
RATGIHERESR) - ZtBcELXREE
ERFTEEZHR EHFHRSERRH
Z5%ZE7.5% - R RETEI 2R A
BAGTEIREZRFE - ZrtE8XHBETXAE
B REETHEAEEZEESHER -
ESHEGERTER EETVEEEIHESE
HE o MBEFGESERZENFETEZEZEE
HEREDLAIA50%ZF S E 90% o

ZERAEEMIES MR ERFRAKTE
ZBERBET LARBEEB (EHEQIES
BRG] 2 MALE 2 BEMAEETTE
([BHELXEEFTE]) - BEMLIBESE
R —BAEHFRKIE - HBELEERE
AAEE - REBFMLBSHE  AEH
FEESEAZESRBAUVA (FRAKRAZ
B A LRAB 30,000 (ZE—WFEXAMSD
25,0007T) ) 2 5% @ &K - @58 5 %
NEEFT AN ZHRDEES -

RRFBEZHBLARAZEESZ MAFEIK
BRI zHhRERESHE - XAEBEERES
MEezHE—Botb@PREKRSFEIMR
ABFRMES - XEERPREKSETE
FrEB{TZHE—EXAOHPREKRESEME
EtEFﬁ%Z*EEEﬁ%i o M EH &I 2 AR ED B
58 -
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21 Employee retirement benefits (Continued)

(a)

(iii)

Defined contribution retirement plans
(Continued)

For employees in Australia, contributions are made by
the Group to a registered superannuation fund for its
employees, at 9% of the employees’ salaries. The assets
of the scheme are held separately by an independent
administered fund. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
retirement plan for its employees in the United States
of America (“the USA”). The Group is required to make
contributions to the plan at various applicable rates of
monthly salary that are in accordance with the local
practice and regulations. Where there are employees
who leave prior to vesting fully in the contributions,
the forfeited employer’s contributions shall be used to
reduce the future contributions of the employer.

(b) Defined benefit retirement plans

At 31st March, 2015, the Group recognised employee
retirement benefit liabilities in respect of the following
employee retirement benefits:

21 EEERNKRER @)
(a) REMBRFEIKGE (48)

(iii)

(iv)

(b)

A=

BMNEEFH  ZKEAREEFE29%
A-HAHEEMR ZEMBRARESHK -
SEEERBYEECESSRESR - @5
BNz HRAESEE -

AEETHERIE2RBERIAEHKR
Ket 8 - AEEMARBE MBS RKOIRE
A 8RBALRETEELAHR - M
BEEREZEZHHEKARE - HitRilz
BEHFSARNBBE R ZBEHRR -

REWEFEMKE

ZE-AF=ZA=+—-B FEEBRTIEES

RHBEANRIABRERKAENEE

2015 2014
—E—hEF —ZT-F
$'000 F7¢ $000 Tt
Employee retirement EEENREFNEE
benefit liabilities
- retirement gratuities - Bk
(note 21(c)(i)) (BfFEE21(c)(i)) 7,239 6,835
- long service payments - RERES
(note 21(d)) (FffzE21(d)) 2,995 3,001
10,234 9,836
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21 Employee retirement benefits (Continued)

(c) Retirement gratuities

Employees of the Group in Hong Kong and Macau, who
have completed a prescribed minimum period of service
and joined the Group before a specific date, are entitled to
retirement gratuities upon retirement age. The gratuity is
based on the employee’s last month'’s salary and the number
of years of service.

A funded defined benefit retirement plan, Vitasoy
International Holdings Limited Defined Benefit Scheme (“the
Plan”), was established for the retirement gratuities. The Plan
is administered by an independent corporate trustee, with
assets held separately from those of the Group. The Plan is
funded by contributions from the Group in accordance with
an independent actuary’s recommendation.

The latest actuarial valuation of the Plan was at 31st March,
2015 and was prepared by independent professionally
qualified actuaries at Towers Watson Hong Kong Limited,
using the projected unit credit method. The valuation
indicates that the Group’s obligation under this defined
benefit retirement plan is 91% (2014: 92%) covered by the
plan assets held by the trustee.

(i)  The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position are as follows:

21 EEERNKER @)
(c) Btz

AEEMEERERAMCRBEERBFEET —R
EEZREHRRERREEBPRZAMARES -
HERERERAFREAIERNRE - SRR TE
ERRMEAAFRBHFEME -

REBRRARER Y —HE B RERFRMAKETE
- EHMEREEARARRERAEE (&6
g) ZEt@HBYEEERAEE  HEEHR
FEEMEEDREAR AT EHHAKEEZRE
NEEE BRI -

ZA B BRHBEAMEDIR-_F-—HF=A
=+-PHEEEHEREARAOAZEIEXES
ERBEMRAREEAFELET - BRMGE
BRASEREZAERANERATEFABTZ
BEEEDII%(ZF—HF : 92%) REXARFH
ZETEIEERME -

(i) REEMBRRREIZ2EEMOT

2015 2014
—E-RF —E-ImF
$'000 7t $000 7
Present value of wholly 2HEEPERE
funded obligations ZBE 83,633 83,911
Fair value of plan assets STEEEZARE (76,394) (77,076)
Employee retirement EERKEF
benefit liabilities aE 7,239 6,835

A portion of the above liabilities is expected to be settled
after more than one year. However, it is not practicable to
segregate this amount from the amounts payable in the
next twelve months, as the retirement benefit entitled
by scheme members and future contributions to the plan
will also depend on staff turnover and future changes in
actuarial assumptions. The Group expects to pay $192,000
in contributions to defined benefit retirement plan during
the year ending 31st March, 2016 (2014: $993,000).

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

EHLREERREREB—FREHE - R
HRFEIREEREZEZEREFIRBE 25 E
HRTERFEIRDERREERRBEZED
ME  BEREEARRT-_BEREXFZ
SHEPHBEY AT AEEEHREBEE-F

—RE=ZA=+—-—HLEEEnREFFEBKTE
F 192,000t (ZF—M@4EF : 993,0007T) °
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21 Employee retirement benefits (Continued)

(c) Retirement gratuities (Continued)

(ii)  Plan assets consist of the following:

21 EERKER &)
) B2 &)
(i) stEEEEETHER

2015 2014
—E—hF —E-NF
$'000 F7¢ $000 7t
Plan assets with quoted price in RiEEHHEEN
active market HEIEE
Equities BRE
- Financial — B 18,695 17,610
- Consumer discretionary - FNEHER 5,885 10,066
- Industrials — I¥ 5,258 6,602
- Consumer staples - %EEHER 4,881 6,347
- Other - Hith 21,263 13,475
55,982 54,100
Bonds B%
- A+ corporate bonds — A+ DFEIEH 8,311 8,139
- Government-related bonds — BFHEES 2,341 3,983
- Treasury bonds - E&E 7,812 4,911
18,464 17,033
Money instruments E¥TH 1,948 5,332
Total quoted plan assets EREFEEELE 76,394 76,465
Non-quoted plan assets FEEHBEE
Equities BE
- Other — Hit - 611
76,394 77,076
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21 Employee retirement benefits (Continued)

(c) Retirement gratuities (Continued)

(iii) Movements in the present value of the defined benefit
obligations are as follows:

21 EERKER @)
(c) BIkE (&)

(i) REBVMNEE2RESHWOT :

2015 2014

—Z—-h%F —E—mEF

$000 ¥ $000 Tt

At 1st April REA—H 83,911 85,271

Remeasurement: EHFE

- Actuarial gains arising from — BEKERRE

changes in financial assumptions B EE W (267) (1,664)

Benefits paid by the Plan ZErEIE AR A (5,314) (4,727)

Current service cost 5 R KA 4,003 4,195

Interest cost F B A 1,300 836

At 31st March R=A=+—H 83,633 83,911

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit

REBMNEEZMEFIIHRABF (ZF—NH

obligation is 8 years (2014: 7 years). F:7F)-
(iv) Movements in fair value of plan assets are as follows: (iv) FF8IEEZ2AAREEHWT :
2015 2014
—E—hEF —E-NF
$’'000 FiT $'000 F 7t
At 1st April ROEA—H 77,076 77,115
Contributions paid to the Plan mZst 8l 2 K 228 970
Benefits paid by the Plan ZETEIE BRI (5,314) (4,727)
Return on plan assets, STEIEERR  FEIE
excluding interest income FE WA 3,205 2,958
Interest income FEWA 1,199 760
At 31st March R=A=+—H 76,394 77,076

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR
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21 Employee retirement benefits (Continued) 21 EEEAKERN @

(c) Retirement gratuities (Continued) (c) BU=E (#&)
(v) Net expenses/(income) recognised in the consolidated (v) RZcBEEREMEEAKRERER 2L
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive (WA) BEWT :
income are as follows:
2015 2014
—E-RF —E-ImF
$'000 7t $000 7T
Current service cost RERKE KA 4,003 4,195
Net interest on AEENEEREN
net defined benefit liability FRE 101 76
Total amounts recognised in REZERNEE
profit or loss 4,104 4,271
Actuarial gains BEWE (267) (1,664)
Return on plan assets, SEIEEER -
excluding interest income TEEFNEWA (3,205) (2,958)
Total amounts recognised in REMEEKRE
other comprehensive income ERNARE (3,472) (4,622)
Total defined benefit REBFAEBAR 7 (KA)
expenses/(income) 632 (351)

The current service cost and the net interest on net defined AERFEABEFRECHEREALAREZFNEER
benefit liability are recognised in the following line items in GEBEXRPRTYSEER
the consolidated statement of profit or loss:

2015 2014

—Z—h8%F —ET-NEF

$°000 F7T $'000 Tt

Cost of sales SHER A 847 856
Marketing, selling and HE - HER

distribution expenses 2EHEH 1,200 1,181

Administrative expenses THEHR 1,482 1,594

Other operating expenses Hihk&EEH 575 640

4,104 4271
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21 Employee retirement benefits (Continued)

(c) Retirement gratuities (Continued)

(vi) Significant actuarial assumptions and sensitivity
analysis are as follows:

21 EERKER &)
c) Rt (@)
(Vi) TEREBERERBESKDT :

2015 2014

—E—hF —E-NF

Discount rate EE 1.30% 1.60%
Future salary increases FS e ] ] 4.5% per annum 5% per annum
45% B 5% FF

The below analysis shows how the defined benefit
obligations as at 31st March, 2015 would have increased/
(decreased) as a result of 0.5% change in the significant
actuarial assumptions:

UDTAaMBERR-E—RF=A=1+—HZHZE
BAETEREARREBRROS%EHMEA (T
) -

2015 2014
—E-5% —F-0OF
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
in0.5% in0.5% in0.5% in0.5%
EFH0.5% TB0.5% EH0.5% T¥0.5%
Discount rate g ES (3,330) 3,442 (3,517) 3,759
Future salary increases RIRE S ILIF 3,436 (3,338) 3,616 (3,422)

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption
that changes in actuarial assumptions are not correlated
and therefore it does not take into account the correlations
between the actuarial assumptions.

(d) Long service payments

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group
is obliged to make lump sum payments on cessation of
employment in certain circumstances to certain employees
who have completed at least five years of service with
the Group. The amount payable is dependent on the
employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement
plans that are attributable to contributions made by the
Group. The Group does not set aside any assets to fund any
remaining obligations.

An actuarial valuation of long service payments was
also carried out at 31st March, 2015, by independent
professionally qualified actuaries at Towers Watson Hong
Kong Limited, using the projected unit credit method.

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

LPRBRBEDH I ABRRBEERR 2E 22 B
SEHEBERAEE  ARIEIFARERRZH
ZEEERE -

(d) RAREZ

REEFE (BEEG)  F2EERAEETHER TR
LHERRESAEERBELAF 2 EBERARK
EXN—FBRE - AXNZEBERTFEER
BRIFEHFERBHEFEME - WHBMASE BRI
SR T ERRASETEMHR 2 BT EE - AF
lﬁ*g%&ﬂﬁé DR E TR REREE

REBRBETR _-_F-—HEF=A=1—HRHHEFT
EHERAERAAZBEVEXSERBHEMRA
BAEENRERETREME -
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21 Employee retirement benefits (Continued)

(d) Long service payments (Continued)

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position are as follows:

21 EERKER &)
(d) REREE (&)
RECHBRAEBI>SENT :

2015 2014
—Z—-h%f —E—MmEF
$'000 F7¢ $000 7t
Present value of unfunded mEHEMT
obligations ZBE 2,995 3,001

A portion of the above liabilities is expected to be settled
after more than one year. However, it is not practical to
segregate this amount from the amounts payable in the next
twelve months, as the retirement benefit payable will also
depend on staff turnover and future changes in actuarial
assumptions.

22 Equity settled share-based
transactions

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 4th
September, 2002 (the “2002 Share Option Scheme”)
whereby the Directors of the Company are authorised, at
their discretion, to invite employees of the Group, including
Directors of any company in the Group, to take up options to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company. At the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 28th August, 2012,
ordinary resolutions were passed for the adoption of a new
share option scheme (the “2012 Share Option Scheme”) and
the termination of the 2002 Share Option Scheme. Subject to
their respective exercisable periods, all outstanding options
granted under the 2002 Share Option Scheme will still be
valid and exercisable after the expiration of the 2002 Share
Option Scheme.

The exercise price of the options is determined by the
Directors of the Company and is the higher of (i) the closing
price of the shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; and (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

The options are exercisable for a period not to exceed 10

years from the date of grant. Each option gives the holder the
right to subscribe for one share in the Company.
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AL EROERNEB—FREH - A
HREMERAEATERTFEIRBRREER
REBZSHmME  BEUEREERR+T=EA
N 2 P MBI R A1T -

22 LRI BARERZRS

ARAR-_ZZ2-_FNANBRAN—BBERE
B (22 -_FEREE]) . Bt X2 F
CESERENBERFBAKEEZEE (BELXE
BETEAARAZES) BABREAZBERQ
AEBER R-ZF-—-FSNA-+NBETZE
NEABRRBAFAEL  BBTHEBRRANERE
SE([Z2-——FRKREE]) REE-ZFZ
“ERBREGFEHCEBRER  BREAZAITHE
MR > PARB-ST_FRBREERE 2K
TEBRER-_ZSZ_STERESIBRERR
DA A FATHE -

BREZTHEERALATDESEE  AUTZR
BE () RORREAH (EALAREXA)
EEBBMAEXZMAERAT ([BRA]) &5
e R () RORBEREAMATREEXA
EBX Gz FHRmE -

BREZTESISEBREABETFZTF -
BEBREZBREANAERB -REAQAR
ﬁo

Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2014/15



Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

22 Equity settled share-based 22 URBANRERZRS @)
transactions (Continued)

(a) The terms and conditions of the unexpired and (a) RERAZABRRATEBREZGAR
unexercised share options at the end of the reporting REWMT - FIEBRESURG ZEWRK
period are as follows, whereby all options are settled by wE
physical delivery of shares:

2015 2014
—Z-ng “E-mF
Contractual Remaining Remaining
life of Exercise contractual Number of contractual Number of
Date of grant Exercise period options price life options life options
BhEz o] | {3 4 fe &% BhREz
R A E8 ENER fEE BHER BE ERESR A
$7 ‘000 FB% ‘000 T
1/6/2005 1/6/2006 to & 31/5/2015 10 years & 2.375 2 months A 62 1year F 1,566
5/6/2006 5/6/2007 to £4/6/2016 10 years 2.900 lyear 60 2 years & 1,090
18/7/2007 18/7/2008 to Z 17/7/2017 10 years 3.600 2years - 3years 1,016
21/7/2008 21/7/2009 to & 20/7/2018 10 years 3.820 3years 240 4yearsE 1,332
21/7/2009 21/7/2010to & 20/7/2019 10 years 4.580 4years i 1,240 5years 1,744
9/6/2010 9/6/2011to £8/6/2020 10 years & 6.022 5years & 1,504 6years 1,712
7/9/2010 7/9/2011 to Z 6/9/2020 10 years & 5.942 5years 2,120 6years 2,120
15/6/2011 15/6/2012 to & 14/6/2021 10 years 6.424 6years 1,726 7 years 1,932
8/9/2011 8/9/2012to £7/9/2021 10 years 6.358 6yearsE 2,320 7 years 2,320
22/6/2012 22/6/2013 to & 21/6/2022 10 years 6.274 7 years & 3,268 8 years 3,670
31/8/2012 31/8/2013 to & 30/8/2022 10 years & 6.400 7 years 2,822 8years & 2,822
2/4/2013 2/4/2015 to & 1/4/2023 10 years & 9.090 8years 2,100 9 years & 2,100
28/6/2013 28/6/2014 to £27/6/2023 10 years & 9.370 8years 4,530 9 years F 4752
9/9/2013 9/9/2014 to £8/9/2023 10 years 9.370 8years 1,704 9 years F 1,704
2/7/2014 2/7/2015 to E 1/7/2024 10 years 10.080 9 years 4,354 - -
10/9/2014 10/9/2015 to & 9/9/2024 10 years & 10.080 9 years & 1,792 - -
29,842 29,880

Except for the options granted on 2nd April, 2013 which BRR-ZE-—=FNA-_HREZERESLEREY

will be fully vested after two years from the date of grant, all HHEFMFERELMEBIN HEAFITEZ
the options are exercisable progressively and the maximum BREHEIIZELSIEM o SR THERERE
percentage of the options which may be exercised is ZADLEERMT :

determined in stages as follows:

Percentage of
options granted

LEERREZ

Bt

On or after 1st year anniversary of the date of grant REAMES —BFERHE 25%
On or after 2nd year anniversary of the date of grant RHEBHETmEERER another % 25%
On or after 3rd year anniversary of the date of grant BEHESNET=ZBFRER another B 25%
On or after 4th year anniversary of the date of grant REBBETNEFHER another 3 25%

During the year, 5,540,000 options (2014: 6,992,000 FR - 554000017 R AE (ZZ— M : 6992000
options) were exercised under the 2002 Share Option EBRE) R — T T _FHRRETECEITE -

Scheme.
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22 Equity settled share-based
transactions (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of
share options are as follows:

22 LR ANRER 2R S @)

(b) BREZHE RMNEFLITEEDT :

2015 2014
ot =Sk - 3 —Z—QE
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise  Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
niEFEy {3 4 hnfEFg BREZ
TR BH TEE £ 4=
$T '000 T B $ 7T '000 T h%
Outstanding at 1st April KA —BEKRITE 6.504 29,880 5.251 30,172
Exercised during the year RERTHE 3.467 (5,540) 4571 (6,992)
Granted during the year REARRY 10.080 6,146 9.301 8,556
Forfeited on termination FHEeEKSH
of employment of EEBMNER
eligible participants or R U ER k3%
lapsed during the year 7.248 (644) 6.301 (1,856)
Outstanding at 31st March RZA=+—BHKRTE 7.789 29,842 6.504 29,880
Exercisable at 31st March R=ZA=+—BTTHE 12,764 13,213

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
share options exercised during the year was $10.082 (2014:
$10.056).

(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on a binomial lattice
model. The contractual life of the share option is used as
an input into this model. Expectations of early exercise are
incorporated into the binomial lattice model.
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EBTEZERERFRZITEBH 2 MEFHIR
% 10.082x (=ZF—MW% : 10.0567T) °

(c) FBREZIAAERER

FEBMURBBRERESZRB2ARE TS
SZEREBREZOAENE - ERBBERE
ZESTAARBEU-—BAXMEREAGE - BREZ
BHNFHRAEZERNZ-BBA2Y - FHRESR
TE2EMEFACTEAMERN 2R -
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22 Equity settled share-based

22 URGBANFRERZRS @)

transactions (Continued)

(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions

(c) BREZAZERER (&)

(Continued)

Fair values of share options and assumptions:

BREZARERRBR

Fair value at
measurement date

Share price

Exercise price

Expected volatility

Expected option life

Expected dividends
Risk-free interest rate

Date of grant
dul=]
1/6/2005 5/6/2006 18/7/2007 21/7/2008 21/7/2009 9/6/2010 7/9/2010 15/6/2011 8/9/2011 22/6/2012 31/8/2012 2/4/2013 28/6/2013 9/9/2013 2/7/2014 10/9/2014
RtERH
ZLNE 505227 $05557% $05797% $05077 $06277 $0.9567 $0.9567 $0.8957 $0.4057% $0.953% $1043% $14407% 18277 $2244% $2.150% $20827%
RE $23757 $29007 936007 $38207% $45807% $5.9507 $6.0807 $6.1607 $54907 $6.1707 $6.6207 $9.0907 $9.3707% $9.9507% $10.0807% $9.920%
& $23757% $29007 $36007 $38207 $45807 $6.0227 $5.9427 $64247 $6.3587 $6.2747 $6.4007 $9.0907% $9.3707 $9.3707 $10.0807% $10.0807
RHRE 35% 30% %% 2% 2% 2% %% 5% 25% %% 2% 26% 2% %% 2% 2%
REEREZ
S 10years® 10vyearsE 10yearsE 10yearsE 10yearsE 10yearsE 10yearsE 10yearsE 10yearsE 10yearsE 10years® 10vyears® 10yearsE 10yearsE 10yearsE 10yearsE
EHRE 7.5% 7.5% 7.5% 7.0% 7.0% 5.6% 5.6% 5.5% 5.5% 5.0% 5.0% 49% 4.0% 4.0% 3.5% 3.5%
BRRAZE 3520%  4.690%  4.690%  3600%  2190%  2120%  1.900%  2040%  1750%  0810%  0620%  1092%  1720%  2400%  1870%  1.940%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility,
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility based
on publicly available information. Expected dividends are
based on historical dividends. Changes in the subjective input

FHRERELNEEE  YREBEARERE
BARBIE 2 EMERRCTURE - BHKRE
BELREEE - IRAZTBHARR 22T
HOAREZATELEEATE -

assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date
fair value measurement of the services received. There 5l o
was no market conditions associated with the share option

grants.

BRERBREBRBGAMRE - WRRFETE
FEREsARE (RREBH) BREZEZ
BB R R AT SERY
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23 Income tax in the consolidated
statement of financial position

(a) Current tax recoverable/(payable)in the

23 HEPBARRR ZFEHR

(a) HEHBMRIEZEYR "~ (BT 5

consolidated statement of financial position BigEum
represents:
2015 2014
—E-1F —E-nmE
$'000 F7T $'000 7t
Provision for Hong Kong KEERE
Profits Tax for the year FISHRE (44,306) (46,134)
Provisional Profits Tax paid SR ZESRER 48,421 46,177
4,115 43
Taxation outside Hong Kong EFBLIERIE (26,004) (21,546)
(21,889) (21,503)
Summary BE
2015 2014
—EZE—-h%f —ZE-lF
$’000 F7T $'000 F 7t
Current tax recoverable VRS | 5,435 654
Current tax payable SRR E (27,324) (22,157)
(21,889) (21,503)
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23 Income tax in the consolidated
statement of financial position
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

23 &E

(b) ERZELHELE (BE):

BBMRRRZFAER @)

RESHBRAREAZEEHREE  (BF)

recognised in the consolidated statement of financial RFERZESEBWMT :
position and the movements during the year are as follows:
Depreciation Fair value
allowances adjustment on
inexcess Future  Employee Withholding tangible and Cash
oftherelated  benefitof  retirement taxon intangible flow
depreciation  taxlosses  benefits  Provisions  dividends assets hedges Others Total
EFR
BERBSAE  HBESEZ B8 Bl EEL kS
ZESRE ARAE BAER BE REEOH OQAEME  fEHM it @it
$000fx  $000F¥%  $000¥x%  $000Fx  $000F¥%  $000Fm  $000F%  $000¥7%  $000F%
Deferred tax arising from: FEUTREZRERE
At 1st April, 2013 R-ZE-Z£MmA-A (69,905) 7,289 1311 25,920 (3,375) (2,653) 1,569 (39,844)
Exchange adjustments EidE 114 6) - (371) - 4 - (221)
(Charged)/credited to profitorloss %3 (1K) /3t A (807) 1428 984 7687 (4,911) 440 (1,569) 3252
(Charged)/credited toreserves W (11B) /3t A - - (816) - - - 316 - (500)
At 31st March, 2014 RZE-mE=A=t1-H (70,598) 8711 1479 33,236 (8,286) (2,171) 316 (37,313)
Deferred tax arising from: REUTEECEERS
At 1st April, 2014 RZE-MEMA-A (70,598) 8,711 1479 33236 (8,286) (2171) 316 (37,313)
Exchange adjustments ERAE 56 (3) - (499) - 156 - (290)
(Charged)/credited toprofitorloss 583 (H1&) /3t A (4891) (256) 753 8,512 (2571) 430 - 1977
Charged to reserves REENR - - (757) - - (316) (1,073)
At 31st March, 2015 RZE-EF=fA=1-H (75,433) 8,452 1475 41249 (10,857) (1,585) (36,699)

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR
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23 Income tax in the consolidated
statement of financial position
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised:

23 HREMBERRRZAEHR @

(b) EEZEEFHELE (BE) . (&)

(Continued)
Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of e MR R REER
financial position
2015 2014
—Z—h8%F —E-E
$°000 ¥7T $'000 Tt
Net deferred tax assets REFEHBRRKERZ
recognised in the consolidated EEBEEEFHE
statement of financial position 32,678 26,457
Net deferred tax liabilities REBEHBRRERERZ
recognised in the consolidated EERIEEEFHE
statement of financial position (69,377) (63,770)
(36,699) (37,313)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
1(qg), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of tax losses and other temporary differences of
$547,188,000 (2014: $553,237,000) as it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses and other
temporary differences can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdictions and entities.

Included in unrecognised tax losses is an amount of
$Nil (2014: $122,487,000) and $378,753,000 (2014:
$378,217,000) which can be carried forward up to five years
and twenty years respectively from the year in which the loss
originated. The remaining balance of $10,373,000 (2014:
$11,318,000) does not expire under current tax legislation.

Also, included in unrecognised deferred tax assets for other
temporary differences is an amount of $158,062,000 (2014:
$41,215,000) which does not expire under current tax
legislation.
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(c) FRERZELBEEE

BREME L AIRZEHEER  *EELEER
FERBEEER M ERZER 547,188,000 T
(Z= — % :553237,000w) 2IEEREE
B REEREHERERIEEERERT AT
REELERRERBGFUKFISHHAZEHER
REMERFER -

ABERABEEBEPTEER (22— F:
122,487,000 5t) K% 378,753,000t ( = & —
% :378,217,000t) Ao BEBBEELEZF
ERZERZHAFR -+ - H££10,373,000 T
(== —9% : 11,318,000 t) AT ZRIBR
TRERER -

Wi REREEREEETF2HMEREES

# % 158,062,000 7t (=% — M4 : 41,215,000
) FEREBRITHEREM -
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24 Capital, reserves and dividends

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s individual
components of equity between the beginning and the end of
the year are set out below:

24 BX - REREKRE
(a) HEALE 2B E

FAEEGRERBREARBO 2 FNRFREHRZ
HRENGERBEEB R - AR EEEMERAK
MORFARFRZBBFTMOD :

The Company AKAFE
Capital Share-based
Share Share  redemption Capital General compensation Hedging ~ Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits equity
&% SR
B ROAE WORE 2 EAEE 0 -REE 0 BREE 0 HARRE  RERN  HAEE
Note iz $000F7%  $000F7%  $000Fx §000Fxm  $000F7% $000Fx $000Fm  $000F%  $000F%
Balance at 1st April, 2013 AZE-ZEMA-BEE 256,746 360,571 1,101 59,220 2261 15,152 653918 1,348,969
Changes in equity for the year: FEEZHEED:
Transfer from capital reserve to BERREERE
retained profits REERN 24(d)(i) - - (4,087) 4,087 -
Sharesissued on exercise of share options F{TEBREMLTRA 5714 26,244 - - 31958
Transfer from share-based compensation R=8-BE=B= R
reserve toshare premiumonexercise  STEBREMERAER
of share options before 3rd March, 2014~ BEREERZRAEE - 4,052 (4052)
Transfer from share-based compensation R=E-BE=B=R%
reserve to share capital on exercise ATERRERERA
of share options after 3rd March, 2014~ EREEREERZRE 871 (871) -
Equity settled share-based transactions  RBBARER 25 - 8,309 8,309
Transitionto no-par valueregimeon ~ R=Z-MEZA=A
3rd March, 2014 BUZEEENE 24()i) 391,968 (390.867) (1,101) -
Final dividend approved in respect HEBRE-EE2
of the previous year FERE 24(b)ii) (171,188)  (171,188)
Interim dividend declared inrespect ~~ ENRAEE 2 HHRE
of the current year 24(b)(i) - (33,009) (33,009)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2EWHEE 9 (1600) 264053 262453
Balance at 31st March, 2014 R-S-MEZRA=+-BHE 655,299 55,133 2261 18,538 (1,600) 717861 1447492
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24 Capital, reserves and dividends 24 BEX - RERRE @
(Continued)
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) BEZAHKEG ZEE) (&)
(Continued)
The Company (Continued) QT (4E)
Share-based
Share Capital General  compensation Hedging Retained Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve profits equity
EinER

23 RGN —h i HRE HipG REEN L
NoteMfd  $000FT  $000F%  $000FT  $000FXT  $000FE  $000FT  $000F%

Balanceat st April, 2014 R=Z-M%E
mA—-A#&E 655,299 55,133 2,261 18,538 (1,600) 717,861 1,447,492

Changes in equity FERECHER:

for the year:

Transfer from capital BERRGEERE

reserve toretained profits R &R 24(d)(i) - (4,087) - - - 4,087 -
Shares issued on exercise of (TR RE
share options mETRA 24(c)(ii) 19,207 - - - - - 19,207

Transfer from share-based ~ Si{TEHREM B R
compensation reserve EfmEREER2

to share capital on e

exercise of share options 24(c)(ii) 3,188 - - (3,188) - - -
Equity settled share-based  BURRANRER 2R

transactions - - - 11,124 - - 11,124

Final dividend approvedin ~ #tEBRE—EE 2
respect of the previous  KHIRE

year 24(b)(ii) - - - - - (176,527) (176,527)
Interim dividend declaredin ENRAEE RS

respect of the current year 24(b)(i) - - - - - (33,245) (33,245)
Total comprehensive income AFE2AKGEE

for the year 9 - - - - 1,600 319,072 320,672
Balance at RIZ-1%

31st March, 2015 ZRZt+-RER 677,694 51,046 2,261 26,474 - 831,248 1,588,723
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24 Capital, reserves and dividends
(Continued)

(b) Dividends

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the

Company attributable to the year

24 B - RERRE @

(b) K&
() ENFRIAREFBEAZEFERE

2015 2014
—Z—hF —E-EF
$'000 F7T $'000 F 7t
Interim dividend declared EERREZFHERE
and paid of 3.2 cents per -BREBR3.21
ordinary share (ZE—NF  SREBER3.2MW)
(2014: 3.2 cents per ordinary share) 33,245 33,009
Final dividend proposed after RERBZERZRBRKRE
the end of the reporting period of -BREBER21.2140
21.2 cents per ordinary share (Z2—mF : SREBER17.01)
(2014: 17.0 cents per ordinary share) 220,433 175,787
253,678 208,796

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
period is based on 1,039,779,500 ordinary shares (2014:
1,034,043,500 ordinary shares), being the total number
of issued shares at the date of approval of the financial
statements.

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
period has not been recognised as liabilities at the end of the
reporting period.

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial
year, approved and paid during the year

REHRARBERZ KRS DR EHBRRE
A RITRMEE1,039,779500 REBER (=
ZT—M4 : 1,034,043,500 RE@ERR) 5HE -

REHERBERZAHRERERB L RERS
afE-

BRE-FBREE  YRFRAER
NFRQBFRERFEAZRE

(ii)

2015 2014
—E-REF —E-ImF
$'000 ¥t $000 7T
Final dividend in respect of BRE—BBEE  XRER

the previous financial year, HERIFHZRERE

approved and paid during the year, -BREER17.01

of 17.0 cents per (ZE—NF : BREBER 16.61L)

ordinary share

(2014: 16.6 cents per ordinary share) 176,527 171,188

The final dividend approved and paid during the year is based
on the total number of issued shares at the date of Annual
General Meeting.

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

REAMERINFZRBREDERRBFRE
ERCBITROBEGE -
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24 Capital, reserves and dividends
(Continued)

24 B - HERRE @)

(c) Share capital (c) K&
(i) Issued share capital (i) S2RITRAE
2015 2014
—EZ—-1%FE —Z-mF
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
i3 &% BE ot |
'000 FB% $’000F T '000 T &% $'000 F T
Ordinary shares, issued EZ#TR
and fully paid: E#EZER
At 1st April REA—H 1,033,976 655,299 1,026,984 256,746
Shares issued on exercise of AT R
share options MmETRAG 5,540 19,207 6,992 5,714
Transfer from share-based AT ERE AR RE
compensation reserve to mERMPER
share capital on HEREEER
exercise of share options ERAK - 3,188 - 871
Transition to no-par value R-ZE—NE=HA=H
regime on 3rd March, 2014 EHREZEEEFE
(note) (B ) - - - 391,968
At 31st March MW=B=+—H 1,039,516 677,694 1,033,976 655,299
Note: B EE

The transition to the no-par value regime under the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) occurred automatically on 3rd
March, 2014. On that date, the share premium account and any
capital redemption reserve were subsumed into share capital
in accordance with section 37 of Schedule 11 to the Ordinance.
These changes did not impact on the number of shares in issue or
the relative entitlement of any of the members. Since that date, all
changes in share capital have been made in accordance with the
requirements of Parts 4 and 5 of the Ordinance.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.
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REBEE(ARGH) (8622F) R=FT-—NE=A
“HEREZEEESNE -FR - REEHIMR 11
B3k ROGERREMNELABERBECAAR
Ko ZEESRBEYECRTROMBIEMRRZ
RS - BZAR  REZMBSEBDREEAIFE4
R SERmAES ©

EBERZEFEEATURRARERZKRE » LAR
RRAZAELRERROZE—ZREE -5
AAFzRBEENS MEEEREZRAEASHE
A e
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24 Capital, reserves and dividends
(Continued)

(c) Share capital (Continued)

(i) Shares issued under share option schemes

During the year, options were exercised to subscribe
for 5,540,000 ordinary shares in the Company. The net
consideration was $19,207,000 was credited to share
capital. $3,188,000 was transferred from the share-based
compensation reserve to the share capital account in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1(p)(iv).

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Capital reserve

As part of the restructuring of the Group in February 1994,
the Company disposed of a property to a former subsidiary
and consideration was received in the form of cash and
another property. A total gain, representing the difference
between the historical carrying value of the property
disposed of and the fair value of the consideration received,
resulted.

The gain arising from this transaction was divided into
realised and unrealised portions in the ratio of the amount
of cash and the fair value of the property received (“the
property”). The unrealised gain was taken to capital reserve
and is realised on depreciation of the property. During the
year, $4,087,000 (2014: $4,087,000) was transferred from
capital reserve to retained profits.

(i) Surplus reserve

The surplus reserve has been set up by Shenzhen Vitasoy,
Vitasoja (Macau) Limitada, and Vitasoy Foshan in accordance
with regulations in the PRC and Macau respectively.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong and the
foreign exchange differences arising from translation of
monetary items that in substance form part of the net
investment in subsidiaries outside Hong Kong. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 1(u).

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

24 BX - #HERKRE @)

(c) BRI (4#&)

(i) REBRETERTZRS

£ ATRBALDREERS5540,000 8K 2 BB KR
BT - KEFHES 19,207,000 T 2B AR
7K © 3,188,000 7t & R B I &E 1(p)(iv) AT 82 BUR
BROERBERBERARE -

(d) #EZEERFEZE
() BEAfFEE

ERFEER-NNBFE_AETZEAZ2—&
7 ARFE—BAMNEARHE-B'YE - K
BURERE —BEYWEXN - B EEBWRE
AL ENX cBELRAEECHUREAREZ
=8

ZEXRZZWHEECBWRERME ([WX]) 2
REZEHTRESERARBRIEMD - REFW
HOFTAERREE  URFTENEFTEREER -
RER 4,087,000 T ( =ZF— M : 4,087,000
7)) BERRAEERERE RN -

(i) BERFHHE

BERREERYIEMD - Ea ORM) ARA
B R 8 L A 4 13 0 B AR 5 P B R R PY 2 R IR

-
ALO

(i) BN

EXECSREFTBUINMGE ZME QR 28
BRREECHAEAZERBRETEUIIEE
ZHBARBERRREFE NN 2ENWEE
EECEREZHE - ZREESREME 1) rEz
B REREE -
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24 Capital, reserves and dividends
(Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Share-based compensation reserve

Share-based compensation reserve comprises the fair value
of the actual or estimated number of unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Group or the Company
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in note 1(p)(iv).

(v) Hedgingreserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of
the cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging
instruments used in cash flow hedges pending subsequent
recognition of the hedged cash flow in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for cash flow hedges in note 1(s).

(e) Distributability of reserves

At 31st March, 2015, the aggregate amounts of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated under the provisions of Part 6 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, was $833,509,000 (2014:
$720,122,000).

After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed
a final dividend of 21.2 cents per ordinary share (2014: 17.0
cents per ordinary share), amounting to $220,433,000 (2014:
$175,787,000) (note 24(b)(i)). This dividend has not been
recognised as liabilities at the end of reporting period.

(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products
and services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.
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24 B - HERRE @)

(d) wEEZMEERFE (&)

(iv) RODERBERE

ROERBEREBESRTLAEEAIEQFES
ZEBBRIMTERTEBREZQLE  ARB
RETIARIBMEE 1(p)(iv) BB ARG BER 2
NREN 2 BT RR MR -

(v) $hEE

HHREEERERSERREME 1(s) AR
BEREWHARACETREBRAUARERE
ZEEREHPZHITIAZALBRNFEE
ZBEREMD -

(e) AR IkIERE

R-ZZE-AF=ZA=1+—0 BREFB(LAK
PI) BOBMHEXFE 2T H D IK T AR ARER
BARZRBBHESRB833,509,000T (ZF—MWF :
720,122,000 7T) °

RERAZ EETESIRBARAPIRESRITER
212 (ZE— N F . EREBR17.04L) - £
815 220,433,0007t (=& —M4 : 175,787,000
7t) (BE&EE24(b)(i) - BEEARERERA L AER
ABEE-

(f) BEXEE

FEEMETEREAR CEEARERARELASERE
FEEENRD  ZRRERKBRBHERTR
HEBEBNKERESEREIBERNE  £4
ﬁﬁéﬁgﬁﬂiiﬁ{%lﬁliﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂéﬁﬁﬁkiﬁ
R -

FEEBEEREHHERRBETRNRER
UHEBRSRREOBTEMNTRSEEKFERE
EEXTRz2EBZRREENETE  LEREL
BRIR BB ERRBELRE -
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24 Capital, reserves and dividends
(Continued)

(f) Capital management (Continued)

Consistent with industry practices, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of a debt-to-adjusted capital
ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines debt as the total
of bank loans and obligations under finance leases, and
adjusted capital as all components of equity less unaccrued
proposed dividends.

The Group’s strategy was unchanged from 2012, which
was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
30%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt
financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

24 BX - HERRE @

(f) BEXEE (&)

FEXERNED  AEEUSEHEARER LR
EREEHERREBCEE - REEN  £5H
HEERAEARTERRBEAEEK 2AHE
RARERDER CFAEARIORERTER
RE -

FEBCRBE-_Z-—_FERETE BEE
HEFABRGALRERFNI0% AT - BRFNHA
BERLER  FEEIEARARFKTZRE
TH - BOHRG  ORREEOER BRHE
HRESHEEEURERE -

The debt-to-adjusted equity ratio at 31st March, 2015 and M=% —;’EE&ZS— ME=A=1+—HZEE
2014 was as follows: HRBEERLLERNT -
2015 2014
—EZ—-Aa%F —E—MmF
$'000 F7T $'000 F 7t
Current liabilities: REEE
Bank loans (note 19) SBRITER (M 19) 125,948 51,790
Obligations under finance leases MEREZE®
(note 20) (&£ 20) 1,043 1,176
126,991 52,966
Non-current liabilities: FRBEE -
Bank loans (note 19) RITER (M 19) 27,714 68,068
Obligations under finance leases MEREZER
(note 20) (FFzE 20) 3,238 5,203
30,952 73,271
Total debt AfE8E 157,943 126,237
Total equity R 2,124,672 1,957,312
Less: Proposed dividends (note 24(b)(i)) & : BRI E (FiEE 24(b)(i)) (220,433) (175,787)
Adjusted capital ERBREX 1,904,239 1,781,525
Debt-to-adjusted equity ratio AEHERAEEXRIFE 8% 7%

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR
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24 Capital, reserves and dividends
(Continued)

(f) Capital management (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to
fulfilment of covenants which include maintaining the
Group’s debt-to-equity ratio below a certain amount and
maintaining the Group’s net worth ratio above a certain
amount. Except for the above, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

25 Financial risk management and fair
values of financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.
The Group’s exposures to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Creditrisk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables. Management has a credit policy in
place and the exposure to this credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The credit terms given to the customers vary and are
generally based on the financial strength of the individual
customer. In order to effectively manage the credit risks
associated with customers, credit evaluations of customers
are performed periodically. Trade receivables are generally
due within one to three months from the date of billing.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer. At the end
of reporting period, 17.6% (2014: 16.7%) and 43.6% (2014:
42.8%) of the total trade and other receivables was due from
the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk. Except for the financial
guarantees given by the Group as set out in note 27, the
Group does not provide any other guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.
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24 B - HERRE @)

(f) BLXELE (&)

FEEETRITEEANERE R BEEERE
SEEEEALRERR -—EBEATREF
EELREFN-—EBENL - BRI LRI
RN F) R EAATH B D B8 B A E S SN e 0z
BERBE -

25 BMIEREERERTAEZA
RE

FEEE-REBXBETEEFE  RBES
MEREBER FEEEHFERBRAE
BATERA M E R EEBCREEAN SR MT -

(a) EERE

FEBEEERREEREBERTRRHEMER
RoEEEREFERE MARZFEZAR
FEZRERE-

FEE-REEENEFZMBEIETARZ
FEH AR ERAREFZFERAR - £
SEEEHTEEF2EERER - BRERR—K
RBEEAEF—Z=FEARTYP - — KM= &
SETEREFIGERR -

AEEHYZEERRIESEEF Z2AERNER
& - RERA > AEBRAFEFREAREFZ
IR AMEERRR R At ER AT Z 17.6%
ZE—F 167%) Kk43.6% (B —NF :
42.8%) °

AEBYREHREAKSAIEEAREERRZ
R o BRINMIEE 27 Fr B A S EIR 42 BB IER
O AEEYEREHESAEBEERBEERRZ
EMEAIER -
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25 Financial risk management and
fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group'’s cash and bank deposits are placed with financial
institutions with sound credit ratings, and the management
consider the Group’s exposure to credit risk is low.

The Group’s exposure to the credit risk and its policies for
managing such risk were unchanged from the year ended
31st March, 2014. Further quantitative disclosures in
respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade and other receivables are set out in note 16.

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management for daily
operation, including placing short term cash deposits and
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject
to approval by the parent company’s board when the
borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority.
Cash surplus over operating needs are closely monitored
and managed by the Group’s central cash and treasury
management system. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term. The Group’s
exposures to the liquidity risk and its policies for managing
such risk were unchanged from the year ended 31st March,
2014.

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

25 BEREEREMIAZA
RE @)

(@) EEmAE (&)

FEERERBTERDFRRERFEEF
AzchdE EEERRALEEEBZEER
BRAIE -

HEZ-Z-NF=A=+—HLFER XK
EEYzCERREREEEHAR ZBRME
98 o 7 B A 55 3 L B IR L B L 3 T 2
G2 EERBZE-—SPBEHBERNME 16 -

(b) HEELEE

FEMENECLEEBREEHARER2ESE
B ARTHRERREFRREAERUAREE
HAESER HEHEEERETHREREZXK
FoAARSARESSHE BREENELZ
RERRALAKEEPRRERPBEERFERY
EEREE - FEECBRREHNEERDES
FEREBTERREZER  WBRASEE
REAEHERERETIZESHMBERREHRES
ZEEH UENESARRMZADESERE -
BEEZ-ZT-—NE=A=1t—-HALFEE . XK
EEHRBETRBEAEERARRZBE
BEEE
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25 Financial risk management and

fair values of financial instruments

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group'’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the

earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

25 BEREEREMIAZA
RE @

(b) HEEZEE (&)

TREIAEERERAZEHMEBZHRTEY
HR WHRBEWRFTRRESRE (BEFERS
WX FNMBEBFZERERABTZANRFEZ
ME) ARAEEAEERARE &R AHE

DHT

2015
—Z-Aa%f
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
SHRIMERETH
More than More than
Within  1yearbut 2yearsbut
1yearor less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5years Total amount
—FRK —F#& mER
BEX EmER ERFER et EEE
$'000F $'000FFT $000FIxE $'000FiwT $000FT
Trade and other payables BRI R EA4
(excluding receipt in EAR (TEfE
advance) FEUWFRIE) 957,594 - - 957,594 957,594
Bank loans RITEX 128,171 21,414 7,325 156,910 153,662
Obligations under finance ~ BWEHEE
leases Z BB 1,329 1,329 2,252 4,910 4,281
1,087,094 22,743 9,577 1,119,414 1,115,537
2014
—EF-nmF
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
EHRRTHRASRE
Morethan  More than
Within lyearbut 2yearsbut
1 year or less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
—FAR —F# ME#
RER BEWNER BEERN st FREE
$000Ft $000F7 $000FwT $000F7T $°000FT
Trade and other payables AR R H Al
(excluding receipt in EAR (F8E
advance) FE U FRIE) 927,297 - - 927,297 927,297
Bank loans SRITEN 56,382 37,039 34,924 128,345 119,858
Obligations under finance  BEHEE
leases ZE# 1,615 1,615 4,353 7,583 6,379
985,294 38,654 39,277 1,063,225 1,053,534
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25 Financial risk management and
fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-
bearing borrowings. The Group monitor the level of its fixed
rate and variable rate borrowings. The Group’s interest rate
profile as monitored by management is set out in (i) below.

(i) Interestrate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the
Group’s interest-bearing borrowings at the end of the
reporting period:

25 BEREEREMIAZA
RE @)

(c) FIZEREE

FEEZANREBEIRZRAMEMEE - AEMES
EHEERZEEBEKY AEBEHEEEEE
ZRREBEHN T (1) H -

(i) F=REH
TREJIRERBAKEHRESEE 2 FIRFE

2015 2014
—s-5% =®-mE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Amount rate Amount
BEERAE &8 BERR= SE
%  $000F7T %  $'000F7T
Fixed rate borrowings: EEEBE
Obligations under finance MEHAEZEY
leases 7.50 4,281 7.50 6,379
Bank loans IRITER 2.41 144,357 5.68 86,914
148,638 93,293
Variable rate borrowings: HEEE
Bank loans RITER 2.19 9,305 3.53 32,944
Total borrowings BEARE 157,943 126,237
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BRBHEDWT

At 31st March, 2015, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have decreased/increased
the Group’s profit after taxation and retained profits by
approximately $61,000 (2014: $228,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after taxation and retained
profits in respect of the exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk arising from floating rate instruments held by the
Group at the end of the reporting period. The impact on the
Group'’s profit after tax and retained profits is estimated as
an annualised impact on interest expense of such a change in
interest rates. Management assumed that certain interest-
bearing borrowings maturing during the next reporting
period will be rolled over upon the maturing for daily
operation purposes.

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

R-ZB-—HF=ZA=+—08 G5 ARZELH
S TY—EREEY EEHMTEHEER
BRgsERT AEEREABIRARR
FERIEHD N 61,000 7T (ZE—MEF :
228,000 7T) °

LGRS FBERRERAAREFE2FE
NRITASIRFASEEGRERENRABFTE
EXRREBRBEBRRREBEN ZNEEE - &
SEBRRRBANRREBRAIZLE - DRAR
SBHANEXIHZFELTEMET  EEERR
BORN—EARSHEI R 2 ETHEEERE
HEEEEUMEREEEZR -
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25 Financial risk management and
fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Group does not account for any fixed rate borrowings at
fair value through profit or loss, and the Group does not use
derivative financial instruments to hedge its debt obligation.
The fixed rate instruments of the Group are insensitive to
any change in market interest rate. A change in interest rate
at the end of the reporting period would not affect profit or
loss.

The analysis has been performed on the same basis for the
year ended 31st March, 2014.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales, purchases and borrowings which give rise to
receivables, payables, cash balances and obligations under
finance leases that are denominated in a foreign currency,
i.e. a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies
giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollars
(“USD”), Australian dollars (“AUD”), New Zealand dollars
(“NZD"), Euros (“EUR”), Singapore dollars (“SGD”) and
Renminbi (“RMB”).

For group entities whose functional currency is Hong Kong
dollars (“HKD”), all sales and purchases are denominated
in either HKD or USD, except for certain transactions
with group entities and purchases that are denominated
in AUD, EUR, SGD and RMB. Given the HKD is pegged to
the USD, management does not expect that there will be
any significant currency risk associated with such USD
denominated transactions. For transactions denominated
in AUD, EUR, SGD and RMB, since the volume of such
transactions is not significant, management considers the
exposure to currency risk to be low.

For group entities whose functional currency is a currency
other than HKD, except for certain sales and transactions
with group entities and certain borrowings from group
entities that are denominated in HKD, most of the other
transactions are denominated in their functional currencies.
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5 RETEARESREBETZREREEN
B BT AARARWEN  EEES
BEBWRETHE - HRBRERI THE B
BRMAEZEUXAFEZRZEAEEMEKR
EWER - BURT B HaARARMEE
ZREME  HREBEXZZARBALFEKX
HEBERRFAKEMAH 2ERARJE -

RUEREERBE U CER 2ARESERM
FRETHEREFASEZIERETZIXZN
REFEEEER A TEERBEHEN &
B RBORBEATHREERHE

Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2014/15



Notes to the Financial Statements

e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKFHE)

25 Financial risk management and
fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

The Group’s policies for managing such risk were unchanged
from the year ended 31st March, 2014. During the year
ended 31st March, 2015, the Group uses forward exchange
contracts and bank balances to hedge its currency risk arising
from the purchase of property, plant and equipment and
raw materials that are denominated in foreign currency and
classifies these as cash flow hedges. At 31st March, 2015,
the Group does not have outstanding forward exchange
contracts (2014: Nil).

(i)
The following table details the Group’s significant exposure
at the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts
of the exposure are shown in HKD, translated using the
spot rates at the year end date. Differences resulting from
the translation of the financial statements of subsidiaries
outside Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation currency,
the exposure arising from the borrowings from group
entities that in substance form part of the net investment
in subsidiaries and the bank balances that designated as a
hedge of the Group’s foreign currency risk of highly probable
forecast transactions or committed future transactions are
excluded.

Exposure to currency risk

BiRREEREMIAZN
RE @)

25

(d) BE#/mAEE (&)

HEZ-Z-NF=A=+—HLFER £X&
EERARRRCBRLERE REBEE_F
—HAF=ZA=+-BLFE XEEANAEBH
MESHRBTEFHHAEBEUMNEEZY
X BEERRBUREMBERELE 2ERE
B WA BARETREH D R-F-—HF=A
=+-B FAEBIEREE2EPRINESN
(Z2—DF: &) -

() EZzEWERR

TRFAIAEERERASFUBRAER IR
BN cERHENCRAEEIREMELZE
REWER - FRERERESBIEFR 2
HERBREDBEEZIN A - REFBLUIM
ENEARZHBRRAEEE2IEEME
ACEH REAEEERZEE (BEERR
MEARCREFE 2 —BD) 2ER - URIE
EREHPAREEARRUIEETZREHEE
METZRRRG ZMERBZBITEFLTE
EEA -

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HKD)

SERRER (LEKHT)

2015

2014

ZB-1f “3-IF

) SGD HKD RMB AUD ) 56D HKD RMB AUD

E Y v bt IN:3 4 AT n v ik N #n

$000FE  $000FE  $000FE  $000FT  $000FT  $000Fx  $000Fm  §000Fm  §000Fm  §000FR

Cash and bank deposits ﬁé&ﬁ&ﬁﬁ*” 1,384 35,579 17,208 6 8512 47 51815 60,147 3405
Amount due from/(to) EEU&/ %ﬁy,ﬁ

group companies NG 47395 (799) (4874 20500 6,611 20268 - 6,665 5718 3416

Trade and other receivables EEU& S ﬁf@%”ﬂﬂ 3981 10 - - (15) 4610 10 - -

Trade and other payables ﬁﬂﬁ )}HME{H’ (20863) = (10) (710) (98 | (3247 - - 2310) (1349)

Net exposure FRBAE 27916 3,182 30,705 36,998 6421 (3709) 5087 58490 63,555 5473

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR
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25 Financial risk management and
fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group’s profit after taxation and retained profits that would
arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group entities
have significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables

25 BEREEREMIAZA
RE @

(d) BHEERE (&)
(i) SBBMEDH

TRIIMREFBAFARESERAHEAARZ
EXHRSHTREFAKEBRRRBENRRE
EN KR (BRABAMEARZEERTT
) -BUMS DNERBTRIT2HEER
TEEXRAAAMERERZ2EASBNZINE

remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the e -
pegged rate between the HKD and the USD would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value
of the USD against other currencies.
2015 2014
—Z—1%F —EF-NF
Increase/ Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit (decrease) in profit
in foreign after taxation inforeign  after taxation
exchange andretained exchange  andretained
rates profits rates profits
FRIEET RREL R T
EE BREEaH B R RREER
L EF# tH R
(FE%) (FE%) () ()
$'000 F7T $'000 Tt
usD Ep o 5% (134) 5% (62)
(5)% 134 (5)% 62
SGD T 5% 133 5% 210
(5)% (133) (5)% (210)
HKD B 5% 1,215 5% 2,240
(5)% (1,215) (5)% (2,240)
RMB AR 5% 1,545 5% 2,653
(5)% (1,545) (5)% (2,653)
AUD BT 5% 256 5% 246
(5)% (256) (5)% (246)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on
each of the Group entities’ profit after taxation measured in
the respective functional currencies, translated into HKD at
the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period
for presentation purposes.
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25 Financial risk management and
fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting
period, including inter-company payables and receivables
within the Group which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower.
The analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statements of subsidiaries
outside Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation currency,
the exposure arising from the borrowings from group
entities that in substance form part of the net investment in
subsidiaries and the bank balances that are designated as a
hedge of the Group’s foreign currency risk of highly probable
forecast transactions or committed future transactions. The
analysis has been performed on the same basis for the year
ended 31st March, 2014.

(e) Fair value measurement

All financial instruments of the Group carried at costs or
amortised costs are not materially different from their fair
values as at 31st March, 2015 and 2014.

26 Commitments

(a) Capital commitments outstanding at 31st March, 2015
not provided for in the financial statements were as

25 BEREEREMIAZA
RE @)

(d) BE#/mAEE (&)

(i) SBEDH ()

BRESMIBRERSBEANRENFELE
EREHRAFACSASERYIMERR 2EEH
THITE BEFAKEQAFABUERATERA

ZUNREEW SN e EWTHEZ BN R R B -
DM A BERREFBUINEENE QR 2P
BRAFEEZ2IEMELENEZE  KFER
EHMEARFEHEE (REEERDAREM
BRARNEREN M) MEEWER - k5
EREH P AEEBERRIEETZREHE &
METZRARRG ZHMERB ZRITEFMEL
ZEF BEF-NF=-A=+-HLFEZ
DM EREREREELT -

(e) RAAEFE

AEBRAEAERBERETIRZAESMIA
HERA -_ZE-—HIFER-_FE—NE=A=+—HZ
AREFEBERER -

26 7EiE

(a) R=B—FE=A=+-0 FEWEEEX
GEY PESTEECY P

follows:
2015 2014
“Z—hF —E-NE
$’000 7T $'000 Tt
Contracted for [EHES 161,442 45,557
Authorised but not contracted for EHEERETH 877,023 287,468
1,038,465 333,025

As at 31st March, 2015, the Group is committed to certain
contracts for the acquisition and construction of plant and
machinery and buildings.

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

R-ZE-HF=ZA=+—H0 xEBEEBITETWK
BREERE  HBEREBFZEH -
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26 Commitments (Continued)

(b) At 31st March, 2015, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are

26 HIE (&)

(b)) R=B—FE=A=+—0 BEFTTHER
CTRSEEHEERAERZBREHEENRAE

payable as follows: wmh
2015 2014
—E-RF —E-F
Factory Factory
machinery machinery
and and
Properties equipment Properties equipment
T Erikes T igkss
v ES B &% fw L/ ES &
$'000 FT $'000 F7T $'000 F 7t $'000 F 7t
Within one year —FR 68,453 3,624 57,173 1,719
After one year but within —FHERFR
five years 39,151 3,563 45,644 3,478
After five years HE#%® 23,389 - 173 -
130,993 7,187 102,990 5,197

The Group leases a number of properties and items of
factory machinery and equipment under operating leases.
The leases run for an initial period of one to six years, with an
option to renew each lease upon expiry when all terms are
renegotiated.

Some of the leases of the Group include contingent rentals
determinable at certain fixed rates on the turnover of the
relevant concessions in periods in which the leases relate to.

27 Contingent liabilities

(a) As at 31st March, 2015, the Company has issued
guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities
granted to its subsidiaries. The Directors do not
consider it is probable that a claim will be made
against the Company under any of the guarantees.
The maximum liability of the Company at the end of
the reporting period under the guarantees issued
is the facilities drawn down by the subsidiaries of
$34,059,000 (2014: $79,422,000).

The Company has not recognised any deferred income
in respect of the guarantees as its fair value cannot be
reliably measured and its transaction price was $Nil
(2014: $Nil).
(b) The Company has given undertakings to certain wholly-
owned subsidiaries to provide them with such financial
assistance as is necessary to maintain them as going
concerns.
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FEEREEEHEEAASEANERSEIRE
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FRERERREREEN ERMERIEGTEN

BE °

AEEFHEESTREEE N SHRURNEAEH
BeeXfEeca TEELRBEE 2RREE -

27 AREE

(a) R—B—REFE=A=+-—-0 XAFAEH
BFEMBARDZBTEEMMRITIELRL
R -BSRHRAAMERMYE XA TER
BEHERA - RERB > AATERE
ZEGRTRSAEINHEARNBAZEE
34,059,000 (=& — @ £ : 79,422,000
5T) e

HRERZAABEETENE BRXE
RER(ZE-—NF: Z2x) BAQFAL
B ZSRREREMBELTZRA -
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28 Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered
into the following material related party transactions.

(a)
(i)

(iii)

Transactions with related parties

The products of the Group are distributed in Australia
by a related party (non-controlling interests of the
Company’s subsidiary) and a management fee is
charged for the provision of services. The management
fee is calculated based on a pre-determined percentage
of the gross sales of products distributed by the related
party. Total management fees charged by the related
party for the year amounted to $24,577,000 (2014:
$25,157,000). The amount due to the related party as
at 31st March, 2015 amounted to $5,702,000 (2014:
$6,176,000).

On 28th June, 2013, the Group entered into a
distribution agreement with a related party (non-
controlling interests of the Company’s subsidiaries) in
Australia pursuant to which the related party agreed
to supply to the Group the dairy and juice beverage
products for distribution in Hong Kong and Macau, and
to grant to the Group an exclusive right to distribute the
products in Hong Kong and Macau. The unit price of the
dairy and juice beverage products was pre-determined
in an agreement entered into between the Group and
the related party, and would be revised by reference to
the prevailing market price of same products sold by
a related party to other distributors. Total purchases
from the related party amounted to $10,510,000 (2014:
$8,607,000). The amount due to the related party as
at 31st March, 2015 amounted to $738,000 (2014:
$3,279,000).

On 29th July, 2013, the Group entered into a
distribution agreement with a related party (non-
controlling interests of the Company’s subsidiaries)
in New Zealand pursuant to which the related party
agreed to distribute the products of the Group in New
Zealand. A management fee is charged for the provision
of services. The management fee is calculated based
on a pre-determined percentage of the gross sales
of products distributed by the related party. Total
management fee charged by the related party for the
year amounted to $5,372,000 (2014: $4,643,000). The
amount due to the related party as at 31st March, 2015
amounted to $1,294,000 (2014: $554,000).

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

28 ERBEALIRS

BRUBBREERBEZRGRER)  FEEE
RIMUTERBEALRS °

(a) BERHEALZXE

(i)

(iii)

ZKEZEE.:EH—%EEE)& (A2 B H B
DA ZHERER) REMNDHE  ZALH
REHBKEUNEEER - ‘“E%)ﬂa"iﬁ?ﬁﬁ'&ﬁ
EXZREANLT T HERAHER 2B
FE-FR ZEEATWHRERERS
$£24,577,000T (=ZZF—MM4 : 25,157,000
) R-ZE—HF=A=+-HERFTZ
BEALZFHEHSS57020005%K (ZF—M
£ :6,176,0007T) °

R-EBE-—Z=ZFXA=-+N\H > XEEE—
ZHEAL (RKQTEHBAT ZFIERE
=) MBMNET L —E o 853 0 Bt =6
EATAZERAEEHEARD R RIS
REBREMSE  IRFEAEEREER
BASHERZERE ARRRETHA
ZBENECE—HAEEEZEEA L
NHEPEALAEE YEESEH—F
BEATRHEHMS HEHEERERZEA
MEELAE RZBEATRBEZERH
{8 10,510,000 7t (=& —[H £ : 8,607,000
) R-E-—HF=A=+-—HENZHE
BA+TZ2HEA738000w (ZE—MMF:
3,279,000 7T) °

R-ZB-—Z=FtA=-+hB FTEEFHE-—-F
FEMNBEAL (RQTAMBATZFEE
RAER) ST —EHD HHE - Bt ZBEE
ATEERFARIOEAEEZER - ZH
BEAIHREHBREUNEERER EE2EH
BRAABECZREAL O HERAHER
ZEDLFE  c RAFE - ZBEATWE
EBEBERA5372,000% (ZF—MNF :
4,6430007T) - R=ZE—HF=ZA=1+—
BENFZEEAT ZFRES 1,294,000 T
(ZZ—Mg4 : 554,0007T) °
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28 Material related party transactions
(Continued)

(a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

The related party transactions in respect of (i) and (ii) above
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required
by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section
“Connected Transactions” of the Reports of the Directors.

The related party transactions in respect of (iii) above
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However they are exempt
from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules as they are below the de minimis threshold
under Rule 14A.76(1).

(b) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s Directors as
disclosed in note 7 and certain of the highest paid employees
as disclosed in note 8, is as follows:

28 EREAEALIRS @)

(a) BHFFEANLZXE (#)

FRBRA()R()2EAEALIRZEBA LR
FUAERMREZKEBERS - LWHRAUS
VBAEZHERATHRESERS (HERS
—f .

tHRBRAGGIZEEATIRZBER EHTHRAE
VAEFREZHEBERERS - AMARZER
ZERE 14A76(1) IRBEFIE - BLREER
REFLTRULZVUAZZEHERE -

(b) BBREZEASZHZ

FEEEREBABCME (BEWME7 RS
BAAAREEXMN2HRBUARKES FIRERE
THREFREXNZHE) WF :

2015 2014

—E-1F —E-nmEF

$'000 FT $000 ¥t

Short-term employee benefits HHEERF 38,735 36,108
Post-employment benefits B ZER 1,171 3,232
Equity compensation benefits BAFHERF 11,000 7,465
50,906 46,805

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)).
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29 Company-level statement of financial

29. X BB E R B R &

position
2015 2014
—E—5f —2-m%
Note fiiz $000F5E $000F5E $000Fw $000FT
Non-current assets JERENFE
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - E R & E
- Other property, plant -HtE - BE
and equipment E&E 454,611 438,737
- Investment properties -BEE 5,666 6,192
460,277 444,929
Interest in subsidiaries RIB AT 2R 654,108 629,938
Deposits for the acquisitionof BEWE MERKRE
property, plant and equipment Zi & 527 390
1,114,912 1,075,257
Current assets mENEE
Inventories FE 195,119 182,551
Trade and FEWBR R
other receivables i) AL EN 408,411 386,835
Current tax recoverable FEWR HAB 18 3,793 471
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUYR i B A T FRIE 457,733 146,498
Cash and bank deposits BERBITER 29,010 157,635
1,094,066 873,990
Current liabilities mEERE
Trade and FEFTERR
other payables R H M EASRR 412,029 397,673
Bank loans RITER 96,000 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASFT B A R FE 50,941 47,482
558,970 445,155
Net current assets BRBEE 535,096 428,835
Total assets less current HEERTEBAER
liabilities 1,650,008 1,504,092
Non-current liabilities EREBIAR
Employee retirement EEEKREF
benefit liabilities aE 8,060 6,510
Deferred tax liabilities EEFESE 53,225 50,090
61,285 56,600
NET ASSETS PEE 1,588,723 1,447,492
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BER iR
Share capital B 24(a) 677,694 655,299
Reserves & 911,029 792,193
TOTAL EQUITY HEREE 1,588,723 1,447,492

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors

on 25th June, 2015.

Winston Yau-lai LO
ExRiE

Director

EFE

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

R-B-AFAA-+HARESSHAEARE

Bfm o

Roberto GUIDETTI
BE{E =
Director

EE
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30 Non-adjusting events after the

reporting period

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Directors
proposed a final dividend. Further details are disclosed in

note 24(b).

31 Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued
but not yet effective for the year

ended 31st March, 2015

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a few amendments and new standards
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31st March,
2015 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These include the following which may be

relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 19,
Defined benefit plans:
Employee contributions

Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2010-2012 cycle

Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2011-2013 cycle

Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2012-2014 cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 11,
Accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint operations

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38, Clarification of
acceptable methods of depreciation
and amortisation

180

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

1st July, 2014

1st July, 2014

1st July, 2014

1st January, 2016

1st January, 2016

1st January, 2016

30 BAEHARCERBRBREE

ESNERARERRBRARARE - E—FFHE
RHEEE 24(b) FIKEE -

31 eEMEMARBZE=Z—1
FZA=1+—HLEEENZ
CHIREHE & TS
mzﬂfﬂ

Eﬁ%ézmﬁ%%&%ﬂ%éza EASTHAEEE

wE = —AEFE=ZA=1+—HLEEFEEEXRE

e /JT\#@EZIKEM%%E%%FH ZEIEEET R &

Rl EBEETIIMREREEEE 2B K2
E o

BTH AN
Z &)
ZEHREN

(BBEHER) F 195 —E—F
[REFEFE - lESHF] +HA—H
ZA&ET

—E-EFER-_F-_FBH —E-mF
é%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁﬁu +HA—H
ZEFEENE

—E-—FEZ-E-=FEH —E-mF
BRI REER +tHA—H
ZFEENE

—E-CEER-_F-NFAEH —E—-RE
BRI REER —HA—H
ZEFEENE

(BEBMBEREEDN) F 115 —E—-RE
[HESEEE R —HB—H
ZEIEE | 2185]

(BERESFER) 165 —E—-RE
R(EBETHER) 385 —HB—H
[HTER B a1 F 5%

ZE | Z1EET
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31 Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued
but not yet effective for the year
ended 31st March, 2015 (continued)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKFRS 10 1st January, 2016
and HKFRS 28, Sale or
contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate
or joint venture

HKAS 27(2011), 1st January, 2016
Separate financial statements

HKFRS 15, Revenue from 1st January, 2017
contracts with customers

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments 1st January, 2018

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards
is expected to be in the period of initial application. The
Group is therefore unable to disclose the impact that
adopting the amendments and new standards will have on
its financial position and the results of operations when such
amendments and new standards are adopted.

HHNEREEERAR —2-0/ -AEFFR

31 EEMENARBE=Z—5
F=A=+—HLEEEMHZ
{&5T - %ﬁﬁﬂ&%&ﬂ%
R 2 8

S TR L
Zi&pn
ZERRIRER

(BRMBHRELER) 5 105 ZEB-AF
R(EBMBRELER) 5 285 —A—H
[REERAEBEARA
NEELHZHNEELE
HRA | Z21BF]

(BBETER) F27% ZEB-AREF
(ZB——F) BUABH* ] —A—H
ZAERT

(BBMBRMEER) F 155 —B—tF
[EFEAHRA ] —A—H

(BBMBHRELER) 9% —E2-N\F
[£@TA] —A—H

AEBBAEFEZFETRATENRHRER
NMMEE RS - BHlt > NEERERERNZ
SEATRMATEAREEMBRR R EBRESE
Rz ee .
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Five Year Summary

AFYHRE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(LABHEETE)
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—E-1f k-3 —E-=f —E-Cf —E——f
$'000F 7T $'000 F 7t $'000 F 7t $'000 F 7t $'000 F 7t
(Restated) (Restated)
27) (%))
Results F 1]
Revenue A 5,051,827 4,493,885 4,051,248 3,716,539 3,329,336
Profit from operations T RF 529,264 469,669 444,160 425,336 426,540
Finance costs AEHAR (5,655) (13,068) (21,102) (17,243) (7,279)
Profit before taxation BB AR A 523,609 456,601 423,058 408,093 419,261
Income tax Fi8% (114,888) (115,845) (88,742) (85,691) (87,882)
Profit for the year REERR 408,721 340,756 334,316 322,402 331,379
Attributable to: TH AL
- Equity shareholders of - RAERE
the Company BEA 372,079 306,693 301,104 281,003 284,314
- Non-controlling interests - FERRER 36,642 34,063 33,212 41,399 47,065
Profit for the year KEERAN 408,721 340,756 334,316 322,402 331,379
Assets and liabilities BERAR
Property, plant and nE - BER
equipment R 1,853,517 1,566,688 1,533,116 1,567,010 1,255,743
Other non-current assets HittFREEE 77,016 94,304 67,558 69,941 78,747
Net current assets FREBEE 304,702 443,197 384,096 191,275 434,728
Total assets less current BEERRE
liabilities =1 2,235,235 2,104,189 1,984,770 1,828,226 1,769,218
Non-current liabilities FREEE (110,563) (146,877) (166,925) (161,730) (179,497)
NET ASSETS BEE 2,124,672 1,957,312 1,817,845 1,666,496 1,589,721
Capital and reserves BER R
Share capital (TN 677,694 655,299 256,746 255,437 254,963
Reserves i 1,241,391 1,094,362 1,366,129 1,227,074 1,160,881
Total equity attributable to ADFRAE
equity shareholders of BEAEL
the Company Emas 1,919,085 1,749,661 1,622,875 1,482,511 1,415,844
Non-controlling interests FERER 205,587 207,651 194,970 183,985 173,877
TOTALEQUITY gaua 2,124,672 1,957,312 1,817,845 1,666,496 1,589,721
Earnings per share BREF
- Basic -BXK 359centsfll | 29.8centsfll  29.4centsfll  27.5centsfll  27.9 centsl
- Diluted -85 355centsfll | 29.4centsfll  29.1centsfli  27.3centsfll  27.6centsfl
Note: B EE

In order to comply with Revised Hong Kong Accounting
Standard 19, Employee benefits, that is effective for accounting
period beginning on 1st January, 2013, the Group adopted new
accounting policies for defined benefit plans. Figures for the years
FY2011/2012 and FY2012/2013 have been adjusted and it is not
practicable to restate earlier years for comparison purposes.
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Please visit our corporate website
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